


A Study of Show Business Blacklisting
Foreword by Senator George McGovern

In a dramatic change of role, the noted film and
TV star has written a lively and incisive study of
the House Committee on Un-American Activi-
ties’ effect on the entertainment industry from
1938 to 1958.

On May 26, 1938, the United States House
of Representatives authorized the formation of
its most controversial committee to investigate
alleged subversives. By the late fifties the com-
mittee had succeeded, through its much-publi-
cized investigations, in ruining the careers of a
number of Hollywood and Broadway’s top writ-
ers and performers, who were blacklisted in a
reign of terror that often pitted friend against
friend, rumor against rumor.

From Martin Dies’ 1938 investigation of the
WPA Federal Theatre Project through the Ar-
thur Miller-Paul Robeson passport investigation,
Robert Vaughn examines the far-reaching effects
of the notorious inquiries on the industry as a
whole. He concludes that the committee’s pri-
mary purpose was punitive rather than legisla-
tive and that probably the most serious damage
done to the American theater and allied art
forms was not easily documented—the loss of
all the words never written out of fear of the
committee’s activities.

A fearless, valuable, and readable revelation
which will be widely discussed, ONLY VICTIMS
is essential reading for the vast and growing au-
dience concerned with freedom of expression.
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Foreword

by Senator George McGovern

ONLY VICTIMS is a sobering book indeed in today’s context.
It is a work of history, recounting and interpreting ugly events
in our recent past. It provides timely lessons and tells much
about what is happening, and what can happen, in the America
of the 1970’s.

The following pages document past decades of shameful
attack by the House Un-American Activities Committee against
some of this country’s most creative writers and artists. The
Committee—in its resort to trial by accusation, publicity, and
presumption of guilt, in its reliance upon innuendo, in its smug
trust that one under attack will turn against a friend to save
himself, in its wanton use and abuse of the contempt
power—symbolized an issue which perpetually confronts a
society professing intellectual and political freedom.

We must expect that a diverse society will always have
extreme elements, willing to blame the nation’s troubles on
foreign subversion or alien ideologies and to adopt totalitarian
strategies to rid us of the threat they alone perceive—to set their
own standards for what is and is not good American thought
and to pursue that deemed improper with almost total abandon.

Such groups are sad in themselves. But HUAC was something
more. It brought the unparalleled power and respectability of
the national government to the assault. It was able to stimulate
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12 Only Victims

the destruction of numerous careers, to crush individual
expression and creativity to a much greater extent, and to kill
many more new concepts than any collection of private
extremists could possibly accomplish. Beyond its own direct
actions, it lent at least some credence to any private charge of
subversion against any individual or group or any novel idea. It
helped damage the tone of our national politics for years. We
can still feel its influence.

Were Mr. Vaughn’s work no more than an account of past
events we could simply rejoice that they are over and appreciate
the depth of comprehension the author supplies. But many of
the same conditions that nourished HUAC from the 1930’
through the 1950’s—economic unrest, rapid social change,
disappointments abroad, and others—pose an equal challenge
today. They lend inevitable pressure toward finding scapegoats
and toward blindly defending established symbols without
regard for truth or justice.

In recent years we have seen carefully orchestrated attempts
to discredit those who have protested American involvement in
Vietnam and to discourage participation in protests through
threats of violence. We have seen assaults on the integrity of the
press because it has reported the bad about national political
leaders along with the good. We have learned of government
dossiers on millions of citizens. We have seen the one constant
guardian of our civil liberties, the Supreme Court, first blamed
for some of our deepest ills, then treated as a device for political
expedience. We have seen the government’s right of self-
preservation distorted into a right of political leaders to
undermine constitutional safeguards for the sake of their own
survival in office.

The human damage HUAC and its contemporary agencies
and societies have done is cause enough for vigilance against a
more modern repetition. But we can find still more reason, and
also find the proper response, through a broader understanding
of why it was wrong.

We give most attention to the protection of individual speech
and thought afforded by the First Amendment of the Constitu-
tion. But the operation of the amendment protects the whole of
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society as well. It prohibits any small group from deciding, on
behalf of the whole, what ideas should be allowed free
expression and consideration as we seek solutions to pressing
national problems.

In a society which bases its decisions on democratic process,
full expression is not only desirable, it is essential. The very root
of our political system is the premise that an informed people
can govern themselves better than even a benevolent elite
claiming the right to know and think for them.

Thus Supreme Court Justice Benjamin Cardozo wrote in
1937 that freedom of speech is “the matrix, the indispensable
condition, of nearly every other form of freedom.” Further,
according to Justice William O. Douglas in 1949, one function
of free speech ‘.. .is to invite dispute. It may indeed best serve
its high purpose when it induces a condition of unrest, creates
dissatisfaction with conditions as they are, or even stirs people
to anger.”

It can be said fairly that the creation and operation of an
agency to chill the expression of unpopular views is itself
dangerously un-American. Free speech and thought are emi-
nently American, not because all words and ideas are correct or
even deserving of much attention, but because a democratic
system cannot operate otherwise. HUAC’s behavior was an
exercise in stifling the very essence of democracy.

The answer is not to find scapegoats for national problems
but to undertake a serious search for their solution, drawing on
all of the intellectual power and energy we can find. The answer
is not restrictions on the right for its damage to others, but
leadership which encourages the expression of all points of
view.

In sum, the priority aim of government should be to invite
more freedom of speech, not less, and to instill widely the
understanding that those who espouse the unusual are not only
exercising legitimate rights but performing a patriotic obligation
to share the truth as they see it.



When you who are in your forties or younger
look back with curiosity on that dark time,
as I think occasionally you should, it will

do no good to search for villains or heroes
or saints or devils because there were none;

there were only victims.

DALTON TRUMBO



Preface and Acknowledgments

ON May 26, 1938, the United States House of Represent-
atives authorized the formation of the Special House Com-
mittee on Un-American Activities.* The purposes of this
committee were stated as follows:

Resolved, that the Speaker of the House of Representatives
be, and he is hereby, authorized to appoint a special committee
to be composed of seven members for the purpose of
conducting an investigation of (1)the extent, character, and
object of un-American propaganda activities in the United
States, (2)the diffusion within the United States of subversive
and un-American propaganda that is instigated from foreign
countries or of a domestic origin and attacks the principle of
the form of government as guaranteed by the Constitution, and
(3)all other questions in relations thereto that would aid
Congress in any necessary remedial legislation.**

During the first twenty years of its existence, the committee
investigated many individuals (e.g., Alger Hiss), organizations
(e.g., the Communist Party), and cultural groups (e.g., the
American theater).

*  Subsequently often abbreviated to “the committee.”

** Walter Goodman, The Committee; the Extraordinary Career of the House
Committee on Un-American Activities (New York, Farrar, Straus & Giroux,
1968), p. 16.
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This book focuses on five important but erratically publi-
cized series of hearings that affected American theater and
closely related activities:

1. Martin Dies’ 1938 investigation of the Works Progress
Administration’s Federal Theater Project.

2. ]J. Parnell Thomas’ 1947 hearings regarding Communist
infiltration of the motion picture industry.

3. John Wood’s marathon ten-part 1951-52 entertainment
hearings.

4. Harold H. Velde and Francis Walters’ 1953 — 55
entertainment hearings and the committee’s investigation of
the Fund for the Republic report.

5. The Arthur Miller-Paul Robeson passport investigations
and the last show business hearings in 1958.

My purpose in this book was to examine the influence of the
House Committee on Un-American Activities on the American
theater, 1938-58. This problem was divided into the following
constituent questions:

I. What were the actual effects of the committee hearings
on the American theater?
A. What theaters closed?
B. What theater people lost work?

I1. What were the probable effects?
A. Was there a moral dilemma faced by the witnesses?
B. Were there personal enmities created by the hearings?
C. Did the committee’s procedures influence the nature

and results of its findings?

I11.What were the possible effects?
A. Was the evolution of the American theater modified?
B. Was there a constructive influence?
C. Are there effects that cannot yet be evaluated?

I attempted to answer these three major questions primarily
by a complete review of all the dialogue given in the public
hearings; secondly, by correspondence and interviews with
individuals who offered new primary data; thirdly, by studying
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written observations published about the time periods surround-
ing each of the five hearings; and lastly, by assessing the
committee’s annual reports. Furthermore, 1 appraised the
significance of these questions in the light of their effect on the
overall development of the American theater.

There is a current and growing interest in America concerning
the right of the individual to hold political beliefs that are
unpopular with a majority of the electorate. To the extent that
these beliefs are labeled un-American because they do not
conform with generally accepted standards of patriotic ortho-
doxy is a matter of continuing controversy in this democracy.

Therefore, of primary significance in this book was the rolé

played by the House Committee on Un-American Activities in
creating an atmosphere where the very process of its invest-
igation of the political beliefs of individual theater artists
produced subsequent un-American labeling and how that
labeling affected the American theater.

Secondly, 1 thought this book significant because of the
probability of securing important new primary data. I believed
that my position as a working professional in the entertainment
industry would provide direct access to and personal testimony
from some of the artists who had been seriously involved in the
committee’s investigations and that my professional reputation
would encourage the artists to speak more freely and frankly
than previously.

Although most of the committee’s post-World War II
investigations of the entertainment field dealt with Hollywood
studios, producers, directors, writers, and actors, I limited my
final attention and conclusions to those individuals whose work
in the living theater was affected by these examinations.

There was no attempt made to study the effect of such
anti-Communist publications as Counterattack, Red Channels,
or groups like AWARE, Inc., on the American theater or
individual artists. This book was limited to the committee’s
effect on the artist and the theater.

I am aware that the singling out of specific passages from the
testimony. of various witnesses makes it possible to build a case
for or against the committee and the witnesses. A totally

-
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accurate impression of the hearings can be gained only by
reading all the testimony made available to the public. This I
did and then excerpted from the hearings the words that, in my
judgment, best reflected the caliber of the dialogue of each
witness.

Because 1 promised anonymity to those correspondents and
interviewees supplying new primary data, Chapter VI, contain-
ing these data, is organized in the following manner. The names
of the persons supplying the new information are listed.
However, their pertinent answers to the correspondence, ques-
tionnaires, and personal interviews are not aligned with their
names. This approach thus satisfies my promise of privileged
communication in return for their cooperation in this book.

Though Chapters 111 and IV deal almost exclusively with the
committee’s investigations of Communism in the motion
picture industry, the new primary data offered in Chapter VII
will define how the cinema probes influenced individual artists
who also earned a portion of their living from the stage and how
the investigations affected the theater in general.

Several terms underlie an understanding of this book and the
committee’s influence on the American theater and are impor-
tant to this study. They are “living theater” or “the theater,”
“friendly witness,” “unfriendly witness,” and “blacklisting.”

Living theater or the theater—These two terms are offered as
having the same meaning and are also used interchangeably
throughout this study. Contrary to the generic use of “theater”
as an all-encompassing term meaning show business or the
entertainment industry, the denotation here relates to the
activities of the American stage. Thus when I refer to *“theater”
or “living theater,” I am applying those words to people and
their productions that occur live and in front of an audience.

Further, the word “theater” in this book does not mean
motion pictures, television, radio, burlesque, or any allied forms
of show business or the entertainment fields. “Living theater”
in this study deals specifically with plays or their variations
(e-g., ““living newspaper”’) and those people associated with their
creation and production.

Friendly witness—In their appearances before the committee,
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certain witnesses were considered friendly if they responded to
the questioning of their interrogators by naming persons they
believed were or had been Communists. These witnesses
generally indicated they also had been Communists in the past
and were no longer affiliated in any way with the Communist
Party, U.S.A. Their ability to name former or current Commu-
nists was usually based on their previous involvement with
groups that had been identified publicly by government
agencies as Communist-inspired, -controlled, or -oriented.

Unfriendly witness—A person was categorized as an un-
friendly witness if he appeared before the committee and failed
to answer questions involving his current or prior association
with the Communist Party.

In nearly every case where a witness before the committee
refused to answer questions pertaining to his political beliefs,
past or present, he did so based on his immunity to such
interrogation under the First or Fifth Amendment to the Bill of
Rights.

Blacklisting—In this study the word “blacklisting” refers to
the unwritten understanding among persons in a position to
employ theater artists that they would not hire these artists if
(1) they had been named as current or former Communists
during the committee hearings, or (2) if when testifying before
the committee, the artist refused to answer questions by claim-
ing constitutional immunity.

The exception to this unwritten understanding occurred
when a friendly witness confessed that he had been a
Communist in the past, that he no longer was a Communist, and
offered the committee the names of persons he suspected had
been or were currently Communists.

The guidance of this book, in its original form as my doctoral
dissertation, was in the able hands of Drs. James Butler, Herbert
Stahl, and Howard Miller and Mr. Arthur Knight of the
University of Southern California. Dr. Milton Dickens, cochair-
man with Dr. Butler on my dissertation committee, was of
enormous help in every area of its academic creation from
structure to detail, from organization to psychological encour-
agement. I owe Dr. Dickens my most respectful and profound
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thanks. John Randell, a psychiatric social worker and my friend
of so many years, assisted greatly in the preparation of the
cover letter and questionnaire used in securing the new data.

USC’s Dr. Joseph Nyomarkay’s assistance and contribution
to the introductory remarks about radical extremism in
contemporary America were invaluable as a background to this
work.

Juanita Sayer, my consummate researcher, saved me hun-
dreds of hours of legwork—work that would have been doubly
difficult for me because of my public visage. She also was a
never-ending source of good humor, inspiration, and light on
those darkest of empty legal pad days.

William Targ, my Putnam’s editor, was a patient and gentle
provocator when I needed those qualities most.

Finally, to my secretary, Sharon Miller, my enduring affec-
tion and appreciation for all those hours of transcribing my
near-indecipherable printing to the typewritten pages of so
many drafts over so many years.

R.F.V.



Introduction

IN the nineteenth century Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels
observed that Communism was as a specter haunting Europe.
The use of the metaphor was accurate, for during that period
the Communist movement was hardly more than an illusion: It
had no strong political base. It was rather a concept of social
order with a small group of energetic devotees. It was indeed a
disembodied phantom.

Today, Communism is no longer a bodiless specter. It has
discovered political power, created a working bureaucracy, and
destroyed antithetical systems in myriad areas of the globe. No
longer is Communism an aberration. It has become a function-
ing form of authoritarian government. In areas under its
domination, it is not an illusion but a political apparatus
handling the pragmatics of power and impelled by legitimate
political goals much like other orthodox systems of ruling
peoples.

Due to this evolvement, Communism is no longer an enigma
among the intelligent and sophisticated. Definitive political,
sociological, economic, and historical examinations have shown
how Communist systems work and why Communist revolutions
succeed or fail. We are aware to a great extent of the nature of
its attraction, the social makeup of its adherents, the framework
and methodology of its political apparatus, and the theories
supporting its philosophy.

21
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In the past, Communism, as well as Fascism, Nazism, and
anarchism, has wandered the fringes of American politics. The
American public has, with justification, viewed these philoso-
phies as alien to our democratic traditions.

The rise of the radical right in the 1950°s and ’60’s and the
radical left in the last part of the ’60’s and presently is
astonishing in the light of economic prosperity, ascending
quality of life, and a slow amelioration of social injustices
extant in this land. Extremism has generally been connected
with unemployment and economic deprivation, extensive polit-
ical and social inequities, and national timidity. Yet this time of
the radical left and right in the land has come at the point in
our history when we enjoy our largest internal economic
solvency and domestic prosperity and incredible international
strength and prestige. Thus, the ascent of the radical right and
left has not been clear either in relation to our historical
development or relative to our current socioeconomic position,
Because of this lack of clarity, many persons consider the
challenge on the right and left as a temporary aberration
encouraged by a few lunatics on society’s periphery. Public
cognizance and worry have fallen dramatically behind the true
vitality and menace of the political extremes on the left and
right.

Thus, briefly I should like to address myself to two questions
that are pertinent to this book and will serve to throw further
light on the nature and challenge of the right and left as they
relate. to extremism. The first question deals with the problem
of the definition of “extremism” or “radicalism,” the second
with its sociological and psychological foundations.

A major difficulty in dealing with the subject of left- and
right-wing extremism is distinguishing legitimate conservatism
and liberalism from their extremist variants. On what basis can
we classify a group as extremist or denounce it as radical? I
propose that this difference cannot be made solely on the core
of the issues but rather strictly on the reasons behind their
motivations and the methods they use. To ask for an end to the
income tax is rationally legitimate within our democratic
system which makes all political matters open to opinion, hence
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also open to debate. The same can be said of the argument that
we should abandon the United Nations. There is nothing wrong
with asking for the impeachment of the Chief Justice of the
Supreme Court or, for that matter, of the President of the
United States or for the abdication of FBI head ]. Edgar
Hoover. Our constitutional system is based on the concept that
there is nothing divine about political issues or political leaders.
Indeed, arguments on all matters political is a prerequisite of
our open society based on the principle of conflict within
consensus.

Thus, in the liberal-democratic tradition, all political issues,
all governmental policies are by definition controversial and
hence open to debate. Supreme Court decisions, Presidential
decisions, Congressional actions are not divine revelation but
thinking developed by fallible men on the basis of incomplete
information and personal value judgments. To oppose or favor
the Social Security System, fluoridation of water, the Vietnam-
ese War, federal aid to education, foreign aid, reapportionment,
or integration is legitimate, and conservatives and liberals may
oppose or advocate these situations for some relevant reasons.

What makes the attacks of the extreme right and the extreme
left illegitimate is that they oppose these measures not so much
because they may be bad in themselves but because they
represent aspects of a Communist or Fascist conspiracy. The
right and the left may oppose the United Nations, the federal
government, the income tax, and hundreds of other aspects of
our politics not for some sane reason but for essentially
paranoiac reasons. The right opposes fluoridation because
fluoridated water may be used by members of the:Communist
conspiracy to poison the American population. The right op-
poses welfare measures because they are “‘Socialistic” and there-
fore represent the first steps toward Communism. The radical
left opposes the system as a whole for essentially the same
paranoiac reasons—that the United States government is ac-
tually functioning Fascism.

To oppose policies not because they are bad in themselves
but because they represent aspects of an international or
domestic conspiracy is essentially inimical to democratic pol-
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itics, first, because it voids compromise and, second, because it
indicates not so much an opposition to specific problems but to
the system itself. In the minds of the radical left, isolated
efforts at bettering society’s ills are only manifestations of
corrupt systems and treasonous officials. Their essential aim is
to get rid of what they consider the source of evil—that is, the
system and its representatives, not the manifestations of the
system. Thus the conflict they represent is not within the
bounds of consensus. The conflicts they generate by their
propaganda are not conflicts from which new consensus may
arise through democratic debate and procedures. What they
challenge is the consensus itself, which they would like to
subvert in order to establish their ideological closed society.

Hence I am suggesting that it is not their attacks of particular
policies that makes certain right-wing and left-wing groups
extremists but the nature of their attacks, which are designed to
shake the faith of the people in the established institutions and
their servants. What makes these groups radical is that they
detest the pragmatic politics of compromise, that they refuse to
see that bad policies may be the result of shortsightedness,
foolishness, or simple self-interest rather than conspiracy,
treachery, and bad faith. What makes them radical is that they
challenge the system, not simply the particular policies that are
made under it. What makes them extremist is their willingness
to sacrifice the means for the ends, procedures and institutions
for political goals.

This distinction between the substance and the nature of
political conflict is basic to the understanding of extremism.
The inadequate realization of this distinction not only has
confused many legitimate conservative and liberal organizations
with right- and left-wing extremism but also has helped
disguise the real danger of extremism. Extremist groups have
appeared to be pursuing legitimate politics by attacking such
perennial problems of modern societies as bureaucratization,
centralization, and increasing governmental controls over more
and more aspects of our lives. But only few have come to realize
that their attacks on these problems are merely smoke screens
for their essential objective of subversion. When Adolf Hitler
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attacked the deadlocked party system of the Weimar Republic,
he made sense to a great many people. When he talked about
the Communist menace, the imminent collapse of the economic
system, the growing crime rate, the decline of traditional
morality, he spoke the language of people who had been
vaguely aware of these real problems of postwar German
democracy. But what the great majority never realized, or
realized only too late, was that these problems were only
instruments in Hitler’s hands. They opened doors for him, they
gave a sham substance to his essential aim of establishing his
dictatorship over the country.

Exploitation of real problems for ideological purposes has
been a characteristic of all totalitarian movements. The Com-
munists have exploited the issues of social justice, independence
of colonial people, and the quest for social and economic
equality and freedom. Fascists have exploited the quest for
nationalism, order, and destiny. The radical right in the United
States exploits the problems facing us in the twentieth century
from bureaucratization to crime and the international Commu-
nist challenge. The radical left’s view of the national condition
is equally myopic, dangerous, and without basis in fact.

The last question I should like to raise and reflect upon is the
sociological and psychological foundations of extremist move-
ments. Wherein lies the success of their appeals? What makes for
their rise? What people do they tend to attract? What explains
their relative success in the United States in the 1950’s, ’60’s,
and ’70’s?

These are questions of such magnitude that only tentative
answers can be given, despite the .existence of impressive
scholarly material on the subject. Hannah Arendt, Eric Fromm,
Daniel Bell, David Riesmann, Eric Hoffer, and many others have
led me to certain conclusions which I would like to summarize
here briefly. The insights I have gained from these writers I have
seen confirmed time and time again in the course of my not
infrequent contacts with representatives of the extreme right
and left.

To my mind, the predominant cause of extremism and the
invariable characteristic of adherents of extremist groups is
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confusion. Confusion and bewilderment have become part of
man in the twentieth century. People do not understand why
our centuries-old security from outside attack has suddenly
disappeared and why we have become vulnerable in the nuclear
age. They do not understand why the most powerful nation in
the world has to tolerate a hostile regime only ninety miles
from its shores. They do not understand why we couldn’t win
the traditional victory in Korea and why we are leaving Vietnam
in a fashion not consonant with our military history—victory.
They do not understand why they have to pay so much income
tax, why prayers may no longer be said in schools, why we
trade with the USSR, which we also say is our greatest enemy,
and why Richard Nixon is extending the olive branch to our
purported second greatest enemy, the People’s Republic of
China. The man in the street does not understand many things,
and what is worse, he gets no clear answers. He has to rely on
secondary authorities on all important questions affecting his
life, and such reliance is never conducive to the feeling of
security. Moreover, most of the time he receives contradictory
information, yet he has no basis to make an intelligent, rational
judgment. Thus, how can an ordinary man decide whether
nuclear testing contaminates the atmosphere to the extent of
endangering future life, when the most reputable experts in the
field disagree? With whom should he side, Pauling or Teller? Or,
perhaps, with his favorite TV commentator? Or, perhaps, with
that commentator’s nemesis, Spiro Agnew? Modern man has
become the object of forces that he not only cannot control but
cannot even understand.

The radicals offer an escape from this resulting confusion by
their monistic explanation of reality. They suggest that it is not
necessary to examine each problem individually, since they all
are part of a universal conspiracy or a universal truth (whichever
best suits needs or goals). To accept their ideology is to find
answers to all the questions instantaneously and without the
exertion of too much time or mental energy. The appeal of this
form of escape from freedom appears to be irresistible to some
of the confused. Thus the cessation of nuclear testing is wrong
because the Communists are for it, and so is the Supreme Court
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decision concerning school prayers because the Communists are
atheists, hence it is in their interest not to have children pray.
And so on.

The appeal of radicalism is that it promises hope to the
culturally, politically, and psychologically dispossessed. The
tremendous changes brought about by industrialization and
automation have been beneficial to some segments of society
but have adversely affected others. These changes have eroded
many traditions and altered social and political relationships.
The managerial, technically trained class has taken over indus-
tries, dispossessing individual entrepreneurs; this managerial
class is in the process of taking over the Defense Department,
dispossessing the traditional military man. The rise of the blacks
in our society has altered social and political relationships in
many communities, dispossessing old elites and eroding tradi-
tional privileges. Chain stores and large industrial combines are
dispossessing small shops and powerful trade unions are making
inroads on managerial independence.

Many people dispossessed by changes of the twentieth
century would like to reverse the trend of events. For these
people history has ceased to be a history of progress. They have
little to expect from the established system which appears to be
continuing the prevailing trends. They want to get off and the
radical groups extend to them the promise of extreme change.
People who are dissatisfied with the present and have no
confidence in the future are prone to grab at the promise of
radical change even if they are not entirely certain about the
nature of that change. They eagerly join in the condemnation of
the system and are prone to believe in a conspiracy of some sort
rather than to realize the changing nature of society. It is more
comforting to assume that some individuals or groups have been
responsible for these changes than to deal with the complexities
of modern existence. For these reasons the radical appeal and
the scapegoat theory of the extremists tends to be attractive to
the dispossessed.

Lastly, I want to mention those who attempt to escape the
failures of their individual lives by giving themselves to
movements promising universal salvation. In this sense radical



28 Only Victims

movements offer an escape from individual responsibility by
substituting for it a collective, all-encompassing purpose. The
large numbers of misfits and social outcasts in radical move-
ments hardly need repetition.

Eric Hoffer has pointed out that “The chief preoccupation of
an active mass movement is to instill in its followers a facility
for united action and self-sacrifice” and that it achieves this
facility “by stripping each human entity of its distinctness and
autonomy and turning it into an anonymous particle with no
will and no judgment of its own.” The precondition for
conversion is always an estrangement from self and almost
always is fused in an atmosphere of intense passion. The man
who has achieved inner balance is not a candidate for the
fanatical movement. So the fanatic, seeking followers, must first
attempt to throw off any inner balance in his potential
followers. Such fanatical leaders do this through those precise
methods that enflame the passions. And where fanatical passion
rules, reason is a stranger.

So we find that this fanatic who has lost his reason is beyond
being susceptible to rational conversion through reasoning.
However, he can switch to another cause, even an opposing
cause, if that cause is led by passion and not reason. Thus we
find the hard-core Nazi more easily converted to hard-core
Communism and vice versa than to liberal democracy.

In conclusion, the rise of radicalism in the United States in
the 1950’s, ’60’, and ’70’s is rooted in the basic causes of
confusion, dislocation, and rapid change. The breakdown of
many traditional values, the erosion of traditional morality and
customs, the rise of new status groups are often noted
phenomena of our times. We are in the process of making a new
society, not by any grand design but piecemeal, not as a result
of any blueprint but as a result of the complex structural
changes that need accommodation. This new society has many
promises, but it has also many strains and stresses which radical
groups seek to exploit by their demogoguery, their simple
answers to complex problems, their scapegoats.

The interpretation of Communism as the chief scapegoat and
synonym for evil in our society has long been a vision the
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radical right has fostered in our national mythology. Shortly
after World War I the first of many Red scares swept the nation.
America had won the Great War and the Bolsheviks led by
Vladimir Lenin had seized power in Russia from the weak
Aleksandr Kerensky regime and the world’s first Communist
state was a reality. International in its revolutionary intentions,
the Soviet leaders set out by word and deed to export the
Communist system to all the capitalist world that surrounded
them. America was the largest and most rapidly expanding free
market economy in this postwar period, and the Kremlin
wanted hegemony over this most Western of laissez-faire
nations. Myriad Socialist-oriented organizations that had
formed in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries in
America now found a standard-bearer in the New World
Communist movement. American politicians also found in the
Red menace not only an issue of great emotional value but also
a magnificent opportunity for asserting their patriotism as well.
All radicals of the left were called Reds and depicted in the
cartoons of the day as bearded bomb-throwers—a characteriza-
tion still much in favor and probably more accurate today. The
twenties saw much open militancy between the radical left and
right, but not until the end of the twenties and the Depression
did the Communist Party, U.S.A., see some light at the end of
the capitalist corridor. With the advent of the Roosevelt New
Deal and that administration’s diplomatic recognition of the
USSR, the CP-U.S.A. pulled out all stops in an effort to move
FDR’s social welfare state farther to the left. By the mid-1930’s
a committee of Congress was established for the expressed
purpose of ferreting out radicals, anti-Americans, and specifi-
cally Communists. Its title was the House Committee on
Un-American Activities, and how they affected a specific
American art form is the subject of this book.
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Only Victims

NOW there was and is a curious madness in America. It is
called “‘fear of Communism.” Not the rational fear of humans
who have personally experienced that most heinous of ideo-
logies, but rather the irrational fear of those true believers who
find solace in a scapegoat interpretation of the evils in the world
about them.

To those individuals who see the omnipresence of the Red
“goat” in all revolt against the established order in America, the
Communist problem in this country is specifically synonymous
with radical liberals, bleeding-heart leftism, New Deal-Fair
Deal-New Frontier programs, and Democratic politics in gen-
eral. The failure of this terrified and growing minority to
attempt any intellectual comprehension of how Communism
has come to power through violent revolution in the twentieth
century and therefore why that same kind of revolution cannot
occur in America is a mystery to the educated anti-Communist
American left.

Equally as incomprehensible is the failure of the pro-Marxist-
Maoist violence-oriented radical left to understand that its
revolution cannot happen here. In this sense the radical
paranoiacs of the left and right and the silent center share a
common misinterpretation of twentieth-century revolution and
for essentially the same reasons: a failure to examine the

31



32 Only Victims

realities of the times while pursuing and listening only to
rhetoric complementary to their paranoia. The left radical and
right reactionary, and an enormous number of the gradually less
silent majority, all see a slowly evolving violent revolution that
will conclude, unless militantly repressed, with a Weathermen
coup d’état and a Black Panther in the Oval Office. They are
wrong.

Communist revolution, of an internal violent nature, has
occurred successfully three times in this century—in Russia,
China, and Cuba. In each instance an oppressive minuscule
ruling elite has held power over an enormous peasant majority.
The imaginations of vast numbers of that majority were
galvanized by the Communist revolutionaries and eventually
right ruling elites were replaced violently by an equally
repressive ruling elite of the left. No such circumstances have
ever existed in America, and least of all today is the affluent
middle-class American that elected Richard Nixon President
vaguely vulnerable to internal revolution from the left. As was
discussed in the Introduction of this book, the case to be made
today against the possibility of a right revolution in the form of
an alliance of militarist and paranoiac politicos is not so easily
made. It is my intention to touch briefly in this chapter on the
role of the American right in the thirties, as personified by the
House Committee on Un-American Activities rather than on
anything so grandiose as a military-political cabal in the
seventies.

“There is nothing un-American about the Un-American
Activities Committee ... this is not the land exclusively of
Lincoln and Jefferson.”?

This is the land of the Ku Klux Klan and the White Citizens
Council. It is the land of Bull Connor and Sheriff Jim Clark.
And it is also the land of Franklin Roosevelt and Samuel
Dickstein.

Dickstein was a New York City Congressman for twenty-two
years, from 1923 to 1944, and served a district inhabited by
immigrants from Eastern Europe, many of whom had fled the
first rumblings of the Third Reich for the comparative calm of
Franklin Roosevelt’s New Deal.
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Roosevelt was President of the United States for twelve
years, from 1933 to 1945, and endeavored, through his New
Deal, to involve the federal government in the economic welfare
of the American people to an extent undreamed of by some of
the most progressive minds of the period.? To those minds the
New Deal appeared radical and revolutionary in its liberal
extremism, when in essence it was a model of moderation.

Actually Roosevelt’s revolution was profoundly conserva-
tive—conservative in the democratic tradition of Thomas Jeffer-
son and Woodrow Wilson. Its main thrust was to deter violence
from the left or right and to conserve and preserve resources,
constitutional interests, and security and liberty as guaranteed
by the founding fathers.

The philosophy of the New Deal was also evolutionary in its
democratic methodology. Conservation policies, railroad and
trust laws, banking and currency reforms, farm relief programs,
labor legislation, reformation of the judiciary, and even the
international relations policy of championing democracy in the
Western world had their precedents in the earlier America of
Wilson, Theodore Roosevelt, and Abraham Lincoln.?

One New Deal champion of democracy in the Western world
and in particular eastern New York City was indeed Sam
Dickstein. With his parents, he arrived at the age of three in the
East Side ghetto on Manhattan Island.

The Dickstein family was one of thousands that fled Eastern
Europe and the pogroms of the Old World only to find the New
World almost as denigrating to their spirit as Europe.

Between the time Dickstein commenced his career as a
special deputy attorney general in New York State and the
conclusion of that career as a State Supreme Court Justice, he
managed to earn the dubious designation ‘“father of the
committee.”*

The political and economic setting of New York City and
State in the early and mid-1930’s was a microcosm of the
United States. Politicians were searching for a scapegoat to bear
the burden for the economic depression that had begun in the
previous decade.

One such politician, Representative Hamilton Fish of New
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York, was certain that once the country was rid of the
Communists one could ‘“give jobs to honest, loyal American
citizens who are unemployed.””® If Dickstein was the father of
the committee, Fish could probably be called the grandfather.
He chaired Congressional hearings from July to December,
1930, and produced a report indicating that there were about
12,000 dues-paying members of the Communist Party in the
United States. Fish recommended that the party be declared
illegal, alien Communists deported, and federal laws enacted to
prevent Communists from spreading false rumors that might
cause runs on banks. He demanded an embargo on all articles
imported from Russia.®

The less-than-sanguine view of America that prevails on the
political left today was also characteristic of much of the radical
thought of the thirties. Responsibility in that decade for the
country’s inability to solve its internal problems, according to
some of the radical left, lay in the system itself.

In 1931, 9,000,000 men and women were jobless, the cities
were miserable, and the rural life was bankrupt; industry was in
a state comparable to the period in England before the Factory
Acts of a century earlier. Banks were failing and unions in the
South were renewing their struggle for recognition. In Europe
and South America economic inequities were also the order of
the day and the observation was made that “not simply the
machinery of representative government but the capitalist
system itself’’ had broken down.?

However, the difference between the radical left then and
now is that the Marxist-Leninist experiment in revolution, as
distorted by Stalin, was thought by many naive Americans in
the thirties to be the panacea of governments. Today, as that
experiment has further evolved and been distorted, it is
considered obsolete by the extreme left.®

In the sixties and seventies that obsolescence was consistently
voiced on American and foreign university campuses as well as
in the streets. More recent leftist leaders, such as Mark Rudd
and Tom Hayden, certainly do not share Dickstein or Fish’s
vision of Americanism; but for vastly different reasons, the
quartet definitely would be in concert in the area of being
anti-Soviet Communism.
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In 1932, Dickstein brought Martin Dies’ anti-Communist bill
to the floor of the house. In 1933, he championed a movement
for Congressional investigation of anarchists. However, it was
the rise of Adolf Hitler that put Dickstein in the forefront of
investigating un-American activities. The “Dickstein Com-
mittee,”” under its first chairman, John McCormack, began its
anti-Nazi hearings in the summer of 1934.

By the next year it was entirely possible for men of reason
and intellect to peruse the Washington investigations of Com-
munists and Nazis, and their attendant support from the Hearst
press on the right and those sympathetic to the Soviet
experiment on the left, and concur with Arthur M. Schlesinger,
Jr.: “For a moment in 1935, intelligent observers could almost
believe that the traditional structure of American politics was
on the verge of dissolution.”?

In 1936, the Hearst papers supported Alfred M. Landon,
governor of Kansas, against Roosevelt and indulged in a bit of
poetry:

The Red New Deal with a Soviet seal
Endorsed by a Moscow hand,

The strange result of an alien cult

In a liberty-loving land.

Hearst’s meter was of scant help to Landon, and Roosevelt
was reelected for a second term by an overwhelming popular
mandate, the largest plurality in American history—27,480,000
to Landon’s 16,675,000. Roosevelt also swept the electoral
college with 528 votes to Landon’s 8.1°

The enormous victory of the 1936 New Deal gave even
greater confidence to its early supporters, and as a result it
created an atmosphere in Washington that was particularly
conducive to an amalgam of progressives, liberals, New Dealers,
Socialists, and some Communists.

It is in this environment that the purported subverting of the
American government by Communists must be appraised. The
curiosity is not that there were undoubtedly many Reds that
made government their vocation but rather that the entire
Communist Party was not on the federal payroll.}?

If “Members of the Communist Party did indeed enter the
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government in the early months of the New Deal, but the entry
seems to have occurred without plan, and it is even possible that
the party bureaucracy at first looked at it askance,”?2 by 1938
Messrs. Dickstein and Dies were not quite as myopic as their
Communist peers.

The two joined in supporting a resolution that stated some
curiously indefinable purposes. Among them were investigating
un-American activities in the United States and un-American
and subversive propaganda initiated abroad or at home. They
concluded their statement of resolve with a catchall phrase that
read, *. .. all other questions in relations thereto that would aid
Congress in any necessary remedial legislation.”! 3

In the Congressional debate that preceded the passage of this
resolution, a phrase that was to be much bandied about during
the McCarthy investigations of the 1950’s was first uttered by
Dies when he said, “I am not inclined to look under every bed
for a Communist.”!*

The Dies resolution, after much heated dialogue, passed the
House, 191 to 41.

When the triumphant Dickstein stood and asked to speak he
was denied the privilege, and a week and a half later the
chairman of the new committee, Dies, failed to appoint to the
fledgling body the man “who had labored with all his heart,”
Sam Dickstein.!®

Dies was classified as the Democratic equal of Hamilton Fish,
“physically a giant, very young, ambitious, and cocksure.” And,
concluded the New Republic, “If the powerful energies of Mr.
Dies are not given over to hounding Communists, it will be a
miracle.””!®

Dies, as would virtually all future chairmen of the committee,
sensed an immediate need for publicity for his new special
committee. He announced that representatives of public organ-
izations were to be asked to offer relevant information!? and
reported that many Nazis and Communists were leaving the
United States because of his pending interrogations.! 8

But it was the New Deal’s Works Progress Administration
that was to give Chairman Dies his first and most spectacular
publicity coup.




Only Victims 37

Dies elucidated his cognizance of the threat the project
presented to America when he wrote:

W.P.A. was the greatest financial boon which ever came to
the Communists in the United States. Stalin could not have
done better by his American friends and agents. Relief projects
swarmed with .Communists—Communists who were not only
recipients of needed relief but who were entrusted by New Deal
officials with high administrative positions in the projects. In
one Federal Writers' Project in New York, one third of the
writers were members of the Communist Party, This was
proven by their own signatures. Many witnesses have testified
that it was necessary for W.P.A. workers to join the Workers
Alliance—high-pressure lobby run by the Communist Party—in
order to get or retain their jobs. . . .

Several hundred Communists held advisory or administrative
positions in the W.P.A. projects. . . .1°

Although Dies had access to records and researchers for his
book The Trojan Horse in America, it is almost totally devoid
of citations and contains no index or bibliography, and
therefore his vivid analysis above could have been rendered
entirely from his imagination.

However, imagination was by no means the special blessing of
ambitious politicians in the thirties. Probably in no other
decade in this century has the cultural environment of the
nation been so fraught with imaginative social commitment
from writers of the drama, both stage and screen.

Indeed, if it is true that “if all art is a gesture against
death . .. it must commit itself,” as Kenneth Tynan argues,?°
then it can fairly be said that the thirties saw more cultural
gesturing against the ‘“‘grim reaper,” with concomitant commit-
ment, than any time in the nation’s theater history.

John 1loward Lawson had a commitment to American
radicalism, as to a lesser extent did Clifford Odets. Both
endeavored to arouse in their audiences a passion that could be
translated into a program that would modify at least, and
nullify at best, the social ills that prevailed in the Depression-
ridden nation of the 1930’s.

The new art, ‘“the talkies,” then still awaiting final judgment
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as a contributor to culture, produced such motion pictures as
Mr. Deeds Goes to Town and Mr. Smith Goes to Washington
and showed the common man in the audience how, if he really
tried, he could influence his government to offer him redress for
his grievances.

The films of Cary Grant, William Powell, and Robert
Montgomery, like the plays of S.N. Behrman, offered the
unemployed viewer a dream of what high society was and could
be like—if he really tried.

Another playwright, Elmer Rice, made his most serious
commitment to the drama of protest in the early thirties, at the
height of the Depression, when he, “like many liberals, allied
himsclf with the radicals as a gesture of protest against the
social chaos”™?! and condemned the Broadway theater in a
manner that Martin Dies would have probably considered a
Marxian dialectic.

According to Rice, the theater was in the hands of
businessmen, real-estate operators, and capitalists, where pri-
mary artistic interest dealt with the dollar sign. In his purview,
the drama and commerce were as one and the artist and his
audience were estranged by crass commercialism. Rice viewed
America as a profit system that “stifles the creative impulse and
dams the free flow of vitality.”??2

Whatever Rice’s political leanings were at the time of this
comment, it must be said that the “profit system’ was doing a
most inadequate job of stifling the ‘“creative impulse” and
damming the “free flow of vitality” along the Great White Way.

The ‘Theatre Union directed its plays at what it hoped would
result in an egalitarian audience. It announced that it would
produce plays that dealt audaciously with the social, cultural,
economic, and psychological problems of the period. It wanted
its plays to address themselves to the people who shared the
problems, the majority of alienated Americans. Moreover, the
union wanted its theater to create a new professional theater
“based on the hopes of the great mass of the working
people.”?3

The Theatre Union “represented Marxism’s most ambitious
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excursion into the mainstream of the American theater,”2* but
it was by no means alone in its efforts to create a professional
theater that would glean its support from the proletariat.

Of the many worker-oriented theaters that paralleled and
followed Theatre Union, two stand out because of their
significance today. The Group Theatre managed to make its
“method” approach to plays so stimulating that now, more
than a quarter of a century since the company’s dissolution, the
method still remains the basic acting style for the aspiring
theater artist.

Additionally, it produced the tyro efforts of Sidney Kingsley
and William Saroyan, as well as works by John Howard Lawson,
Paul Green, and Maxwell Anderson. And “its playwriting
contest awarded public recognition for the first time to a young
writer named Tennessee Williams.”?® Harold Clurman, Stella
Adler, Bobby Lewis, Cheryl Crawford, Elia Kazan, and Lee
Strasberg are but a few of the Group Theatre’s membership who
went on to teach and direct in the style advocated by
Konstantin Stanislavski.

And the most theatrically articulate voice of the thirties, the
personality most identified with the drama of the Depression,
was the Group Theatre’s leading playwright, Clifford Odets.

It is fair to say that “In sum, the record of American
dramatic accomplishment in the thirties is very largely the
dramatic contribution of the Group Theatre.”?®

The second theater that still remains unique in the twentieth
century was the nation’s first and only nationally subsidized
Federal Theatre. For four years, from 1935 to 1939, under its
director, Hallie Flanagan, it produced more plays seen by more
people than in any similar period in the nation’s history. Why
such an enormously exciting, diversified, and voluminous
enterprise should have come to such an abrupt end—it was
killed by Congress in one day—is explored in the following
chapter.

It may safely be said that “the project’s main contribution
was theatrical, not dramatic—in the principle rather than in the
results of government-sponsored drama,” and further that “the
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Federal Theatre was unable to reconcile its commitment to the
principle of economic relief with its commitment to a viable,
socially-conscious theatre.”27

Many believed the two obligations canceled each other out,
but it is likely that had the theater been allowed the
opportunity to continue, it might well have produced as many
significant theatrical figures as its precedent, the Group Theatre.

With the exception of the cinema, the cultural atmosphere of
the thirties may indeed have been influenced most by the
Federal Theatre in the sense that more people saw plays than
any other form of live entertainment. And this was quite simply
because there were more plays to be seen, as the direct result of
the often free Federal Theatre.

But before we investigate in greater depth the living theater’s
role in the environment of the period, let us turn briefly again
to the nonlive but loud phenomenon that began with the
Depression decade, ‘‘the talkies,” and then, last, to the dance.

“Sound is not merely a mechanical device where-by a
director can make the image appear more natural. . . . I am sure
that the sound film is potentially the art of the future,”?®
wrote V. [. Pudovkin in the early thirties. More importantly, the
Russian film maker saw sound as an embellishment to Lenin’s
great confidence in the film as a political weapon.

He saw film neither as an orchestral creation centering on

music nor as the stage where man pervades; neither did he see it
as akin to opera but rather as a synthesis of all theatrical

components—oral, visual, and philosophical. Pudovkin saw the
cinema as a new art that had succeeded and would supersede all
the older art; the “supreme medium” for expressing today and
tomorrow. 2°

When Al Jolson first went down on one knee to express his
singing affection for his *“mammy” in Warner Brothers’ The
Jazz Singer, it is doubtful that he was aware of anything quite
so profound as philosophizing in the “supreme medium.”

However, the revolutionary artist writing for the cinema was
a potential reality, probably to a somewhat greater extent in the
thirties than in the forties, when the committee was busy
getting headlines from its 1947 Hollywood investigations.
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The responsibility of the radical screenwriter was propa-
ganda. He must be able to force a disinterested audience to
listen despite its inclinations and when through to agree with
him and move to action. To do this, the revolutionary scenarist
must get the attention of the audiences, middle and working
class, by using familiar sounds. Since Hollywood owned and fed
movie audiences, it was the logical goal of all radical writers
endeavoring to undermine the ideological structure of the
middle class and consolidate the working class to ‘‘consider
seriously the question of working through Hollywood.”*°

A few of the radical theater writers of the thirties did try the
new medium, but generally speaking they were far more
interested in the fast buck that Hollywood offered than
anything politically profound. Lawson and Odets took brief
turns in the new medium but retreated hastily to the familiar
and more flexible environs of the New York theater.

The Hollywood writer was considered in those early days of
the talkies as “the well-fed prisoner of a medium which he felt
beneath his capacities.”3!

The most accurate and fair assessment of the film maker’s or
producer’s predilection toward revolutionary conspiring,
whether it be in the thirties or contemporary times, was
proffered by Richard Watts, Jr., when he observed:

It is, I think, a great mistake to believe that the California
film-makers are, as a rule, intentionally malicious or studiously
unfair in their attitude towards revolutionary themes. Undeni-
ably, they are heartily, if sometimes furtively, on the side of
the established order, but it does not make their definite
anti-revolutionary bias any more pleasant to realize that it is
the result of instinct and the box office, rather than of
intentional malice. My point is that it is giving the Hollywood
magnates credit for far too great a degree of intelligence to
suspect any such conspiracy on their part. In their hearts they
have, 1 firmly believe, intended to go in for the closest
approximation of harmless, mid-Victorian liberalism they can
hit upon. It merely happens that all of their handsome
investments, all of their fears of censorship and legions of
decency and the women’s clubs, all their dreams of being big
shots in a great industrial world—in fact, all of their instincts
and emotions—make it subconsciously impossible for them to
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be on the side of the exploited. They are not scheming villains.
They are just instinctive defenders of a system that has enabled
them to buy those swimming pools and tennis courts.32

More than a dozen years later, J. Parnell Thomas, as chairman
of the committee, disagreed with Watts and launched what he
intended to be a full-scale investigation of the “Red menace” in
the California cinema. It was suddenly truncated when some of
the same moguls whom Watts referred to came forth to
demonstrate the validity of his premise.

The dance is the other cultural phenomenon that employs
the use of a live audience and bears brief scrutiny as a device
that the radical left believed could engage the viewer in an
emotional appeal that might be translated into political action.

The art of the dance probably preceded all human physical
expression that could be called dramatic in intent. The dance
was used to encourage the gods to help yield a more bounteous
harvest long before its more realistic and ritualistic use in
ancient Greece and Italy. It was not until this century that the
dance became a clinically dissected tool of a revolutionary
political philosophy.

A dance group that is functioning properly in the radical
sense must fit into the overall concept of Socialist realism and
have five well-defined goals: (1) to dance before workers,
students, and the regular dance concert audience, (2) to dance
for the purpose of educating and stimulating the audience to
significant aspects of the class struggle, (3) to train new troops
to undertake this task, (4) to train the individuals who are to
make up the new troops, and (5) to have all the troops, new and
old, become part of the class struggle through practical and
theoretical education.®3

The problem then arises for the radical dancer, after he has
thoroughly mastered his five points to revolution, what to
dance about? As in all totalitarian systems, there is an answer
for every problem. The class struggle was the main and only
focus of the dance as long as classes remained. Therefore ““a
nature dance in a program may be just the nectar that a
fluttering, bourgeois butterfly may require to induce him to
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alight”’®% and other such banal metaphoric admonitions were
often advanced by the radical dance theorist of the thirties,
theories that convinced him that through his art he could help
create a political revolution.

The living theater’s role in the cultural pattern of the 1930’s
was, as has already been suggested, more profound and
emotionally cathartic for audiences than during any other
decade in this century. The American social theater of that
decade, although almost totally left of center in its productions
and goals, should in no way be confused with the totalitarian
left theater in Russia.

“The Russian Theatre deals with the very vitals of Russian
life in its contemporary forms. ... In the totalitarian economy
every aspect of the life of the people is harnessed to specific
forms of organization and to given purposes,” observed econ-
omist James H. Shoemaker.3®

In no way could the American theater of the left at any time
be construed to be harnessed inextricably to any form of
organization and certainly only most generally to purposes.
There is no doubt that the social theater of the Depression was
constantly, with varying degrees of success, penctrated by the
then-burgeoning Communist Party, U.S.A.

In some cases this attempt at infiltration was overt and
public, as we have observed in the Theatre Union. More often
the social theater was beset by a more covert and less definable
subversion. Particularly before 1930 this latter style of assault
did not necessarily adhere to any specific Moscow party line. It
was not even categorically anticapitalist in its intent, but
nonetheless it was radical in its observations on the culture.

Specific assault upon the basic institutions of Western
democracy, as currently propounded by the seventies’ radicals,
seemed hopeless to most of the revolutionary theorists of the
thirties.

Social criticism in plays was more often directed at culture
than at political organization. Contrasts between rich and poor
were attempted in the theater for the purpose of ironic
contemplation rather than violent destruction of the existing
social order. If the rich were denigrated in the theater, it was

T —



44 Only Victims

because they were considered vulgar and intellectually and
esthetically limited rather than for any reason attributed to
defects in the capitalist system.3®

After 1930, when the Depression was fully under way, the
Communist Party made no attempt to disguise its desire to be a
part of the mainstream of the American theater.

The agitprop play, usually very short, episodic, satiric, and
employed for political agitation and propaganda, was first used
by the Communists in 1930 in the German-speaking Prolet-
buehne theater. Following this initial effort, the Workers
Laboratory Theatre (WLT) and the Theatre Collective at-
tempted to herald the coming of a Soviet America. In 1934,
when the WLT was rechristened the Theatre of Action, it
changed its policy and presentation, and “unlike the stylized
agitprop, the new technique required the playwright to weave
the Marxist ideas into a realistic plot.”37

Leon Alexander, drama critic of the Daily Worker, the CP’s
official newspaper, vowed that the Theatre of Action would
continue the production of the raw agitprop play against the
desires of ‘“‘some of our professionally minded comrades,” but
he indicated that the renamed company was on the look for
more realistic material.38

The theater shortly moved to Broadway and in May, 1935,
presented a three-act play, The Young Go First, which “was

hailed by the Communist press more for the realism of the
production than for the political correctness of the script,” but

historically it was probably more significant because its codirec-
tor was an up-and-coming young actor in the Group Theatre,
Elia Kazan.?®

The Theatre Collective was actually a subdivision of the WLT
and was organized in order to stage full-length realistic plays in
the normal Broadway manner.*® Unlike the commercial the-
ater, the Collective’s plays were supposed to follow and be
illustrative of the CP-U.S.A. line.*!

These are but a few examples of the amateur Communist
theaters that attempted to write and direct plays that would
espouse the inherent wonders of collectivism as understood by
the young artists who were sympathetic to the Soviet experi-
ment. “These short-lived groups made but a slight impression on
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their radical audience and virtually no impression on the overall
theatrical scene in New York.” Despite the intention of the CP
and the hope for a revolutionary theater that would rend the
capitalist system asunder, they really did nothing revolutionary
either theatrically or politically.*?

The League of Workers Theatre (later renamed the New
Theatre League) and the Labor Stage were probably the most
well-known and overtly pro-Soviet semiprofessional theater
groups in the thirties. There were many variations of these
workers’ theaters, both in and out of New York, but for the
purpose of citing representative pro-Communist theaters they
remain the best examples.

The New Theatre League proclaimed its philosophy for the
American theater as “the most efficient use of drama as a
weapon in the inevitable revolution”®® when it published its
new program:

For mass development of the American Theatre to its highest
artistic and social level. For a theatre dedicated to the struggle
against war, fascism, and censorship.44

In addition to the WLT and the Theatre Collective, there
arose an amateur theater which, because of its success in
attracting audiences, became professional: the Labor Stage.
Before the formation of Labor Stage the ILGWU (International
Ladies’ Garment Workers Union) made a few attempts at
realistic drama, but until 1936, when Louis Schaeffer, an officer
in the ILGWU’s recreational program, presented Labor Stage’s
production of Pins and Needles, the left-wing theater had failed
to find a broad audience.*® Pins and Needles was performed
more than 1,100 times in New York City alone. When it closed
on June 20, 1940, it was the most successful musical revue of
the decade.*®

The Group and I'ederal were to be the most remembered
theaters of the 1930’s: the first because of its rich endowment
of theater people who are still active today; the second because
the government which created it with haste and the best of
intentions dissolved it with equal dispatch and questionable
judgment.

The reasons given by the committee for its decision to end
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the Federal Theatre and the defense of the organization by the
directors and the commercial show business world are the
subject of the next chapter.

The inevitability of that confrontation seems now historically

apparent when one considers the secondary role the American
political right was forced to play during the New Deal’s
challenge to the Depression.
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Chapter Il

Martin Dies’ 1938 Investigation
of the Federal Theatre Project

MR. STARNES: You are quoting from this Marlowe, Is he a
Communist?

MRS. FLANAGAN: I am very sorry. I was quoting from
Christopher Marlowe.

MR. STARNES: Tell us who Marlowe is, so we can get the
proper reference, because that is all that we want to do.

MRS. FLANAGAN: Put in the record that he was the greatest
dramatist in the period of Shakespeare, immediately preced-
ing Shakespeare.

MR. STARNES: Put that in the record, because the charge has
been made that this article of yours is entirely communistic,
and we want to help you.

MRS. FLANAGAN: Thank you. That statement will go in the
record.

MR. STARNES: Of course, we had what some people call
Communists back in the days of the Greek theater.

MRS. FLANAGAN: Quite true.

MR. STARNES: And I believe Mr, Euripedes [sic] was guilty
of teaching class consciousness also, wasn’t he?

MRS. FLANAGAN: I believe that was alleged against all of the
Greek dramatists.

MR. STARNES: So we cannot say when it began. !

As the committee’s Joseph Starnes (Democrat, Alabama)
indicated, it may be somewhat difficult to trace the beginnings

of class consciousness in dramatic literary history, but it is a

48
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good deal easier to pinpoint the committee’s first public interest
in the American drama of the thirties.

Description of the Hearings

On Tuesday, July 26, 1938, J. Parnell Thomas (Republican,
New Jersey), a member of the tommittee, announced that he
would call for the appearance before the committee of Mrs.
Hallie Flanagan to answer questions concerning purported
Communist activities in the Federal Theatre. Thomas indicated
she would be asked to explain why persons applying for jobs on
the project must first join the Workers Alliance, an organization
he described as Communist, and why employees of the theater
were allowed to hold protest meetings during regular working
hours. The Congressman noted that it was apparent from his
evidence that the theater not only was serving as a branch of the
Communist organization but also was a part of the New Deal
propaganda machine. Thomas concluded his attack by charging
that the entire Federal Theatre Project was “‘infested by radicals
from top to bottom.”?

Mrs. Flanagan was quick to retort to the Congressman’s
accusations and said the following day that ‘‘she would be glad
to answer any questions Representative Thomas . . . might wish
to ask her about the project and her own activities in it.”” She
further observed: “Some of the statements reported to have
been made by him are obviously absurd ... of course no one
need first join or be a member of any organization in order to
obtain employment in a theatre project.”?

Representative Thomas was not about to let Mrs. Flanagan
have the last public word on the matter prior to the beginning
of the hearings. He demanded a total cleaning of the project,
which he characterized as a ‘“patronage vehicle” for the
Communist Party. Thomas said he would demand the resigna-
tion of various project officials because they were giving jobs to
Communists who had no prior theater training. In support of
this charge, the Congressman alleged that a Communist cham-
bermaid was given the leading role in a play despite the fact she
had never appeared on the legitimate stage—a situation that
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would never have dismayed a Hollywood casting man as much
as it apparently did Thomas.

After a three-week investigation, the Congressman stated that
the project was completely dominated by Communists and
therefore the American government was publicly funding the
CP. He further asserted American World War veterans were
being barred from the project solely because they were veterans
and that virtually ‘‘every single play” was propaganda for
Communism or the New Deal, because scripts attacked the
United States judiciary system and one production, Injunction
Granted, advocated “rioting and bloodshed.”*

Thomas’ arbitrary coupling of Communism and the New Deal
indicated that one of the real motives of the committee was
attacking the Roosevelt administration, not solely ferreting out
Communists, as it claimed.

Such was the public case presented by the committee in the
person of Congressman Thomas against the WPA’s Federal
Theatre Project.

Mrs. Flanagan quite rightly assumed that she would be
subpoenaed to appear before the committee and drafted a letter
saying she would be available on August 11. She noted that the
date coincided with the meeting of the National Policy Board of
the Federal Theatre and pointed out that six regional directors
would then be present should the committee wish to interrogate
them about projects throughout the country.?

Chairman Martin Dies rejected Mrs. Flanagan’s request to
testify but replied that Congressman Thomas apparently did
intend to subpoena her, although it might be several weeks
because the committee already had a heavy schedule of
witnesses.®

On August 19, Thomas led off his attack on the Federal
Theatre with ten witnesses headed by Hazel Huffman, “a
former employee of the mail division of the WPA, who claimed
to have been hired by the office of the New York City WPA
administrator, Victor Ridder, as an investigator to read Federal
Theatre mail” and who was subsequently fired when her
dubious duties were discovered.”

Miss Huffman was followed by nine other persons associated
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in tangential ways with the project and described as offering the
“weirdest collections of evidence permitted before the Com-
mittee . .. at this stage,” ranging from Communist activities,
inefficiency, professional status debates, and the audacity of a
Negro asking a white girl out.®

The case presented by the committee against the Federal
Theatre, in addition to the aforementioned public utterances of
Congressman Thomas, can best be summed up by briefly
reviewing some of the testimony of the ten ‘“‘friendly” former
Federal Theatre employees.

Miss Huffman, in response to Thomas’ auestion regarding
what organization she represented, indicated that she was
currently a member of the Committee of Relief Status
Professional Theatrical Employees of the Federal Theatre
Project in New York City.®

The witness stated that the Workers Alliance, an organization
“closely allied with the Communist Party,” currently dom-
inated the Federal Theatre Project and had the cooperation and
support of two of the national heads of the project, Aubrey
Williams and Mrs. Hallie Flanagan.! ©

Miss Huffman described Mrs. Flanagan as a person who “was
known as far back as 1927 for her communistic sympathy, if
not membership” and went on to support her claim by
testifying that Mrs. Flanagan had devoted 147 pages of her
book Shifting Scenes to eulogizing the Russian theater.!?
Continuing her case, Miss Huffman presented as evidence an
article written by Mrs. Flanagan for Theatre Arts Monthly of
November, 1931. The article allegedly acknowledged Mrs.
Flanagan’s presence and participation in a meeting which had
been called by the John Reed Club and New Masses.'? Further,
Miss Huffman said that Mrs. Flanagan, in cooperation with a
Vassar student, coauthored a play, Can You Hear Their Voices?,
from a story by Whittaker Chambers that was intended to
picture all the countries of the world except Russia in a state of
unrest and unemployment.!3

“On one occasion when I was talking to Mrs. Flanagan, the
subject came up of her being in Soviet Russia,” according to
Miss Huffman’s testimony. She ‘was incensed over an article
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which had appeared against her in one of the magazines, and
Mrs. Flanagan said that after they had treated her so royally and
been so lovely to her, and produced a play which she had
written for them, there was certainly no reason why she should
not be sympathetic toward them.”’*4

The balance of Miss Huffman’s lengthy fifty-four-page
testimony included her assertion that Mrs. Flanagan had
appointed Elmer Rice, “a well-known leftist,” as regional
director of the New York City Federal Theatre Project. Mrs.
Flanagan stated in 1936 “that though the project is set up for
relief, our foremost consideration must be for the Federal
Theatre Projects.””*® Miss Huffman concluded the case against
Mrs. Flanagan by naming and describing a list of plays that she
deemed to be anti-American and therefore pro-Russian and
indicating just for good measure that in her judgment some of
the plays took entirely too long to rehearse.

The next witness that day, William Harrison Humphrey, an
actor who played Earl Browder, head of the Communist Party,
U.S.A., in the Federal Theatre production of Triple A Plowed
Under, declared that he left the play ‘“‘because of the propa-
ganda that was prevalent in the project.””!

What precisely that propaganda was and how it was dissem-
inated was never made clear. When Humphrey indicated he
wanted to read a defense of the Earl Browder role he had
played, the committee dismissed him.

On August 20, Francis M. Verdi was the first witness. He
testified that 175 professional artists were dropped from the
project in July, 1937, while nonprofessionals were held on. He
implied that these nonprofessionals were members in many
instances of the Workers Alliance and testified that Communist
literature was handed out at many of the project theaters.!”

Charles Walton followed Verdi and complained that he was
unable to advance in the Federal Theatre projects because he
was adamantly anti-Communist and despised anything that was
un-American. Additionally, he testified, he was invited to a
party by a Communist and at that party he saw colored men
dancing with white girls.! 8

The next four who testified on August 20—Garland Kerr,
Seymour Revzin, Sallie Saunders, and Henry Frank—followed
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by Wallace Stark and Leo Dawson on August 22, variously
reported or corroborated the testimony of the preceding
witnesses. Additionally, Miss Saunders said she had been
telephoned by a Negro for a date, and the six further
condemned the Federal Theatre because it had performed
‘“pro-union plays, plays referring to Negro discrimination, and
anti-Fascist plays.”??

The last matter of moment occurred in the probe when the
discussion of communications corroborating or denying charges
made by the witnesses was raised. ‘‘Dies decided that to present
them all would consume the entire appropriation and that the
committee would have to consider later the question of people
whom the committee could not afford to subpoena and who
were unable to appear themselves.”2°

The case for the prosecution rested and the defense of the
project by Mrs. Ellen Woodward and Mrs. Hallie Flanagan
remained.

Mrs. Flanagan’s natural inclination to respond immediately to
the first collective public condemnation of her theater was
somewhat vitiated by the WPA rule that only the Washington
information division of that organization could answer press
stories about those first hearings.??

On August 5, 1938, after Representative Thomas’ first public
proclamation against the Federal Theatre and before the above
described hearings, Mrs. Flanagan began her efforts to cooperate
with the committee by offering herself as a defense witness.?2
These efforts remained unsuccessful until December of that
year when Mrs. Flanagan and Mrs. Woodward were allowed to
testify in defense of the Federal Theatre Project.

Between August and December the public had been furnished
stories about the project ‘“that would hearten the most
hard-boiled tabloid editor.”?* When witnesses returned to New
York, they were met with reportage of their testimony from
every newspaper vendor in the city. Headlines ran: “WPA
Theatre Faces Probe As ‘Hotbed’ of Reds,” ““Flanagan a WPA
‘Red,”” “Secretary of N.Y. Actors’ Relief Group Tells House
‘Hallie Is Communistic,”” and “Reds Urged ‘Mixed Date,’
Blonde Tells Dies Probers.”24

Mrs. Flanagan was forced to defend herself against such lurid
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charges when she finally took the witness chair Tuesday,
December 6, 1938.

The previous day the committee had a taste of what Mrs.
Flanagan had in store for them when the assistant administrator
of the WPA, Mrs. Woodward, first pleaded the case for the
Federal Theatre.

Mrs. Woodward declared that she would carry the responsi-
bility of the defense of the project, “‘although she herself,”
compared with Mrs. Flanagan, ‘“had never been seriously
attacked in the previous testimony.’’?3

In contrast to the August hearings, the interrogation of Mrs.
Woodward was an example of how all the relevant testimony
should have been handled. Every remark that she made had to
be documented, every word she said had to be clarified, and her
qualifications as a witness were thoroughly examined. Mrs.
Woodward was interrupted while reading her prepared accusa-
tory statement in far more than a haphazard manner by the
committee. ller cross-examination was provocative, with the
committee ‘“‘determined that nothing save that which could not
be denied would be permitted to go into the record.’””2®

Mrs. Woodward opened her testimony with an effort to
present a prepared brief to the committee that defined the
exact nature of the activities of the Federal Arts Projects under
her jurisdiction. A debate between Chairman Dies and Congress-
man Thomas immediately ensued concerning the relevance of
her statement to the investigation of un-American activities.
Dies maintained that much latitude had been given other
witnesses in the area of *“‘things that didn’t have anything to do
with un-American activities. So let us be fair with her.” Thomas
rejoined: “But when they did talk about them, they were shut
off.”27

Nothing could have been further from the truth: In August
the witnesses had ruminated over a wide diversity of subjects
ranging from miscegenation to dramatic literary criticism.

Mrs. Woodward continued her statement, declaring that of
the 924 plays produced in three years by the Federal Theatre,
26 had been charged by the previous witnesses as having
“communistic propaganda’ and none of the witnesses “could
be qualified as an expert on the drama.’”28
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She went on to say that the principal witness, Hazel
Huffman, ‘“has so little theatrical experience that she could not
possibly qualify for employment on the project” and that Miss
Huffman was recently repudiated by Actors’ Equity Association
in its official magazine which inveighed members against any
association with her or her committee in an article entitled
“Warning to H. Huffman & Co.: Keep Out. 2°

Mrs. Woodward went on to name a number of artists who
had left the Federal Theatre and gone on to lucrative jobs in the
commercial theater and cinema. She also lauded Mrs. Flanagan
and documented her comments about the estimable quality of
the theater and its director with observations from such
distinguished critics as Brooks Atkinson, Archibald MacLeish,
and Burns Mantle.3°

A long and heated debate followed concerning the mental
stability of a committee witness, the ability of Mrs. Woodward
to recognize her own signature, and her qualifications for
recognizing Communist infiltration in the agencies she headed.
Her assertion that there was something un-American in the way
in which the committee handled the charges against her project
led to an even more lively exchange.3!

After the lunch recess Mrs. Woodward presented the next
section of her prepared statement. It dealt specifically with the
Federal Theatre Project and Mrs. Flanagan. Mrs. Woodward
attempted to refute four general accusations which had been
made directly or inferentially by previous witnesses. Number
one was ‘“‘that the plays produced by the Federal Theatre are
either un-American or communistic, or subversive or propa-
gandistic.”3 2

Chairman Dies interrupted to point out that only some of the
plays produced by the project were under scrutiny, to which
Mrs. Woodward agreed. The second of the four allegations Mrs.
Woodward attempted to defend her project against was that the
audiences attending Federal Theatre plays were almost entirely
composed of Communistic or radical groups. She was once
again challenged by the chairman to give her reason for
believing that such a charge had been made against the project.
Mrs. Woodward, after a semantic joust with Dies over the
wording of the second accusation, was allowed to read the third
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and, as it happened, the last point: “That a majority of the
project’s executives are communistic,” 33

She offered the committee a personal history sheet establish-
ing the high qualifications of each of the directors, a record
which the chair seemed uninterested in obtaining. Suddenly
Representative Thomas decided it was time to discuss the
twenty-six specific plays which had been introduced as being
un-American in the August hearings.?*

During the balance of the afternoon, Mrs. Woodward sought
to prove the worth of the plays by producing drama critics’
comments about their validity as significant theater truly
representative of the times. The committee, in particular Dies
and Thomas, sought to discredit the critics’ evaluations by
challenging their political leanings and military records, indicat-
ing that the Communist press was also favorably disposed
toward the plays, implying that the critics gave good notices
because the Federal Theatre advertised in their papers, debating
the denotation of the word “propaganda,” and finally question-
ing whether the democratic process was used in selecting the
plays. The most interesting exchange, however, occurred when
Mrs. Woodward used the phrase ‘“capitalist press” and was
immediately challenged by Thomas, Starnes, and Dies:

MR. THOMAS: What press did you say?

MR. STARNES: She said the capitalistic press.

MR. THOMAS: What do you mean by the capitalistic press?

THE CHAIRMAN: That is a communistic term.

MRS. WOODWARD: You see, these big papers I named, some
of them I have named, the Times—

MR. THOMAS: Name some that you consider are members of
the capitalistic press.

MRS. WOODWARD: 1 mean papers that have big capital
behind them, Mr. Congressman.

MR. THOMAS: Just name some of them.

MR. STARNES: Without prompting. Who is the third party
here, this body?

MRS. WOODWARD: This is Mr. Lavery.

MR. STARNES: All right, let his name appear in the record.

MRS. WOODWARD: The New York Times, the Herald
Tribune, and many other papers where they have a lot of
money.

MR. THOMAS: And many others where they have a lot of
money ?
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MRS. WOODWARD: Yes.

MR. THOMAS: What other ones do you have in mind?

MRS. WOODWARD: Well, papers that are capitalized—

MR. THOMAS: Do you include the Hearst papers?

MRS. WOODWARD: I think the Hearst papers have a great deal
of capital behind them.

MR. THOMAS: Would you call a Scripps-Howard paper a
capitalistic paper?

MRS. WOODWARD: Well, I really had reference to no
particular paper.

MR. THOMAS: Would you include the New York Post, for
instance?

MRS. WOODWARD: Would I include the New York Post?

MR. THOMAS: Yes.

MRS. WOODWARD: [ would include any of the papers that
had great capital behind them, or, perhaps, people that
would be expected to be critical of what we were doing.

MR. THOMAS: Do you include the New York Post?

MRS. WOODWARD: I would not say whether I would or
would not include the New York Post, because I do not
know anything about their capital, but [ would include some
of those.

MR. THOMAS: We have the capitalistic press. What other kind
of press have we got, Mrs. Woodward?

MRS. WOODWARD: I am sorry.

MR. THOMAS: We have the capitalistic press, and what other
kinds of press do we have?

MRS. WOODWARD: 1 just used that colloquially. If you
permit me, I will strike it out of the record.

MR. STARNES: Can you name any other papers in the country
that are of the capitalistic press as you denominate?

MRS. WOODWARD: There are a lot of small papers in the
country I would name there—

MR. STARNES: What about the New Masses, that is not a
capitalistic paper, is it?

MRS. WOODWARD: I do not know much about the New
Masses.

MR. STARNES: The Daily Worker is not a capitalistic paper, is
it?

MRS. WOODWARD: Mr. Starnes, I probably chose my word
very badly there.

MR. STARNES: I am afraid you did, Mrs. Woodward.

MRS. WOODWARD: I just mean papers that have not been
very much interested in what we were doing, and would
certainly come back and sock us between the eyes if we were
doing communistic stuff.

57
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MR. THOMAS: Mrs. Woodward, haven’t you heard that term
used by the Communist Party and the Communist press?

MRS. WOODWARD: I have just told you that I am not a
member of the Communist Party,

MR. THOMAS: No one said you were; but haven’t you heard
this term used by the Communist Party or the Communist
press?

MRS. WOODWARD: No; I do not remember reading anything
in the Communist press.

MR. STARNES: If you take your two plays It Can (sic]
Happen Here and Power, on page 7 of the Daily Worker, the
issue of June 5, 1937, you will find out Earl Browder is
quoted in his speech as stating:

Two W.P.A. Federal Theater productions, It Can’t
Happen Here and Power, are among the plays
which will be placed before delegates to the
National Congress of American Writers this week
as possibilities for the congress’ award for the play
of the greatest social significance produced during
the year, it was announced yesterday by the
League of American Writers,

MRS. WOODWARD: Do you think that is binding on us, Mr.
Congressman?

MR. STARNES: No; but I am giving you the opinion of others.

THE CHAIRMAN: Now, Mrs. Woodward, before we go any
further, we do not want you to be under a false impression
here. Witnesses sometimes say something under stress that
might be misconstrued. I am confident you have no such
thing in mind. When you said capitalistic press, you just
meant the big newspapers of the country?

MRS. WOODWARD: 1 just meant the big newspapers where
they have a lot of money and can employ any kind of critics
they want.

THE CHAIRMAN: You were not using it in the communistic
sense or anything of the sort? I want to clear this thing up,
because I am satisfied you had nothing in your mind with
reference to the usual meaning of capitalistic press, which is
used in all of the Communist papers, and by the speakers.

MRS. WOODWARD: I am willing to take my chance on that,
Mr. Congressman, because I do not think anybody ever
accused me of trying to embrace communistic language.

THE CHAIRMAN: I agree with you absolutely.

MRS. WOODWARD: Now, then, may I proceed?

THE CHAIRMAN: Yes, ma’am. 3%
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The afternoon concluded with a silly and sad debate
concerning the Federal Theatre children’s play entitled The
Revolt of the Beavers, a discussion that resumed the following
day when Mrs. Flanagan was called to testify.

The committee had managed to establish a certain lack of
credibility in Mrs. Woodward’s testimony due to her admission
that she had not read or seen some of the plays under
discussion, including The Revolt of the Beavers. Hence, she was
relying on the observations and criticisms of others relative to
the social significance of the dramatic literature in the Federal
Theatre.

Mrs. Flanagan, who had been in attendance during the
afternoon questioning of Mrs. Woodward, arrived the following
morning with a carefully prepared statement concerning the
major allegations being debated: that the audiences, plays and
personnel related to the Federal Theatre were Communistic.?®
Mrs. Flanagan summed up her statement by declaring that since
the previous August witnesses before the committee had
challenged her politics, she would state unequivocally that she
had never been a Communist, that she was a registered
Democrat, that she had never been involved with or belonged to
any Red activities or organizations, and that she had con-
tributed to many domestic periodicals and newspapers support-
ing her position that she “planned and directed Federal Theatre
from the first as an American enterprise.””3’

Mrs. Flanagan’s remarks about articles she had written were
later to pique the committee, as they had Miss Huffman.

The Federal Theatre’s national director described the scene
that winter morning of Tuesday, December 6, 1939, in her
moving memoir of the star-crossed project:

Before me stretched two long tables in the form of a huge T.
At the foot was the witness chair, at the head the members of
the Committee. At long tables on either side of the T were
reporters, stenographers, cameramen. The room itself, a high-
walled chamber with great chandeliers, was lined with exhibits
of material from the Federal Theatre and the Writers’ Project;
but all I could see for a moment were the faces of thousands of
Federal Theatre people; clowns in the circus . . . telephone girls
at the switchboards ... actors in grubby rehearsal rooms . ..
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acrobats limbering up their routines . . . costume women busy
making cheap stuff look expensive ... musicians composing
scores to bring out the best in our often oddly assembled
orchestras . . . playwrights working on scripts with the skills of
our actors in mind. .. carpenters, prop men, ushers. These
were the people on trial that morning.

I was sworn in as a witness by Chairman Dies, a rangy Texan
with a cowboy drawl and a big black cigar. I wanted to talk
about Federal Theatre, but the Committee apparently did
not. 38

That the committee members did not want to talk about the
Federal Theatre was only partly true. They were interested in
Mrs. Flanagan’s background and previous political sympathies,
but when they discussed facts concerning the project they were
even more demanding of specifics than they had been with Mrs.
Woodward. The committee in this sense cannot be faulted for
its efforts to obtain particulars concerning the project. But, as
distinguished from the antitheater testimony, one wonders why
at this juncture in the hearings the committee became partic-
ular. It seems somewhat mysterious that at this late date the
committee suddenly demanded facts on events observed by
witnesses when before they had allowed mass nondocumented
information in the record. Dies properly insisted that Mrs.
Flanagan had no right to refute information previously offered
by witnesses about Communist activities in the theater if she
was not present at the time of the alleged subversion. However,
what the chairman conveniently managed to overlook was the
fact “‘that he had already allowed thousands of pages of
testimony based principally on hearsay evidence.””*?

After being sworn in, Mrs. Flanagan, in response to Chairman
Dies’ question on what the duties of her position were,
displayed her sense of the dramatic by answering, “Since
August 29, 1935, I have been concerned with combating
un-American inactivity.””*°

By this remark she meant that she had been about the
business of getting people off the relief rolls, a condition she
considered to be not historically American. The remark also
served notice on the committee that she was going to be a-
somewhat more difficult witness than her predecessor, Mrs.
Woodward.
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After routine questioning regarding how the project had been
set up and what its purpose was, Congressman Starnes protested
that getting people off relief rolls was a secondary issue to the
welfare of the Federal Theatre Project. His accusation was based
on Miss Huffman’s testimony. Mrs. Flanagan denied the
allegation, saying some 2,000 persons had been returned to
private industry, and produced a letter substantiating her point
that “My prime job is dealing with relief people, and always has
been.”*!

Congressmen Thomas and Starnes then led Mrs. Flanagan
through a recital of her background, educational achievements,
and vocational chronology. Starnes brought out the fact that
she was the first woman in America to receive the Guggenheim
Foundation scholarship, an award which allowed her to go
abroad to study the theater of Europe for fourteen months in
1926 and 1927. More important to the committee was that it
put her in prolonged contact with the Russian theater. Starnes
also elicited from the witness that she told the New York Times
on September 22, 1935, that the Russian theater was “live and
vital”” compared with the Continental theater, which she called
“‘a tiresome and boresome matter.”*2

Starnes was most interested to know why she found Soviet
theater better than Europe’s, or for that matter, America’s. In
answering Starnes, she stated that the Russians were gifted and
temperamentally equipped for the theater. She did not deny
that much of the work she had seen in the Soviet Union
advocated the Soviet form of government. She further amplified
her position by displaying a press-clipping book to the
committee. The record of Mrs. Flanagan’s hegira was embodied
in a book entitled Shifting Scenes, and her clippings reviewing
the work were from all over the world and every leading paper
in the United States. She told the committeemen “that not one
newspaper critic, when that book came out in 1927, not one
critic picked out anything that was in that book that was
subversive or un-American,”*3

A procedural argument immediately followed as to whether
the witness was being responsive to the questioning. This tended
to diminish the import of the book reviews Mrs. Flanagan had
just cited.
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Further questioning about Russia brought out that Mrs.
Flanagan had returned there in 1931, that she did not see Elmer
Rice there, that she had not been a member of any Russian
organization, but that she had briefly served on a board that
advocated the exchange of professors between Harvard and Yale
and the University of Moscow. The Soviet Union phase of the
interrogation was concluded.

In November, 1931, Mrs. Flanagan wrote an article for
Theatre Arts Monthly, ‘“A Theatre Is Born.” Starnes criticized
her for her attendance at a meeting where the Red banner was
displayed and for her sympathetic handling of the subject
matter—a workers’ theater in America. Although Mrs. Flanagan
dwelled heavily on the fact that it was a straight reporting job,
it was this writer’s impression, after a careful examination of
the article, that it does indicate a less than objective evaluation
of theater as a weapon in the revolutionary class struggle.

But Mrs. Flanagan properly assessed the argument when she
accurately stated to Starnes that ‘“‘no one picked up the point
which you are trying to allege, which is, if 1 understand
you—because the only possible point of reading it, of course, is
to show that it has to do in some way with the Federal Theatre
Project; and I claim that it has nothing whatsoever to do with
it.”44

Thomas followed Starnes’ subsequent questioning about
Christopher Marlowe’s politics with a further interrogation of
the witness on the subversive aspects of the children’s play The
Revolt of the Beavers.

Mrs. Flanagan responded that she was indeed disappointed
that so estimable a critic as Brooks Atkinson had been disturbed
by the play and additionally that the police commissioner had
found the piece ““poisoning the minds of youth.”*?

She pointed out that the play had not been written for Mr.
Atkinson or the police commissioner and that the latter, to the
best of her knowledge, had not seen the play. The play was
written for children, and they enjoyed it immensely. To support
this point, Mrs. Flanagan offered as evidence a survey con-
ducted by the Department of Psychology of New York
University on the Federal Theatre’s children’s projects and
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specifically Beavers. She sketched through the children’s respon-
ses to the play:

The play teaches us to never to be selfish; never to be selfish
because you don’t get anything out of it. . .. That it is better to
be good than bad. That beavers have manners just like children.
To teach that if you are unkind any time in your life, you will
always regret it. Never to be selfish,48

Thomas found little poisonous subversion in the children’s
observations and moved on to a brief discussion of several other
plays and their alleged anti-American content.

Chairman Dies concluded the questioning of Mrs. Flanagan
with a lengthy and hard-hitting examination of the director
vis-a-vis her views on the primary purpose in the production of
plays, a rehash of the Theatre Arts Monthly article, profanity in
the project’s plays, and her specific refutation of charges made
by the witnesses who testified in August. Dies made much of
Mrs. Flanagan’s claim that she was unable to speak personally
about the politics of some 4,000 persons. Hence, he said, she
was not a credible witness capable of denying the charges of
Communist infiltration and activities in the project.

Mrs. Flanagan sums up her observations of that December
morning:

As the hearing broke up | thought suddenly of how much it
all looked like a badly staged courtroom scene; it wasn’t
imposing encugh for a congressional hearing on which the
future of several thousand human beings depended. For any
case on which the life and reputation of a single human being
depended, even that of an accused murderer, we had an
American system which demanded a judge trained in law, a
defense lawyer, a carefully chosen jury, and above all the
necessity of hearing all the evidence on both sides of the case.
Yet here was a Committee which for months had been actually
trying a case against Federal Theatre, trying it behind closed
doors, and giving one side only to the press. Out of a project
employing thousands of people from coast to coast, the
Committee had chosen arbitrarily to hear ten witnesses, all
from New York City, and had refused arbitrarily to hear
literally hundreds of others, on and off the project, who had
asked to testify. . ..
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Congressman Thomas was jovial.

“You don’t look like a Communist,”” he declared. Y ou look
like a Republican!”

“If your Committee isn’t convinced that neither I nor the
Federal Theatre Project is communistic I want to come back
this afternoon,” I told him.

“We don’t want you back,” he laughed. “You’re a tough
witness and we’re all worn out.”*7

The defense of the Federal Theatre was not exclusively in the
hands of Ellen Woodward and Hallie Flanagan. In October,
1938, TAC, a monthly periodical of theater activities, published
a statement condemning the committee’s activities. TAC’s
general proposition was that taxpayers’ money, national news-
paper space, and the efforts of a Congressional committee had
been wasted on investigating alleged un-American activities
while accepting and seemingly encouraging unauthenticated
attacks on progressive groups, federal projects, government
officials, trade unions, and cultural groups.

The periodical concluded its position by stating that “the
very essence of our American democratic institutions is con-
stantly subject to malicious falsification . .. therefore, that the
investigation to date has failed its purpose, and urges the
immediate dissolution of the Dies Committee.””*8

Hollywood and New York joined in attacking the committee,
and many celebrities offered statements espousing their per-
sonal positions. A sampling of the Hollywood protest demon-
strates the spectrum of opinions given for the issuing of the
public statements against Dies and his colleagues:

Dashiell Hammett, chairman, Motion Picture Artists Com-
mittee:

We indignantly reject these irresponsible attacks. At this crucial
time when the cooperation of all democratic forces is so
essential, this attack throws a very dubious light on the
character of the whole Dies investigation. It emphasizes the
need for the greatest alertness on the part of all democracy-
loving American people.

Lewis Milestone, director:

It seems to me that the hysteria of the Dies Committee’s
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investigations have only succeeded in strengthening public
belief in the organizations and movements they have attacked.
For myself, and for members of the motion picture industry, if
our aid to democracies now victims of fascist aggression can be
misinterpreted as un-American acts, then perhaps the Dies
Committee has its own translation of the word democracy.

Fredric March, actor:

Every time during the last few years that I have felt impelled to
protest an injustice, to cry out against man’s inhumanity to
man, or to espouse some social reform, I have been called a
Communist. Because the founders of our country believed in
justice, tolerance and the exercise of such social reform as
would benefit the people at large, I insist upon the right to
follow their example and still be recognized as a loyal American
citizen.

John Ford, director:

May I express my whole-hearted desire to cooperate to the
utmost of my ability with the Hollywood anti-Nazi League. If
this be Communism, count me in.

Luise Rainer, actress:

I do not believe in the so-called revelations made by the Dies
Investigating Committee. 1 believe their purpose is purely
destructive, aimed at discrediting worthwhile peace and anti-
fascist organizations, which are so much needed in these
worried times.49

From New York a group comprised of Frances Farmer,
Gertrude Niesen, Phoebe Brand, Artie Shaw, the dancer
Tamiris, Robert Reed, and Michael O’Shea flew to Washington
on a special chartered plane on January 16, 1939. They
presented petitions signed by 200,000 persons protesting the
scheduled dismissal of 1,526 WPA workers on the Federal Arts
Project in New York City.5°

TAC noted that “the daily press throughout the country,
especially in Washington, where front-page pictures of the
‘flying protest’ were recorded for the benefit of Congress, was
generous in bringing this news to the nation.”%!

The *“flying pigeon protest” was another effort on the part of
New York actors to save the project. In March, 1939, a group of
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Broadway show girls assisted Leif FErickson, Janet Hill, and
Nancy Stern in taking ninety-six carrier pigeons to Times
Square, where the birds were released. Each pigeon wore a pink
slip attached to its leg bearing the words: S.0.S. SAVE THE
WPA 52

A subsequent rally at the Mansfield Theatre protesting the
projected financial cuts of the arts projects brought out as
speakers Frank Gilmore, president of the Associated Actors and
Artistes of America; George Schreiber, artist; Jean Muir,
Hollywood actress; Samuel Leibowitz, a prominent attorney;
and New York Congressman Vito Marcantonio. A ‘living
newspaper’’ production, The Right to Live, by Muni Diamond,
“skillfully dramatized the achievements of the projects and
provided an impressive argument for the continuation and
expansion of the W.P.A.”%3

Radio, probably the most effective method of mass commun-
ication in the thirties, broadcast a number of memorable shows
in an effort to save the Federal Theatre. One of the last
programs was aired at midnight on Monday, June 20, 1939, and
featured stars from both Hollywood and New York. Al Jolson,
Dick Powell, Hugh Herbert, Gale Sondergaard, Joan Blondell,
Ralph Bellamy, Walter Abel, Henry Fonda, James Cagney, and
John Barrymore were among the artists endeavoring to stop
Congress from cutting off appropriations for Mrs. Flanagan’s
project.>® They were unsuccessful.

By act of Congress on June 30, 1939, Federal Theatre was
ended. Who was responsible for this untimely death of such a
seemingly worthwhile adjunct of the New Deal’s Works Progress
Administration? The director of the project’s Play Bureau,
Emmet Lavery, believed that the contributors to its demise
were Congressman Dies, Congressman Clifton Woodrum (whose
bill finally cut off appropriations), and the Workers Alliance
(whose claim of infiltration of the project did little to help
remove the “Red” cast).>®

TAC laid the blame specifically on the shoulders of Dies. The
magazine metaphorically claimed the Federal Theatre was
destroyed by a “‘beater for the legislative hunting party gunning
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for the New Deal,” Dies, who picked out the Federal Theatre
“as the quickest game.”’>®

Hallie Flanagan avoids assigning the blame for the end of her
theater to any individual or group. With optimism rather than
bitterness, she concluded that her theater created for citizens a
medium for free expression that no other form of government
could assure. In further offering people “access to the arts and
tools of a civilization which they themselves are helping to
make, such a theatre is at once an illustration and a bulwark of
the democratic form of government.”®’ Strangely pro-
American words from a suspected un-American, who was a
Democrat, Congregationalist, Grinnell (Iowa) College graduate
out of Redfield, South Dakota.

Evaluation of the Hearings

The committee’s first test of its ability to wave symbolically
the Red flag above the theater artist, thereby denying him his
right to work at his profession, was a stunning success.

The proper responsibility of the committee’s investigation of
the Federal Theatre Project should have been to determine if
federal government funds were being paid to people who were
consciously planning and plotting the overthrow of that
government by nondemocratic means. That there were Commu-
nists and Communist sympathizers associated with the project is
unquestionable in view of the social context of the times, the
numbers of the personnel, and the inclination of some artists to
support American liberal causes also allegedly championed by
the Kremlin—e.g., civil rights, racial equality, brotherhood.

Out of nearly 1,000 plays produced during the four-year
existence of the project, some were debatable on political
grounds. But the contention of the committee that 26 Federal
Theatre plays were un-American, anticapitalist, and therefore
pro-Communist was never proved. Mrs. Flanagan’s purported
Russian sympathies were no more than one artist’s respect for
another’s creation, regardless of the political system that
tolerated that creativity.
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On August 11, 1938, Mrs. Flanagan offered herself and her
six regional policy directors to the committee in an effort to
refute the sensational charges about Communism in the project
made public the previous month by Representative Thomas.
She was denied this opportunity by Chairman Dies.

Later that August, the ten friendly witnesses ruminated over
a series of accusations about the Federal Theatre, few of which
proved Communist domination of the project and none of
which was challenged by the committee. Contrary to Chairman
Dies’ public utterances, communications from potential witnes-
ses who might appear and challenge the credibility of the ten
friendly witnesses were discounted by him as financially not
feasible. His reasoning was that the monies allotted to the
committee for its work were limited. In its coverage of the
committee’s investigation, the predominantly Republican anti-
New Deal press gave the charges of Communist infiltration of
the project inflated attention.

One is inclined to forgive Representative Starnes for his
limited knowledge of Elizabethan playwrights, because he
consistently tried to keep the investigation centered on Commu-
nism in the Federal Theatre.

Congressman Thomas’ assertion that the plays produced by
the Federal Theatre were propaganda for the Democratic
administration was absurd. Quite the opposite was true. All the
plays discussed by the ten friendly witnesses and Mrs.
Woodward and Mrs. Flanagan were critical attacks on the failure
of the New Deal to be responsive to the dire human needs and
problems that beset America in the thirties.

Further, Thomas failed to prove that the project was part of
a Communist organization and that radicals were the rule rather
than the exception. He also failed to make good on his promise
to demand the resignation of Federal Theatre officials.

The long time lapse between the charges made in August and
the December defense of those charges indicated the administra-
tion’s desire to play politics with the project. Had Washington
allowed Mrs. Flanagan to answer the press stories immediately
after their publication in August, the Federal Theatre might
have had a longer existence.

With the New Deal suffering an economic recession and
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setbacks in the 1938 Congressional elections, the elimination of
federally sponsored show business was an overt appeasement to
the foes of the Democratic administration.

The ability of the committee to investigate fairly was amply
demonstrated by its interrogation of Mrs. Woodward and Mrs.
Flanagan. That same ability was appallingly absent in the
interrogation of the procommittee witnesses in August.

Representative Thomas’ cavalier attitude, verbalized in his
off-the-record remark about Mrs. Flanagan’s looking more like a
Republican than a Communist, suggests that his serious concern
with Communism in the Federal Theatre may have been limited
to self-serving publicity for himself and the committee. This
awareness of the publicity value of Red probes was not limited
to the times or the House of Representatives. Years later,
Richard Rovere was to charge America’s foremost hunter of
Reds, Senator Joseph McCarthy, with a similar disinterest in
Communism—unless it served his mania for publicity.5®

The committee’s later practice of including in its printed
records only briefs friendly to its work was established when
Mrs. Flanagan’s carefully prepared statement, refuting charges
made against her theater, failed to appear in the transcripts of
the proceedings, despite the promise of the hearing’s secretary.

Subsequently, more than 500 copies of her brief were sent to
the office of WPA director of information David Niles for
distribution to the members of Congress. He assured her the
statements would be disseminated to the representatives. This
was never done.??

Chairman Martin Dies stated publicly that he hoped to direct
the committee’s inquiries in a manner that would avoid
publicity.®® Slightly more than a month later, J. Parnell
Thomas made public his damning accusations against Mrs.
Flanagan’s theater. For the remainder of that year the Dies
committee received more press attention than any other
organization in the country.%!

Sallie Saunders’ professed abhorrence at being telephoned by
a Negro asking her for a date was but one ecxample of the
committee’s failure to challenge the relevance of information to
its inquiry into Communism in the project. The omission of the
challenge strengthened the conservative charge that miscegena-
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tion was a plot fostered by the CP and the New Deal that would
result in a breakdown of American traditions.

Although the majority of the press favored the committee’s
work, some decried its activities as anothe: of the lunatic “Red
hunts” that the country was prone to engage in from time to
time %2

Paul Edwards, the New York Arts Projects administrator,
made an exhaustive survey of the August witnesses’ Federal
Theatre personnel records. His findings would give one reason
to challenge the worth of their testimony. Edwards revealed
that nearly all of them were disgruntled employees who had
been refused promotion by himself or Mrs. Flanagan.®3

Shortly after the witnesses appeared in August, Dies charged
that they had their wages docked in retaliation for their
procommittee testimony.®® This was true in the sense that
when they traveled to Washington to testify they were not paid
for the time they spent away from the project. But the Dies
charge implied that Communists were responsible for the
docking of the wages of the testifying anti-Communists, and so
the case against the theater continued to grow in the public
consciousness.

In November, 1938, Dies demanded the resignations of New
Dealers Harold Ickes, Harry Hopkins, and Frances Perkins,
claiming that their positions in the government impeded
America’s economic recovery. He charged that the three had
associates who were Socialists, Communists, and “crack-
pots.”® 3

Mrs. Woodward and Mrs. Flanagan thus had reason to believe
that anyone making such blatant accusatory statements against
important public officials would show little mercy to any less
significant figures in the Roosevelt administration. In the light
of this knowledge, they both failed to arm themselves with
sufficient data to present the best possible defense of their case.
Mrs. Woodward’s effort to condemn the witnesses in August as
not being artistically qualified to testify about the project was
properly challenged by the committee. Artistic training was not
a requirement for recognizing subversion.

Mrs. Woodward, in her attempt to read favorable reviews of
the so-called un-American plays, failed to defend the project
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against the charges that the plays spread Communist doctrine.
She merely testified that they were reviewed as artistically
successful, not necessarily politically safe. She also was unable
to prove that she was familiar with all the plays or the
backgrounds of the authors or to produce evidence that the
people who bought tickets to the theater were not the radicals
Hazel Huffman charged them with being. The committee
refused to let her complete her opening statement; it also failed
to publish her remarks in its record of the hearings, as Dies had
promised.®®

That Mrs. Flanagan had never seen Communist literature
distributed on the project did not mean that it had not
happened. Her testimony that she would have fired those who
attempted such an undertaking had she caught them hardly
satisfied the committee’s need for proof of the pure American
nature of the project.

Though the director claimed her earlier sympathetic writings
on Russian theater and the American proletariat theater had no
influence on her direction of the Federal Theatre, the implica-
tion of her left leanings hampered her defense of the project.

It was the image of her political character that was also on
trial. The committee made the most of it.

Martin Dies seemed unable to tolerate Mrs. Flanagan’s belief
that civil and social inequities should be material for drama—
even though he agreed they existed.

In conclusion, if the entire transcript of her testimony had
been front-page news, it would have shown her unable to refute
such charges made against the project as the distribution of
Communist literature, covert pressures exercised by such
Communist-dominated organizations as the Workers Alliance,
and her own left-of-center writings.%’

This was more than sufficient evidence to condemn her in the
eyes of the 75 percent of the public that agreed with the work
of the committee.®®

Dies’ contention that the Communist Party did dominate the
Workers Alliance appears correct.®® His charge that employ-
ment in the Federal Theatre was in some instances related to
membership in the Workers Alliance also was sound.”°

Both the CP and Mrs. Flanagan were politically naive. The
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support of the Federal Theatre by the Communist press negated
any possible Red dominance of the project. If the party wanted
to infiltrate the project subtly, it would have served its purposes
better to be less exuberant and complimentary about the
theater’s productions. Mrs. Flanagan’s decision to use federal
subsidies to produce plays condemning her subsidizer is another
example of an impolitic decision that might have been avoided
by less idealism or more political pragmatism.

The policy of exposure of evidence of Communist associa-
tions without allowing the accused refutation of the evidence
had been established. It was a policy that would wreck
hundreds of lives in the postwar period as insidiously as it
returned to the relief rolls more than 8,000 living-theater artists
in the summer of 1939,

Throughout the first twenty years of the committee’s
existence, investigations of the entertainment world were
always a guarantee of maximum puklicity for the chairman.
Martin Dies, more remembered for his political pragmatism than
his idealism, discovered this in 1938, and in 1947, J. Parnell
Thomas, then chairman of the committee, began his tumultuous
investigation of the Red menace in the most publicity-
generating area of the entertainment world—Hollywood.
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Chapter I

J. Parnell Thomas' 1947 Investigation
of Communist Infiltration
in the Motion Picture Industry

LOUIS B. Mayer, head of Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer studios in
1947, is said to have drawn an analogy between the royal family
and the personalities of the motion picture business. As the
British people revered their kings and queens, Americans,

according to Mayer, satisfied their deep human impulse to
venerate by worshiping movie stars.?

Blacklisted writer Gordon Kahn believed that the analogy
implied that “Hollywood Glamor... included the entire
personnel of the studios, not just the stars whose images graced
the household shrines of America.”?

That this analogy has validity is open to scholarly debate, but
if it is accepted by the reader in the most general of
interpretations, then it is proper to add that it is “an essential
tradition of constitutional monarchy that the reigning sover-
eigns be above politics and refrain from any significant
expression of opinion whatsoever.”

Some Hollywood folk, according to the committee, were not
above politics or opinions, and Chairman J. Parnell Thomas
sought in 1947 to prove this contention.

Description of the Hearings

At nine o’clock in the morning, Monday, October 20, 1947,

75
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the House Committee on Un-American Activities opened its
much publicized and controversial hearings concerning Commu-
nist infiltration of the motion picture industry.

The first public postwar investigation of persons in the
entertainment world occurred in the old House office building
in Washington, D.C. More than one hundred news-gathering
agencies from America and the rest of the world occupied the
40- by 80-foot room. The three major American radio networks
were on hand. Eleven newsreel and television cameras were
situated above the witness table. Some of the 300 spectator
seats were occupied by the most well-known figures of the
period. Many of the notables wore sunglasses, not for the
purpose of incognizance but to protect their eyes from the
harsh lighting necessitated by the cameras. Uniformed police
were on guard outside the room to ‘“‘manage the crowd of the
curious and the ecstatic who sought to touch or at least to see a
legendary figure from the magic mecca.”*

From the moguls to the mummers, most of the friendly
witnesses were indeed almost legendary figures—if not forever,
at least in their own time.

Among the more illustrious in the spectrum of witnesses
summoned by the committee to support its contention that
there was Communist infiltration of the motion picture
industry were Jack L. Warner, of the famous brothers Warner;
Robert Taylor, the noted MGM profile; Louis Burt Mayer,
production chief of Taylor’s studio; Adolphe Menjou, a dapper
“self-made expert on communism, Stalinism, Fabianism, Social-
ism and Marxism”®; Thomas (Leo) McCarey, director of Going
My Way; Robert Montgomery, actor and later speech writer and
adviser to President Dwight Eisenhower; Walter E. (Walt)
Disney, creator of Mickey Mouse; George L. Murphy, actor-
dancer and later United States Senator from California; Ronald
Reagan, actor and later Republican Presidential aspirant and
governor of California; Lela Rogers, mother of actress Ginger
Rogers; superstar Gary Cooper; and Ayn Rand, author of The
Fountainhead and later the principal philosopher of Objectiv-
ism.®

Conducting the investigation was a subcommittee of the
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House Committee on Un-American Activities. Its members were
Representatives John McDowell of Pennsylvania, J. Parnell
Thomas of New Jersey, chairman, Richard B. Vail of Illinois,
John S. Wood of Georgia, and Richard M. Nixon of California.”

From Monday to Friday, October 20 tc October 25, 1947,
the members heard testimony from twenty-four friendly wit-
nesses who variously asserted their patriotism and pleased the
committee by indicating their awareness of the Communist
menace in the film capital of the world.

The twelve quasi-legendary figures previously mentioned, ten
men and two women, represented a fair cross section of the
committee’s friendly witnesses, and their testimony is briefly
summarized here. Special attention is given to testimony that
cites names of suspected Communists.

Jack L. Warner, accompanied by his counsel, Paul V. McNutt,
former governor of Indiana and national commander of the
American Legion, was the first witness of the day.®

Warner requested that he be allowed to read a statement and
agreed that “similar to a degree, more or less,” it was the same
statement he had read to the committee in Los Angeles in the
spring of 1947.° He was allowed to read the statement after
Chairman Thomas declared it was pertinent to the inquiry.

Thomas’ decision on pertinence, as we shall also observe with
the unfriendly witnesses, seemed to revolve more around
whether an opening statement was flattering to the committee’s
investigation than its relevance as information or evidence.

Warner was most complimentary to the committee, asserting:
“It is a privilege to appear again before this committee to help
as much as I can in facilitating its work.”!°

Robert E. Stripling, chief investigator for the committee,
reminded Warner that in earlier testimony before the committee
he had listed individuals he thought were injecting “un-
American ideas’ into scripts. Ile asked the producer if he still
agreed that these writers were suspect. Warner declared he had
reassessed the matter and felt that he would eliminate Guy
Endore, Sheridan Gibney, and the twin brothers Julius and
Philip Epstein from his subversive list, a list which originally
included Alvah Bessie, Gordon Kahn, lloward Koch, Ring W.
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Lardner, Jr., Emmet G. Lavery, John Howard Lawson, Albert
Maltz, Robert Rossen, Irwin Shaw, Dalton Trumbo, John
Wexley, and Clifford Odets.!?

On May 15, 1947, when he offered his original list of names,
Warner also stated that “Arthur Miller and Elia Kazan worked
on Broadway where, he implied, they practiced some form of
subversion.”! 2

In summing up his position as the chief of production for a
major film studio, Warner agreed with Congressman Vail that
writers and actors with definite Communistic leanings should be
eliminated from the industry, but he would never be guilty of
trying individually or in association with others “‘to deprive a
man of a livelihood because of his political beliefs.””? 3 He was
to refute this position before the end of the year.

Spangler Arlington Brough, known to millions of adoring
fans as Robert Taylor, denied that in his “preview’ hearing in
Hollywood in the spring he had said that he had been “forced”
to play in Song of Russia by an emissary from President
Roosevelt.! 4

On October 22, when the committee questioned Taylor
about Communists in the Screen Actors Guild, the actor
replied: “I can name a few who seem to sort of disrupt things
once in awhile.” The star named Howard da Silva and Karen
Morley as contributing to a disruptive influence at guild
meetings, but as to whether or not they were Communists he
was not sure.! 3

Stripling asked if Taylor was acquainted with any writers
whom he considered to be Communists or who followed the
party line. He answered: “I know one gentleman employed at
the studio at which I am employed, Mr. Lester Cole, who is
reputedly a Communist. I would not know personally.”*® The
exchange continued:

MR. STRIPLING: Would you say that after Pearl Harbor the
activities of the Communists in the motion-picture industry
increased or decreased?

MR. TAYLOR: I think quite obviously it must have increased.
The ground for their work in this country was obviously
more fertile. I would say “yes”; it did definitely increase
following Pearl Harbor.
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MR. STRIPLING: Mr. Taylor, have you ever joined any
Communist-front organization?

MR. TAYLOR: No, sir; believe me.

MR. STRIPLING: Have you ever played in any picture with
people whom you had any doubts about as to their loyalty
to the Government?

MR. TAYLOR: Not that I know of. I have never worked with
anyone knowingly who is a Communist. Moreover, 1 shall
never work with anyone who is a Communist.

MR. STRIPLING: You would refuse to act in a picture in
which a person whom you considered to be a Communist
was also cast; is that correct?

MR. TAYLOR: I most assuredly would and I would not even
have to know that he was a Communist. This may sound
biased; however, if 1 were suspicious of a person being a
Communist with whom I was scheduled to work, I am afraid
it would have to be him or me, because life is a little too
short to be around people who annoy me as much as these
fellow travelers and Communists do.

MR. STRIPLING: You definitely consider them to be a bad
influence upon the industry?

MR. TAYLOR: I certainly do; yes, sir.

MR. STRIPLING: They are a rotten apple in the barrel?

MR. TAYLOR: To me they are and I further believe that 99.9
percent of the people in the motion-picture industry feel
exactly as I do.

MR. STRIPLING: What do you think would be the best way to
approach the problem of ridding the industry of the
Communists who are now entrenched therein?

MR. TAYLOR: Well, sir, if I were given the responsibility of
getting rid of them I would love nothing better than to fire
every last one of them and never let them work in a studio or
in Hollywood again. However, that is not my position.

If 1 were producing a picture on my own and I hope |
never do—but if I were, I would not have one of them within
100 miles of me or the studio or the script. I am sure the
producers in Hollywood are faced with a slightly different
problem. They are heads of an industry and as heads of an
industry they might be slightly more judicial than I, as an
individual, would be.

I believe firmly that the producers, the heads of the
studios in Hollywood, would be and are more than willing to
do everything they can to rid Hollywood of Communists and
fellow travelers.

1 think if given the tools with which to work—specifically,
some sort of national legislation or an attitude on the part of
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the Government as such which would provide them with the
weapons for getting rid of these people—I have no doubt
personally but what they would be gone in very short order,

MR. STRIPLING: Mr. Taylor, do you consider that the motion
picture primarily is a vehicle of entertainment and not of
propaganda?

MR. TAYLOR: I certainly do. I think it is the primary job of
the motion-picture industry to entertain; nothing more,
nothing less.17

Ironically, the authors of the The High Wall, the film Taylor
had just completed, were Sydney Boehm and—Lester Cole!?®

Louis Burt Mayer acknowledged that he was born in Russia, a
bit of information that ‘“brought a score or more of random
spectators forward in their seats.”'® On October 20, Mayer,
after reading a prepared statement complimenting the work of
the committee and suggesting that it recommend to Congress
legislation regulating the employment of Communists in private
industry, attempted to establish MGM’s patriotism by naming
two films produced to aid the war effort, Joe Smith, American
and Mrs. Miniver.2°

In answer to the question: Were there any Communists at
MGM? Mayer responded that ‘“they” had mentioned two or
three writers whom “‘they” had marked as Communists.2? It
was never made clear who *they” were, but the production
chief indicated the names of the writers who were suspect:
Lester Cole, Dalton Trumbo, and Donald Ogden Stewart.??2

Representative Vail was interested to know why people
earning “astronomical” salaries in the studios should wish to
denigrate the system that afforded them such affluence. The
Culver City lay analyst answered: “My own opinion is, Mr.
Congressman, which I have expressed many times in discussion,
I think they are cracked. It can’t be otherwise.”2*® Satisfied
with this diagnosis, Vail had no more questions.

Adolphe Menjou, *“the screen’s best-dressed mummer,” told
the committee on October 21 that he had read more than 150
books on one subject, ‘‘an oriental tyranny, a Kremlin-
dominated conspiracy, Russia,”?* and if other people would
only read and read and read they would wake up and no longer
be victims or innocent dupes of the Moscow politburo.?
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MR. STRIPLING: Are you a member of the Screen Actors
Guild?

MR. MENJOU: Yes, sir; I am.

MR. STRIPLING: Have you ever noticed any effort on the part
of Communist individuals to gain influence in the Screen
Actors Guild?

MR. MENJOU: I don’t know any members of the Screen
Actors Guild who are members of the Communist Party. I
have never seen their cards. I am a firm believer that the
Communist Party in the United States is a direct branch of
the Comintern—which, in my opinion, has never been
dissolved—direct from Moscow. It is an oriental tyranny, a
Kremlin-dominated conspiracy, and it is against the interests
of the people to admit that they are Communists. Very few
admit it.

MR. STRIPLING: Do you have your very definite suspicions
about some members of the Screen Actors Guild?

MR. MENJOU: I know a great many people who act an awful
lot like Communists.

MR. STRIPLING: As an actor, Mr. Menjou, could you tell the
committee whether or not an actor in a picture could
portray a scene which would in effect serve as propaganda
for communism or any other un-American purpose?

MR. MENJOU: Oh, yes. I believe that under certain circum-
stances a communistic director, a communistic writer, or a
communistic actor, even if he were under orders from the
head of the studio not to inject communism or un-
Americanism or subversion into pictures, could easily subvert
that order, under the proper circumstances, by a look, by an
inflection, by a change in the voice. I think it could be easily
done. I have never seen it done, but I think it could be done.

MR. STRIPLING: You don’t know of any examples?

MR. MEN]JOU: I cannot think of one at the moment. No, sir.

MR. STRIPLING: Do you know Mr. John Cromwell?

MR. MENJOU: Yes, sir.

MR. STRIPLING: He was identified before the committee
yesterday by Mr. Sam Wood as being one who sought to put
the Screen Directors Guild into the Red river. Do you
consider Mr. Cromwell to be a Communist?

MR. MENJOU: I don’t know whether he is a Communist or
not.

MR. STRIPLING: Does he act like one?

MR. MENJOU: In my opinion, he acts an awful lot like one.2®

Citing other individuals, the self-proclaimed Soviet expert
named John Howard Lawson and Herbert Sorrell, head of the
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Conference of Studio Unions, as persons he believed or had
heard were Communists.?”

Menjou concluded his testimony with a panegyric that
brought loud applause from his audience:

I believe America should arm to the teeth. I believe in universal
military training. I attended Culver Military Academy during
the last war and enlisted as a private. Due to my military
training I was soon made an officer and it taught me a great
many things. I believe if I was told to swim the Mississippi
River I would learn how to swim. Every young man should
have military training. There is no better thing for a young man
than military training for his discipline, for his manhood, for
his courage, and for love of his country. I know it was good for
me. It never did me any harm.28

The committee agreed. There were no more questions.

Unlike the previously mentioned witnesses, director Thomas
(Leo) McCarey did not offer the committee any names of
persons in the motion picture industry who were potential
Communist infiltrators. Thomas asked the director the two key
questions consistently posed to the friendlies:

THE CHAIRMAN: Do you believe the industry should produce
anti-Communist films in order to show the American people
the dangers and the intrigue of the Communist Party here in
the United States?

MR. McCAREY: Well, Mr. Thomas, that is quite a question. I
think basically the screen—I like to feel it is an art. I don’t
think pictures should be made that have much more than
what the medium stands for. It is a great art. Pictures should
be entertainment. I think that because of the number of
people in all lands who see our pictures. I believe it only
tends toward causing more enmity if we are partisan and
take any sides in our pictures.

For instance, Mr. Disney with his Donald Duck. Donald
Duck is a great hero. The Three Little Pigs was very
successful and the world is trying to tell us they want
entertainment on the screen.

THE CHAIRMAN: In other words, you believe we would be
doing the same thing—

MR. McCAREY: We would bring on more bitterness, I think.

THE CHAIRMAN: We would be doing the same thing Soviet
Russia is doing?
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MR. McCAREY: That is right.

THE CHAIRMAN: The other question is with reference to
outlawing the Communist Party. We have two bills before
our committee, either one of which if passed would outlaw
the Communist Party in the United States just the same as it
is outlawed in Canada and outlawed in some South American
countries.

As one of the leaders or spokesmen of your profession,
spokesman for a great many people, do you believe the
Congress should outlaw the Communist Party in the United
States?

MR. McCAREY: I definitely do because I feel the party is not
an American party. I think that within the confines of the
United States we can have all the parties we want and have
healthy debate on any subject for the betterment of all
peoples but I don’t think we should align ourselves with any
foreign party.

THE CHAIRMAN: In other words, you think an American
Communist is the agent of a foreign government?

MR. McCAREY: I definitely do and I hope something is done
about it because at this time it is a very dangerous thing. It
seems like in a way some people accuse us of being afraid of
mentioning names. I would be very happy to mention names
if we had a law with some teeth in it so that under the
heading of —call it what you will; I am not a legislator and I
am not a law maker—but somewhere along the line under the
subdivision of “Treason,” subdivision *D,” or something like
that, should label these people as truly un-American.

THE CHAIRMAN: So that if there was a law on the books
making the Communist Party illegal you would not hesitate
to name the persons whom you know and believe to be
Communists?

MR. McCAREY: That is right.29

In response to Stripling’s question about what pictures he
had produced and directed, McCarey indicated:

Ruggles of Red Gap, the Awful Truth, Love Affair, Going
My Way, and The Bells of St. Marys.

MR. STRIPLING: Were Going My Way and The Bells of St.
Marys two of the most popular pictures which you have
produced in recent years, according to the box office?

MR. McCAREY: According to the box office, they were both
very successful.

MR. STRIPLING: They did very well?
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MR. McCAREY: Yes, sir.

MR. STRIPLING: How did they do in Russia?

MR. McCAREY: We haven’t received one ruble from Russia on
either picture,

MR. STRIPLING: What is the trouble?

MR. McCAREY: Well, I think I have a character in there that
they do not like.

MR. STRIPLING: Bing Crosby?

MR. McCAREY: No; God.3°

Robert Montgomery, an actor probably most remembered
for his performance as the insane killer Danny in Night Must
Fall and a former president of the Screen Actors Guild,
appeared on October 23 and read a resolution issued by the
guild in 1946. The resolution had been introduced by Mont-
gomery and its concluding sentence pleased the committee:
*“The guild in addition states that it has in the past, does in the
present, and will in the future rigorously oppose by every power
which is within its legal rights, any real Fascist or Communist
influence in the motion-picture industry or in the ranks of
labor.”3?

In response to Stripling’s questions on Communist attempts
to inject Red propaganda into scripts and his general opinion
regarding Communism, Montgomery replied:

I have heard these people [Communists] referred to as the
lunatic fringe, and [ quite agree with that definition. However, I

~—~ do not think any of them would be crazy enough to try to
inject Communist propaganda into a picture I had anything to
do with . ...

Mr. Chairman, in common with millions of other men in this
country in 1939 and 1940 I gave up my job to fight against a
totalitarianism which was called fascism. I am quite willing to
give it up again to fight against a totalitarianism called
communism,32

There was applause.

Walter E. Disney testified on October 24 that films could be
used successfully as propaganda; he cited six that were made by
his studio that dealt with the Treasury Department, Air Power,
and Hitler. He was for the first two and against the latter.33
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The studio head said that there had been a strike at his
studio, a strike that in Disney’s opinion was instigated by the
Communist Party. Disney identified Herbert K. Sorrell as the
leader of the group initiating the alleged party takeover.34

Disney named David Hilberman, William Pomerance, and
Maurice Howard as persons who, in his opinion, were Commu-
nists. Additionally, he averred that the League of Women
Voters, the People’s World, the Daily Worker, and “PM
Magazine [sic] in New York” had smeared him and his pictures.
That smear, according to Disney, also occurred in “Commie
periodicals” in South America and throughout the world. In a
subsequent letter to the committee, Disney corrected his
allegation to read League of Women Shoppers, not League of
Women Voters. His feelings about the CP remained uncorrected:

MR. SMITH: What is your personal opinion of the Communist
Party, Mr. Disney, as to whether or not it is a political party?
MR. DISNEY: Well, I don’t believe it is a political party. I
believe it is an un-American thing. The thing that I resent the
most is that they are able to get into these unions, take them
over, and represent to the world that a group of people that
are in my plant, that [ know are good, 100-percent
Americans, are trapped by this group, and they are repre-
v sented to the world as supporting all of those ideologies, and
it is not so, and I feel that they really ought to be smoked
out and shown up for what they are, so that all of the good,
free causes in this country, all the liberalisms that really are
American, can go out without the taint of communism. That

is my sincere feeling on it.

MR. SMITH: Do you feel that there is a threat of communism
in the motion-picture industry?

MR. DISNEY: Yes, there is, and there are many reasons why
they would like to take it over or get in and control it, or
disrupt it, but I don’t think they have gotten very far, and I
think the industry is made up of good Americans just like in
my plant, good, solid Americans.35

George L. Murphy, a former two-term president of the
Screen Actors Guild and later Republican Senator from
California, identified himself as an actor-dancer on October 23,
He testified that to the best of his knowledge he had nevet
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joined any subversive groups or organizations and that he was
“chairman of a political group lately formed in Hollywood.
Among the things it hopes to do is fight against communism
and fascism.” The performer went on to assert his patriotism:

MR. SMITH: Have you ever been called upon to give lines in a
picture which you felt were communistic?

MR. MURPHY: No; I have not.

MR. SMITH: Supposing you were called upon to give such
lines, what would be your position?

MR. MURPHY: I am afraid, as they say in the theater, I would
dry up, I wouldn’t read the lines, nor would I play the part if
I consider the part to be one that spread Communist
propaganda.

MR. SMITH: Do you feel that if things continue as they are the
Communists might gain enough strength to control the
industry?

MR. MURPHY: There is much discussion about Communist
propaganda. [ think all who read the newspapers and the
columns realize that the Communist Party in the past has
appeared to be in no particular hurry about achieving its
ends. I think to look for direct Communist propaganda in
pictures at this particular moment might be a mistake. I
think we should be well on our guard that the infiltration
maybe is taking place at this time so that after the
infiltration has reached a saturation point later on the screen
may be used in a manner inimical to the best interests of our
country.

MR. SMITH: Do you believe the Communist Party is an agency
of a foreign enemy?

MR. MURPHY: I have no way of proving this, but from the
reading that I have done, and listening to the radio, I believe
that the Communist Party members are agents of a foreign
country 36

Murphy indicated that if the government of the United States
decided that the Communist Party was taking orders from a
foreign government, the party could be considered as acting as
an agent of a foreign government and not as an American
political party. If this differentiation were made public to the
people, he concluded, “‘the great American public would tell the
Congress of the United States very quickly and without
question what action they think should be taken.’”37
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The actor-dancer informed the panel he had been called a
Fascist, but he made it clear that he did not mind the cognomen
because he felt the time had come when anyone who disagreed
with a Communist was labeled a Fascist, and he certainly
disagreed.®

He stepped down and made way for a future Republican
Presidential contender and governor of California, Ronald
Reagan. Reagan at the time of his testimony before the
committee on October 23 was the president of the Screen
Actors Guild and a liberal Democrat given to quoting Thomas
Jefferson.®®

The actor explained how he had been led into sponsoring a
drive to raise money for the All-Nations Hospital in Los Angeles
and how he had subsequently found out that a recital for the
hospital was under the auspices of the Joint Anti-Fascist
Refugee Committee and that the *“‘principal speaker was Emil
Lustig, Robert Burman took up a collection, and the remnants
of the Abraham Lincoln Brigade were paraded to the platform.”
He added that he did not see one mention of the hospital in the
newspaper account he had read. Reagan acknowledged that
solid information existed regarding CP members in the actors
union:

MR. STRIPLING: As a member of the board of directors, as
president of the Screen Actors Guild, and as an active
member, have you at any time observed or noted within the
organization a clique of either Communists or Fascists who
were attempting to exert influence or pressure on the guild?

MR. REAGAN: Well, sir, my testimony must be very similar to
that of Mr. Murphy and Mr. Montgomery. There has been a
small group within the Screen Actors Guild which has
consistently opposed the policy of the guild board and
officers of the guild, as evidenced by the vote on various
issues. That small clique referred to has been suspected of
more or less following the tactics that we associate with the
Communist Party.

MR. STRIPLING: Would you refer to them as a disruptive
influence within the guild?

MR. REAGAN: I would say that at times they have attempted
to be a disruptive influence.

MR. STRIPLING: You have no knowledge yourself as to
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whether or not any of them are members of the Communist
Party?

MR. REAGAN: No, sir; I have no investigative force, or
anything, and I do not know.

MR. STRIPLING: Has it ever been reported to you that certain
members of the guild were Communists?

MR. REAGAN: Yes, sir; I have heard different discussions and
some of them tagged as Communists.

MR. STRIPLING: Have you ever heard that from any reliable
source?

MR. REAGAN: Well, I considered the source as reliable at the
time.%©

After Richard M. Nixon, his future opponent for the 1968
Republican Presidential nomination, said that he had no
questions, Reagan summed up his 1947 political position about
Communism and democracy:

I detest, I abhor their [the Communists’] philosophy, but I
detest more than that their tactics, which are those of the fifth
column, and are dishonest, but at the same time I never as a
citizen want to see our country become urged, by either fear or
resentment of this group, that we ever compromise with any of
our democratic principles through that fear or resentment. [
think democracy can do it.4!

Gordon Kahn noted that the committee acted with “Bour-
bon punctilio toward the two ‘friendly ladies’ whom it had
subpoenaed—Miss Ayn Rand and Mrs. Lela Rogers. Neither was
asked to tell her age.” 2

Mrs. Rogers told the committee on October 24 that she was
one of the original members of the Motion Picture Alliance for
the Preservation of American Ideals and that in her capacity as a
script reader for RKO Studios she was able to render assess-
ments of movie material and its value as Communist propa-
ganda. She proudly stated that None but the Lonely Heart,
starring Cary Grant and written and directed by Clifford Odets,
“lent itself to propaganda, particularly in the hands of a
Communist.” The person she made reference to was Odets,
whom she had heard was identified January 8, 1936, by
columnist O. O. McIntyre as a member of the Communist Party.
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She had never seen the charge denied. Mrs. Rogers was less
certain of how Odets got his Red propaganda into one of his
own pictures:

MR. McDOWELL: Mrs. Rogers, you have devoted many years
to the reading of manuscripts and the study of pictures in
general. You make the statement here that there was Com-
munist propaganda, as you detected it, in this film None But
the Lonely Heart. I haven’t heard any description of Com-
munist propaganda in these films yet except that a banker
was shown occasionally as being a no-good, and so forth.
Well, of course, I know many fine bankers, many patriotic
men. I also know some stinkers that should have been in jail
30 years ago. That doesn’t necessarily constitute the Com-
munist propaganda. What would you describe in this film as
being Communist propaganda?

MRS. ROGERS: In None But the Lonely Heart?

MR. McDOWELL: Yes.

MRS. ROGERS: I can’t quote the lines of the play exactly but
I can give you the sense of them. There is one place in
which—it is unfair, may I say, to take a scene from its
context and try to make it sound like Communist propa-
ganda, because a Communist is very careful, very clever, and
very devious in the way he sets the film. If [ were to give you
a line from that play straight out you would say ‘“What is
wrong with that line?"’ unless you knew that the Communist
is trying in every way to tear down our free-enterprise
system, to make the people lose faith in it, so that they will
want to get something else—and the Communists have it
waiting for them.

I will tell you of one line. The mother in the story runs a
second-hand store. The son says to her, “You are not going
to”’—in essence, I am not quoting this exactly because I can’t
remember it exactly—he said to her, “You are not going to
get me to work here and squeeze pennies from people poorer
than we are.”. .. Many people are poorer and many people
are richer.

As I say, you find yourself in an awful hole the moment
you start to remove one of the scenes from its context.

MR. McDOWELL: Well, unfortunately for an intelligent discus-
sion, I didn’t see the picture, so I am at a complete loss.43

Representative McDowell concluded the examination of Mrs.
Rogers by noting that she was not merely “a disturbed lady!
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who in the course of her activities in Hollywood has stumbled
across the fingers of this conspiracy against the American
Government, but that long ago she discovered it and that she
has become, in my opinion, one of the outstanding experts on
communism in the United States, and particularly in the
amusement industry.”**

On October 23, Gary Cooper, the committee’s friendly
superstar, testified there was a lot of Communist word-of-
mouth at social gatherings in Hollywood and he observed that
he had been diligent in ferreting out scripts ‘“tinged with
communistic ideas.”*

He was unable to elucidate on the precise titles of the scripts.
Chairman Thomas evidenced concern for the star’s memory
loss, but Cooper maintained that he usually read the material at
night and what he didn’t like he didn’t finish and by implication
did not remember.*®

Two documents in pamphlet form from the Communist
parties of Italy and Yugoslavia were introduced. The leaflets
placed Cooper in Philadelphia, where he purportedly made a
speech before 90,000 persons denigrating Rockefeller, Ford,
Rothschild, and Senator Bilbo. The CP literature also had
Cooper and actor Tyrone Power carrying the coffin of swim-
mer-actor Buster Crabbe, who had been machine-gunned on the
corner of Broadway and Seventh Avenue for his leftist leanings.

Cooper observed quite accurately that these documents were
untrue and that Mr. Crabbe was alive and healthy. e was not
quite sure of the validity of investigator H. A. Smith’s claim that
it would be hard ‘‘getting 90,000 people out in Philadelphia for
anything.”*’

Ayn Rand left her native USSR in 1926 during a period of
Soviet bureaucratic relaxation, and in more than two decades
that had elapsed since her emigration she had developed a
“gloveless hand of iron,” which she demonstrated to the
committee by her sociopolitical criticism of L. B. Mayer’s Song
of Russia.*®

On October 20, she assessed the MGM picture as a complete
and naive propaganda film about life in Russia prior to and
including World War II. She threaded the film’s storyline
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carefully through her own observations on what it was like to
live under totalitarian Communism. In her emotional and
lengthy 3,000-word statement, she made it amply clear to the
committee that Mayer’s film was a useless war effort device that
would have been far more useful to Soviet-American relations if
it had not been made.

Miss Rand observed with rigid objectivism:

I don’t believe that the morale of anybody can be built up by a
lie. If there was nothing good that we could truthfully say
about Russia, then it would have been better to say nothing at
all.

In closing questions of this testimony, Representative John
McDowell of Pennsylvania expressed a somewhat more relaxed
curiosity about Russia than was ordinarily displayed at these
hearings:

MR. McDOWELL: You paint a very dismal picture of Russia.
You made a great point about the number of children who
were unhappy. Doesn’t anybody smile in Russia any more?

MISS RAND: Well, if you ask me literally, pretty much no.

MR. McDOWELL: They don’t smile?

MISS RAND: Not quite that way; no. If they do, it is privately
and accidentally. Certainly, it is not social. They don’t smile
in approval of their system.

MR. McDOWELL: Well, all they do is talk about food.

MISS RAND: That is right.

MR. McDOWELL: That is a great change from the Russians I
have always known, and I have known a lot of them. Don’t
they do things at all like Americans? Don’t they walk across
town to visit their mother-in-law or somebody?

MISS RAND: Look, it is very hard to explain. It is almost
impossible to convey to a free people what it is like to live in
a totalitarian dictatorship. I can tell you a lot of details. I can
never completely convince you, because you are free. It is in
a way good that you can’t even conceive of what it is like.
Certainly they have friends and mothers-in-law. They try to
live a human life, but you understand it is totally inhuman.
Try to imagine what it is like if you are in constant terror
from morning till night and at night you are waiting for the
doorbell to ring, where you are afraid of anything and
everybody, living in a country where human life is nothing,
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less than nothing, and you know it. You don’t know who or
when is going to do what to you because you may have
friends who spy on you, where there is no law and any rights
of any kind.

MR. McDOWELL: You came here in 1926, I believe you said.
Did you escape from Russia?

MISS RAND: No.

MR. McDOWELL: Did you have a passport?

MISS RAND: No. Strangely enough, they gave me a passport to
come out here as a visitor.

MR. McDOWELL: As a visitor?

MISS RAND: It was at a time when they relaxed their orders a
little bit. Quite a few people got out. I had some relative here
and I was permitted to come here for a year. I never went
back.4®

During the first week of the hearings, the remaining twelve
friendly witnesses were H. A. Smith, A. B. Leckie, and Louis J.
Russell, committee investigators; Samuel (Sam) Grosvenor
Wood, producer; John (Jack) Charles Moffitt, writer and
motion picture critic; writers Morrie Ryskind, Fred Niblo, Jr.,
Richard Macaulay, and Rupert Hughes; James K. McGuinness,
MGM script supervisor; Howard Rushmore, an editor of the
New York Journal-American; Oliver Carlson, writer and teacher;
and Roy M. Brewer, representative of both the International
Alliance of Theatrical Stage Employees (IATSE) and Motion
Picture Machine Operators of the United States (MMO).

They variously described and reported incidents and names
they felt were significant to the committee in its search for
Communist encroachment in the motion picture industry.

The first five days of testimony were completed and, *“With
only one week of a promised three-week hearing concluded, the
House Committee on Un-American Activities stood ready to
take the testimony of those individuals who had, from the very
beginning, declared themselves to be the sworn enemies of
everything the House Committee stood for.”5°

The unfriendly witnesses were next.

October 27, 1947, marked the beginning of the second week
of the hearings. Since then the terms “Unfriendly Ten” and
“Hollywood Ten” have become quite well known in Holly-
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wood, but there were in fact eighteen persons who had publicly
stated in advance of the hearings that they would refuse to
answer certain questions. They were Alvah Bessie, Herbert
Joseph Biberman, Lester Cole, Richard Collins, Edward
Dmytryk, Gordon Kahn, Howard Koch, Ring W. Lardner, Jr.,
John Howard Lawson, Albert Maltz, Lewis Milestone, Samuel
Ornitz, Larry Parks, Irving Pichel, Robert Rossen, Waldo Salt,
(Robert) Adrian Scott, and Dalton Trumbo.>!

This study will concentrate on the testimony of the ten who
appeared, were recalcitrant, and subsequently went to jail for
contempt of Congress.

Robert W. Kenny, the attorney for the Unfriendly Eighteen,
requested permission to argue a motion to quash their subpoe-
nas, but Chairman Thomas, after fifteen minutes in executive
session, denied the request.*?

The opening testimony of the second week, October 27, was
from writer John Howard Lawson, who was somewhat surprised
when he heard himself called first, since he had been named
third in the order of witnesses cited to appear.’® Lawson |
requested the right to make an opening statement. It was
denied. Lawson indicated that the committee had allowed
Warner, Mayer, and others to make opening statements, to
which Thomas replied, in reference to Lawson’s document,
“That statement is not pertinent to this inquiry.”>*

When Stripling asked him if he was a member of the Screen
Writers Guild, Lawson replied that the raising of any question in
regard to his membership, political beliefs, or affiliations was
beyond the powers of the committee. However, he did indicate
that his membership in the guild was a matter of public
record.’®

After extracting a list of Lawson’s film credits, Stripling went
directly to the big question that was to be the nemesis for
committee witnesses for more than a decade to come. “Mr.
Lawson, are you now, or have you ever been a member of the
Communist Party of the United States?”’®®

Lawson’s reply was emotional and adamant:

MR. LAWSON: In framing my answer to that question I must
emphasize the points that I have raised before. The question
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of communism is in no way related to this inquiry, which is
an attempt to get control of the screen and to invade the
basic rights of American citizens in all fields.

MR. McDOWELL: Now, I must object—

MR. STRIPLING: Mr. Chairman—

(The chairman pounding gavel)

MR. LAWSON: The question here relates not only to the
question of my membership in any political organization,
but this committee is attempting to establish the right—

(The chairman pounding the gavel)

MR. LAWSON (continuing): Which has been historically denied
to any committee of this sort, to invade the rights and
privileges and immunity of American citizens, whether they
be Protestant, Methodist, Jewish, or Catholic, whether they
be Republicans or Democrats or anything else.

THE CHAIRMAN (pounding gavel): Mr. Lawson, just quiet
down again,

Mr. Lawson, the most pertinent question that we can ask
is whether or not you have been a member of the Commu-
nist Party. Now, do you care to answer that question?

MR. LAWSON: You are using the old technique, which was
used in Hitler Germany in order to create a scare here—

THE CHAIRMAN (pounding gavel): Oh—

MR. LAWSON: In order to create an entirely false atmosphere
in which this hearing is conducted—

(The Chairman pounding gavel)

MR. LAWSON: In order that you can then smear the motion-
picture industry, and you can proceed to the press, to any
form of communication in this country.

THE CHAIRMAN: You have learned—

MR. LAWSON: The Bill of Rights was established precisely to
prevent the operation of any committee which could invade
the basic rights of Americans.

Now, if you want to know—

MR. STRIPLING: Mr. Chairman, the witness is not answering
the question.

MR. LAWSON: If you want to know—

(The chairman pounding gavel)

MR. LAWSON: About the perjury that has been committed
here and the perjury that is planned.

THE CHAIRMAN: Mr. Lawson—

MR. LAWSON: You permit me and my attorneys to bring in
here the witnesses that testified last week and you permit us
to cross-examine these witnesses, and we will show up the
whole tissue of lie—
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THE CHAIRMAN (pounding gavel): We are going tc get the '

answer to that question if we have to stay here for a week.
Are you a member of the Communist Party, or have you
ever been a member of the Communist Party?

MR. LAWSON: It is unfortunate and tragic that I have to teach
this committee the basic principles of American—

THE CHAIRMAN (pounding gavel): That is not the question.
That is not the question. The question is: Have you ever
been a member of the Communist Party?

MR. LAWSON: I am framing my answer in the only way in
which any American citizen can frame his answer to a
question which absolutely invades his rights.

THE CHAIRMAN: Then you refuse to answer that question; is
that correct?

MR. LAWSON: I have told you that I will offer my beliefs,
affiliations, and everything else to the American public, and
they will know where [ stand.

THE CHAIRMAN (pounding gavel): Excuse the witness—

MR. LAWSON: As they do from what I have written.

THE CHAIRMAN (pounding gavel): Stand away from the
stand—

MR. LAWSON: I have written Americanism for many years,
and I shall continue to fight for the Bill of Rights, which you
are trying to destroy.

THE CHAIRMAN: Officers, take this man away from the
stand—

(applause and boos)

THE CHAIRMAN (pounding gavel): There will be no demon-
strations. No demonstrations, for or against. Everyone will
please be seated.57

He was removed from the stand by guards.
Stripling then received permission for a nine-page memoran-
dum to be read into the hearings detailing Lawson’s alleged
affiliations with the Communist Party, charges that Lawson was
given no opportunity to refute.
If the committee found Lawson a somewhat truculent wit-
ness, it found in writer Dalton Trumbo a “veritable ring-tailed
tiger.”” 58
His opening statement was turned down by the committee
and after the panel made five attempts to find out whether the
writer was a member of the Screen Writers Guild, Trumbo
asserted the question had a specific design. It was, according to
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the writer, “to identify me with the Screen Writers Guild;
secondly, to seek to identify me with the Communist Party and
thereby destroy that guild. . . .”%°

Next came the big question regarding Communist Party
membership:

THE CHAIRMAN: Are you or have you ever been a member of
the Communist Party?

MR. TRUMBO: I believe I have the right to be confronted with
any evidence which supports this question. I should like to
see what you have.

THE CHAIRMAN: Oh, Well, you would!

MR. TRUMBO: Yes.

THE CHAIRMAN: Well, you will, pretty soon.

(Laughter and applause)

THE CHAIRMAN (pounding gavel): The witness is excused.
Impossible.

MR. TRUMBO: This is the beginning—

THE CHAIRMAN (pounding gavel): Just a minute—

MR. TRUMBO: Of an American concentration camp.

THE CHAIRMAN: This is typical Communist tactics. This is
typical Communist tactics.

(Applause).60

Committee investigator Louis Russell then read into the
record nine pages of Trumbo’s alleged Communist Party affiliat-
ions. Like Lawson, Trumbo was not there to refute them.

The policy of not allowing unfriendly witnesses to make an
opening statement was abruptly and for no apparent reason
reversed when writer Albert Maltz took the stand on the
afternoon of October 28. The following is the entirety of
Maltz’s prepared statement and part of the subsequent exchange
with the committee that sent him to prison on contempt
charges:

I am an American and I believe there is no more proud word in
the vocabulary of man. I am a novelist and a screen writer and I
have produced a certain body of work in the past 15 years. As
with any writer, what [ have written has come from the total
fabric of my life—my birth in this land, our schools and games,
our atmosphere of freedom, our tradition of inquiry, criticism,
discussion, tolerance. Whatever I am, America has made me.
And I, in turn, possess no loyalty as great as the one I have to
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this land, to the economic and social welfare of its people, to
the perpetuation and development of its democratic way of
life.

Now at the age of 39, I am commanded to appear before the
House Committee on Un-American Activities. For a full week
this committee has encouraged an assortment of well-rehearsed
witnesses to testify that I and others are subversive and
un-American. It has refused us the opportunity that any
pickpocket receives in a magistrate’s court—the right to cross-
examine these witnesses, to refute their testimony, to reveal
their motives, their history, and who, exactly, they are. Fur-
thermore it grants these witnesses congressional immunity so
that we may not sue them for libel for their slanders.

I maintain that this is an evil and vicious procedure; that it is
legally unjust and morally indecent—and that it places in danger
every other American, since if the rights of any one citizen can
be invaded, then the constitutional guaranties of every other
American have been subverted and no one is any longer
protected from official tyranny.

What is it about me that this committee wishes to destroy?
My writings? Very well, let us refer to them.

My novel, The Cross and the Arrow, was issued in a special
edition of 140,000 copies by a wartime Government agency,
the armed services edition, for American servicemen abroad.

My short stories have been reprinted in over 30 anthologies,
by as many American publishers—all subversive, no doubt.

My film, The Pride of the Marines, was premiered in 28 cities
at Guadalcanal Day banquets under the auspices of the United
States Marine Corps.

Another film, Destination Tokyo, was premiered aboard a
United States submarine and was adopted by the Navy as an
official training film.

My short film, The House I Live In, was given a special award
by the Academy of Motion Picture Arts and Sciences for its
contribution to racial tolerance.

My short story, The Happiest Man on Earth, won the 1938
O. Henry Memorial Award for the best American short story.

This, then, is the body of work for which this committee
urges I be blacklisted in the film industry—and tomorrow, if it
has its way in the publishing and magazine fields also.

By cold censorship, if not legislation, I must not be allowed
to write. Will this censorship stop with me? Or with the others
now singled out for attack? If it requires acceptance of the
ideas of this committee to remain immune from the brand of
un-Americanism, then who is ultimately safe from this com-
mittee except members of the Ku Klux Klan?

97
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Why else does this committee now seek to destroy me and
others? Because of our ideas, unquestionably. In 1801, when he
was President of the United States, Thomas Jefferson wrote:

Opinion, and the just maintenance of it, shall never be a
crime in my view: nor bring injury to the individual.

But a few years ago, in the course of one of the hearings of
this committee, Congressman J. Parnell Thomas said, and I
quote from the official transcript:

I just want to say this now, it seems that the New Deal is
working along hand in glove with the Communist Party.
The New Deal is either for the Communist Party or it is
playing into the hands of the Communist Party.

Very well, then, here is the other reason why I and others
have been commanded to appear before this committee—our
ideas. In common with many Americans, I supported the New
Deal. In common with many Americans I supported, against
Mr. Thomas and Mr. Rankin, the antilynching bill. I opposed
them in my support of OPA controls and emergency veteran
housing and a fair employment practices law. I signed petitions
for these measures, joined organizations that advocated them,
contributed money, sometimes spoke from public platforms,
and I will continue to do so. I will take my philosophy from
Thomas Payne, Thomas Jefferson, Abraham Lincoln, and I will
not be dictated to or intimidated by men to whom the Ku Klux
Klan, as a matter of committee record, is an acceptable
American institution,

I state further that on many questions of public interest my
opinions as a citizen have not always been in accord with the
opinions of the majority. They are not now nor have my
opinions ever been fixed and unchanging, nor are they now
fixed and unchangeable; but, right or wrong, [ claim and I insist
upon my right to think freely and to speak freely; to join the
Republican Party or the Communist Party, the Democratic or
the Prohibition Party; to publish whatever I please; to fix my
mind or change my mind, without dictation from anyone; to
offer any criticism 1 think fitting of any public official or
policy; to join whatever organizations I please, no matter what
certain legislators may think of them. Above all, I challenge the
right of this committee to inquire into my political or religious
beliefs, in any manner or degree, and I assert that not only the
conduct of this committee but its very existence are a subver-
sion of the Bill of Rights.
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If 1 were a spokesman for General Franco, I would not be
here today. I would rather be here. I would rather die than be a
shabby American, groveling before men whose names are
Thomas and Rankin, but who now carry out activities in
America like those carried out in Germany by Goebbels and
Himmler.

The American people are going to have to choose between
the Bill of Rights and the Thomas committee. They cannot
have both. One or the other must be abolished in the immedi-
ate future,

THE CHAIRMAN: Mr. Stripling (pounding gavel).

MR. STRIPLING: Mr. Maltz, what is your occupation?

MR. MALTZ. I am a writer,

MR. STRIPLING: Are you employed in the motion-picture
industry?

MR. MALTZ: 1 work in various fields of writing and 1 have
sometimes accepted employment in the motion-picture
industry.

MR. STRIPLING: Have you written scripts for a number of
pictures?

MR. MALTZ: It is a matter of public record that 1 have written
scripts for certain motion pictures.

MR. STRIPLING: Are you a member of the Screen Writers
Guild?

MR. MALTZ: Next you are going to ask me what religious
group I belong to.

THE CHAIRMAN: No, no; we are not.

MR. MALTZ: And any such question as that—

THE CHAIRMAN: I know,

MR. MALTZ: Is an obvious attempt to invade my rights under
the Constitution,

MR. STRIPLING: Do you object to answering whether or not
you are a member of the Screen Writers Guild?

MR. MALTZ: 1 have not objected to answer that question. On
the contrary, I point out that next you are going to ask me
whether or not 1 am a member of a certain religious group
and suggest that I be blacklisted from an industry because 1
am a member of a group you don’'t like.

(The chairman pounds gavel)

MR, STRIPLING: Mr. Maltz, do you decline to answer the
question?

MR. MALTZ: I certainly do not decline to answer the question.
I have answered the question.

MR. STRIPLING: I repeat, are you a member of the Screen
Writers Guild?

MR. MALTZ: And | repeat my answer, sir, that any such
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question is an obvious attempt to invade my list of organiza-
tions as an American citizen and I would be a shabby
American if I didn’t answer as I have.

MR. STRIPLING: Mr. Maltz, are you a member of the
Communist Party?

MR. MALTZ: Next you are going to ask what my religious
beliefs are.

MR. McDOWELL: That is not answering the question.

MR, MALTZ: And you are going to insist before various
members of the industry that since you do not like my
religious beliefs I should not work in such industry. Any
such question is quite irrelevant.61

When Stripling repeated the question about Communist Party
affiliation, Maltz deliberately replied, *‘I have answered the
question, Mr. Quisling. I am sorry. I want you to know—""62

Representative McDowell immediately objected to the com-
parison by innuendo of the committee’s chief investigator with
the World War II Norwegian traitor. Chairman Thomas excused
the witness, saying that his testimony was ‘“‘typical Communist
line.” Maltz retorted before he left the stand, “Let’s get on with
the rigged record.”®3

The peppery writer’s dossier was subsequently read into the
record by Russell, again with no opportunity for refutation
accorded the witness.

Later that day, Thomas and writer Alvah Bessie reached a
compromise on the writer’s opening statement. The chairman
wanted only the two opening paragraphs read. Bessie opted for
the last two also—and won. As with Maltz, the entire statement
of the fourth writer was placed in the record. Lawson and
Trumbo had not been afforded the same courtesy.

Stripling moved immediately to the two key questions, the
second of which he was now calling the $64 question.®*

In reply to the chief investigator’s question about Communist
Party affiliation, Bessie rejoined that General Eisenhower had
refused to reveal his political affiliations and what was good
enough for the general was good enough for him.®3

After Thomas derisively excused Bessie to go out and ‘“‘make
a speech under a big tree,” the chairman commented to large
applause on the Eisenhower remark:



1947 Motion Picture Investigation 101

It is my belief that if General Eisenhower were a witness before
this committee and he was asked the question, ‘“Are you a
member of the Communist Party?’”’ he would not only be very
responsive to the question, but would be absolutely insulted,
and solely for this reason: A great man like General Eisenhower
would not ever think or dream or stoop to ever being a

low-down Communist.8€

The now established procedure of Russell’s reading of the
witness’s dossier into the record with no possibility of argument
was followed with Bessie.

Writer Samuel Ornitz was the fifth of the Unfriendly Ten
called to testify. In a reversal of the position taken on Maltz and
Bessie, Thomas declined to allow Ornitz to read his opening
statement on October 29, calling it *“just another case of
vilification.”®”’

In reply to the first question, concerning Ornitz’s member-
ship in the Screen Writers Guild, the fifth witness indicated that
to answer properly would not be a simple matter because it
involved his conscience versus constitutional rights. The writer
stated, “I say you do raise a serious question of conscience for
me when you ask me to act in concert with you to override the
Constitution,”’®®

After responding negatively to the $64 question by insisting
he had a right to belong to any party he saw fit to join, Ornitz
was removed from the witness stand.

His unchallenged list of alleged Communist affiliations was
read into the record while Ierbert Joseph Biberman prepared
for his moment before the tribunal on that same October
morning.

Biberman’s opening statement was rejected, but the film and
theater producer-writer-director answered Stripling’s question
about when and where he was born with patriotic pride and
splendid specificity: “I was born within a stone’s throw of
Independence Hall in Philadelphia, on the day when Mr.
McKinley was inaugurated as President of the United States,
March 4, 1900, on the second floor of a building at Sixth and
South, over a grocery store.””®?

Stripling was most complimentary to Biberman for his
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answer. The investigator hoped that statement would be a
forerunner of similar detailed responses from the witness. He
was wrong on both the accuracy of the answer and the
subsequent responses to the two key questions. McKinley was
inaugurated March 4, 1901, not 1900, and Biberman was no
more inclined than hls predecessors to reveal his membership in
either the Screen Writers Guild or the Communist Party.

After a heated exchange he did, however, apologize to the
committee, an apology that the preceding unfriendly witnesses
had not felt compelled to make.

“Mr. Stripling, I apologize for one thing and that is raising
my voice. I had no intention of doing so.””°

The chairman had had enough of Biberman, and as he
pounded his gavel there was laughter, the witness was excused,
and his dossier of alleged Communist affiliations was read into
the hearing record.

Gordon Kahn, who attended the hearings and was one of the
eighteen unfriendly witnesses originally subpoenaed, believed
Edward Dmytryk and Adrian Scott were summoned to testify
because they had respectively directed and produced a film
attacking anti-Semitism, Crossfire.”! His evidence for this ob-
servation was that Stripling inadvertently addressed Scott as
Dmytryk.

Director Dmytryk was the first witness at the afternoon
session on October 29. Ile stated that he was born in Canada
and nationalized as an American citizen in 1939. His opening
statement was disallowed.

He was asked whether he was a member of the Screen
Directors Guild, as the preceding witnesses had been asked if
they were members of the Screen Writers Guild. Dmytryk told
Stripling that it would take much less than five minutes to
answer the question about his membership. He added that
should he be allowed sufficient time to answer in his own way,
he hoped in so doing he would not bore the chairman.” 2

When questioned about his membership in the Communist
Party, the director, in concert with his predecessors, claimed
constitutional immunity. The witness was excused, and the
proficient committee investigator Louis Russell read into the
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record the attestations against Dmytryk. Once again the charges
would remain unanswered by the defendant.

Scott, the other half of the Crossfire team, followed
Dmytryk and told the chair that his opening statement had to
do with that film and anti-Semitism. Chairman Thomas, after
reading the statement, ruled against its admission to the record.
Said Thomas, “This may not be the worst statement we have
received, but it is almost the worst.””3

The two key questions were then asked the producer, to
which he replied, I believe it is a question which invades my
rights as a citizen. I do not believe it is proper for this
committee to inquire into my personal relationships, my private
relationships, my public relationships.”” 4

Thomas and Scott sparred briefly on whether the committee
had the right to inquire into what a person thought. Thomas
held that was not the purpose of either key question; Scott
retorted that he believed he had answered satisfactorily. The
chairman stated that from what Scott had said it was not clear
to him whether or not he was a member of the Communist
Party. Thomas said, “I must be terribly dumb, but from your
answer | can’t tell whether you are a member or not.” In a
splendid display of benevolence, Scott disagreed: ‘ I don’t think
you are.””?

The producer was excused and cited for contempt prior to
Russell’s reading of the assertions against him.

Writer Ring W. Lardner, Jr., best-known name of the un-
friendly witnesses at the time of the hearings, struck a bargain
on October 30 with the chairman on his opening statement. He
would be allowed to read it at the conclusion of his testi-
mony.” ®

After Lardner refused to answer yes or no to the two key
questions, J. Parnell Thomas stated that if the writer maintained
that position his statement would not be read. He did—and it
wasn’t.

When the irate chairman repeated the Communist Party
membership interrogatory the fourth time, the witness replied
ironically, “It depends on the circumstances. I could answer it,
but if I did I would hate myself in the morning.””” This
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allusion he later explained to the New York Herald Tribune: “‘I
have always associated the words I’ll hate myself in the morning
with a situation in which a previously chaste woman is suc-
cumbing to the indecent blandishment of a scoundrel and very
likely launching herself on the road to prostitution. That is the
analogy I wished to suggest.”” 8

Apparently the analogy needed no explanation. Thomas
demanded that the sergeant at arms forcibly remove the writer
from the hearing room. There was applause when Lardner was
led out of the chamber. The record does not state whether it
was for or against the writer.

Stripling’s assistant, Russell, submitted the unrefuted reading
of the allegations against Lardner.

Whether Chairman Thomas was aware that October 30, 1947,
would be the last day of the hearings in the capital is not
certain. “But that morning he breakfasted well in his suite at
the Mayflower Hotel and arrived at the hearing room looking
like a man with a delicious secret. His mood was affable and
expansive, in a pink sort of way.””®

The last of the Unfriendly Ten who eventually went to jail
for contempt of Congress was writer Lester Cole.

His opening statement on October 30 was declined by the
chairman, who called it *‘clearly another case of vilification and
not pertinent at all to the inquiry.””8°

Cole likewise refused to answer the two main questions, his
membership in the Writers Guild and in the Communist Party.
He was excused, his alleged record of Communist affiliation was
recorded by Russell, and the hearing room was then ready to
hear the only non-American witness to come before the com-
mittee, playwright and poet Bertolt Brecht. The German writer,
accompanied by a committee-chosen interpreter, explained that
he was not a citizen of the United States but had filed his first
papers toward the end of 1941.81!

Brecht’s testimony revealed that he left Germany in 1933
when Hitler took power. From Germany he went to Denmark,
then to Sweden, and finally to Finland to await his visa for the
United States. His connection with Hollywood was through the
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sale of his story Hangmen Also Die to an independent pro-
ducer.®?

He was not a member of the Screen Writers Guild, so the
committee was able to move on immediately to the big
question. For once the members apparently were surprised by
the answer. Brecht replied:

Mr. Chairman, I have heard my colleagues when they con-
sidered this question not as proper, but I am a guest in this
country and do not want to enter into any legal arguments, so |
will answer your question fully as well as I can. I was not a
member or am not a member of any Communist Party.83

Later, the observation was made that Brecht was a Commu-
nist, albeit not a card-carrying member, at least “‘in his total life
commitment,” as his biographer Martin Esslin informs us.®*

Three additional witnesses who also require brief scrutiny
appeared during the second week of the inquiry. They were Eric
Allen Johnston, president of the Motion Picture Association of
America (MPAA); Emmet G. Lavery, playwright, screenwriter,
and member of the bar of New York State; and Dore Schary,
then executive in charge of production at RKO.

The three were not unfriendly to the point of being cited for
contempt, but they did evidence disapproval of the tactics of
the committee.

The pertinence of Johnston’s opening statement on October
27 was deemed in order and he proceeded to read a zigzagging
combination of kudos for the committee and brickbats against
its arbitrary methods, a style he also used in his subsequent
testimony. His most cogent comment centered on his convic-
tion that it was necessary to expose Communism, but “don’t
put any American who isn’t a Communist in a concentration
camp of suspicion. We are not willing to give up our freedoms
to save our freedoms.”®>

Before the end of the year the president of the MPAA was to
enter into an agreement with the producers to do exactly what
he had admonished against in his opening remarks at the
October hearings.
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Lavery, then president of the Screen Writers Guild, remarked
to Stripling on October 29 that he was “delighted and proud”
to answer the question about his membership in the guild. He
added that he felt it was something that each witness should
decide for himself. '

Lavery was granted permission to make several brief motions,
due undoubtedly to the fact that his opening answers were what
the committee wanted to hear.

The writer requested Jack Warner be recalled to testify so
that the committee could examine him about his claim that he
had fired Lavery. The request was turned down. Lavery denied
he had been fired by Warner, an assertion made by the
production chief in the previous week’s testimony.

Next he requested permission to correct statements made by
writers John C. (Jack) Moffitt, Morrie Ryskind, and Rupert
Hughes. Lavery denied allusions the trio made about his
Communist Party affiliations when they testified.8®

He also denied any knowledge of Lawson’s or Trumbo’s
Communist Party memberships. He added that he had sued
Billy Wilkerson, publisher of the Hollywood Reporter, for
similar unsubstantiated allegations about himself. The publisher
subsequently printed a two-page retraction at his own expense,
stated Lavery.®”

Lavery then noted that he had sued Lela Rogers for libel and
slander and the $1,000,000 suit was currently pending in the
superior court of California.®®

The chair refused to permit the writer-attorney to read his
statement, and the balance of his testimony failed to bring forth
any new names of suspected show business Communists.

Producer Dore Schary admitted knowing suspected Commu-
nist Hans Eisler but said he was not responsible for employing
the composer and musician. The executive told the committee
on October 29 that until such time as a man was proved to be a
Communist he would continue to hire him. If the suspect was
verified as a person dedicated to the overthrow of the govern-
ment by force, Schary would not have hired him.8?°

Stripling pursued the questions relating to Eisler. He wanted
to know' if Schary would hire him based on what he had read
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about his pro-Soviet activities in the newspapers. Schary replied
that he was not capable of answering the question for two
reasons. First, he did not know Eisler’s qualifications as a
musician and, second, the United States Supreme Court had
ruled that an employer could not arbitrarily refuse a man work
because of his political convictions.

The chairman asked: *. .. assuming that Ilans Eisler is a great
artist; assuming also that he is a Communist, you would not
hesitate to rehire him?” Schary retorted, ““I would not hesitate
to rehire him if it was not proven that he was a foreign agent. |
would still maintain his right to think politically as he
chooses.””®° In subsequent testimony that day he recanted and
declared if all Stripling said about the composer was true he
would not hire Eisler.

Schary stated that although he was not responsible for hiring
Dmytryk and Scott, he would continue to employ them at
RKO until they were proved to be foreign agents. He added that
Brecht, to his knowledge, was never employed by RKO.

Stripling wanted to know if the executive was aware that his
company was producing a film written by Howard Fast and that
the writer was a publicly avowed Communist. Schary replied
that these circumstances had occurred before he came to the
studio and after reviewing the Fast script, he found it *‘a very
charming story, not political whatsoever.”

The chairman terminated the inquiry by reminding the
witness of Rip Van Winkle, an allusion to an analogy he made
earlier about the committee’s efforts to awaken America from
its long sleep in disregarding the facts of internal and external
Communist aggression and expansion. The remarks of the
chairman drew laughter from the crowded chamber.??

The general conclusions drawn from the total testimony are
worth noting.

Chairman Thomas never produced the list of pro-Communist
films he promised. The films that were mentioned by the
friends of the committee were nothing for the American public
to be concerned about. Though denying it, the committee did
make a sustained effort to persuade Hollywood to make
anti-Communist pictures. The dossiers of the ten unfriendly




108 Only Victims

witnesses did authenticate that there were Coinmunists in
Hollywood. A total of thirty-five individuals were named as

\/Communist Party members during the hearings. Eleven had the
opportunity to reply. Lavery was not a Communist and said so.
Brecht probably was but denied it.

The committee accepted much testimony at face value with
no opportunity for many of those named as Communists to
reply. The Screen Writers Guild was damaged by the hearings.
The press forced the hearings to end prematurely. The entire
proceedings were conducted in a circuslike atmosphere. The
committee was arbitrary in allowing witnesses to read prepared
statements, usually determined by whether they were in sympa-
thy with the investigation.

Many harmless associations in the dossiers were presented as
“proof of subversion,” although there were “valid bits of
information about the Hollywood Ten which did tend to prove
their membership in the Communist Party.””?2 Walter Goodman
asserts that all the “Ten” were members of the CP.?3 The
copies of the party membership cards were never shown to the
press or ‘‘anyone else.”

Finally, the contention that those identified as being affil-
iated with the Communist Party were capable of subverting the
American moviegoer by injecting pro-Soviet propaganda into
their work was never proved by the Committee.?® On the
contrary, the leaders of the film industry unanimously testified
that no Communist propaganda had been able to get through
them.

How the American theater was affected by these hearings is
perhaps more in the province of the psychologist than the
historian. The fact that a Congressional body was allowed to be
the catalyst that sent men to jail for contempt because they
refused to reveal private and political associations undoubtedly
gave those artists that were later subpoenaed much room for
soul-searching. These witnesses and their decisions on handling
the committee’s Communist Party membership question will be
discussed in the following chapter.

\ Nine of the ten men who went to jail for periods of six
months to one year were blacklisted when they were released.
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They were unable to work in the Hollywood studios under their
own names and were forced to earn their postprison livings in
circuitous ways. The tenth man, director Dmytryk, became a
friendly witness when he was released; he resumed his career
almost immediately.®>

After prison, only a few of the nine wrote for the theater.

Ornitz died in 1957 after completing one unsuccessful novel.

Scott worked in England as executive assistant to the head of
production at MGM’s Boreham Wood Studio until August,
1968, when he returned to Hollywood as a producer at
Universal Studios. Lawson, the only prominent playwright
before the 1947 investigation, after serving his time, wrote a
play, Thunder Morning, which delineated black ghetto life. It
was never produced. He wrote a historical study while in prison,

The Hidden Heritage.
In the fifties, Cole wrote two plays, both of which were

produced in Europe only. In 1961, he wrote two more plays,
one of which was produced in England and the other in Prague.
In 1962, Lardner collaborated with Ian Hunter on the Bert Lahr
musical Foxy, which found its way to Broadway two years
later. Maltz, while living in Mexico, wrote a play under a
pseudonym; Biberman and Bessie wrote nothing for the theater.
Biberman died in 1971. Dalton Trumbo, now by far the most
successful film writer of the ten, wrote a play, The Biggest Thief
in Town, which played briefly in New York and then opened in
London, where it ran two years.?®

What the ten did not or could not write, produce, or direct
for the theater following their release from prison is a matter
for speculation. The fact that their latitude for creation was
significantly diminished by the committee’s 1947 investigation
is not open to argument.

Evaluation of the Hearings

Failure to affirm or deny advocacy of the most widely held
political doctrine in the world—Communism—sent ten creative
artists to jail. The republic that recognized the right of men to
belong to the legal Communist Party, U.S.A,, incarcerated them
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for using the founding fathers’ First Amendment mandate
protecting the privacy of political beliefs.

Reaffirmation of that right to privacy occurred in this
century and Ring Lardner, Jr., believed he and the remainder of
the ten based part of their decision to defy the committee on
the 1943 Supreme Court decision which read: “If there is any
fixed star in our constitutional constellation, it is that no
official, high or petty, can prescribe what shall be orthodox in
politics, nationalism, religion or other matters of opinion, or
force citizens to confess by word or act their faith therein.”®”

The legality of the contempt of Congress charges and the
ultimate jail sentences of the Hollywood Ten is a subject of
debate for juridical scholars and therefore outside the scope of
this study. The use of prehearing publicity by the committee
and the method of its investigation which created the contempt
charges are well within this researcher’s discipline and are
briefly summarized here.

In 1938, it was Martin Dies and J. Parnell Thomas who
shared the prehearing public accusations about Communism in
the entertainment world. In 1945, similar charges were leveled
by Representative John Rankin of Mississippi, a virulent anti-
Semite who opposed the creation of the committee until he was
certain it would not be chaired by Samuel Dickstein.?8

With an inexplicable lack of prudent impartiality, Rankin
declared he had information that “one of the most dangerous
plots ever instigated for the overthrow of this government has
its headquarters in Hollywood.” He pursued his melodramatic
harangue: “The information we get is that this is the greatest
hot bed of subversive activities in the United States. We’re on
the trail of the tarantula now, and we’re going to follow
through. The best people in California are helping us.””®?

The committee’s policy of accuse, expose, and thereby indict
in the eyes of much of the public was even more unjustified and
incredible in the hands of the Mississippian than it had been
with Dies or Thomas.

Either Rankin decided at the time of the October investiga-
tion that the Iollywood Commie crisis had passed or Thomas
refused to appoint the flamboyant Southerner to the subcom-
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mittee because of the possibility that his presence might take
the spotlight away from the chairman.'®°

After his strident exhortations, it is a strange anticlimax that
Rankin was not permitted to appear as a member of the
subcommittee in Washington,

Rankin attended none of the hearings.

In addition to the debatable propriety of the preinvestigation
publicity, the press coverage attendant to the hearings was, as
Robert K. Carr suggests in his assessment of six diverse news-
papers, arguable on grounds of confusion and distortion of what
actually took place.’©!

After a careful examination of original clippings from the six
Los Angeles and Hollywood daily newspapers of October, 1947,
Carr’s observations in the following areas appear substantially
accurate,!°2 The reporting job, although given prominent
attention and space, was only average. The photographic cover-
age was more than adequate. The committee’s charge that there
were Communists in Hollywood was well covered by the press.
The failure of the committee to prove its allegations that films
contained specific propaganda and that the Roosevelt admin-
istration had pressured Hollywood to make pro-Soviet films was
largely ignored by the Los Angeles press. The specific import
and content of the Communist dossiers of the Hollywood Ten,
even if only partially true, appeared nowhere save the hearing
record. The Communist Party registration cards of the ten cited
by the committee received scant attention.

The volatile and supercilious style of testifying employed by
the ten, a manner that is apparent in reading the transcript of
the proceedings, was also largely overlooked by the fourth
estate of Hollywood and its environs.

Chairman Thomas even used the pulp-fiction device of
announcing a mystery witness who would produce ‘“sensa-
tional” evidence supposedly pertaining to the hearings.!®® The
awesome testament finally came from the committee’s omni-
present investigator Louis Russell, who discussed wartime
atomic espionage that took place in Berkeley, California—not
Hollywood Communism. ,

The methods and procedures utilized by the committee were,
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as previously described in the 1938 hearings, equally dubious in
1947.

The friendly witnesses were allowed to read lengthy opening
statements, while only two of the unfriendly ten were granted a
forum for their opinions. Albert Maltz read all of his prepared
remarks; Samuel Ornitz managed to interject a portion of his
text.

Eight of the Hollywood Ten were writers. The committee
could easily have proved they conspired to advocate the
overthrow of the government by force and violence by produc-
ing words written by them to that effect. The Congressmen did
not, because undoubtedly no such writings exist. Charges made
by Jack Warner regarding the subversion of Broadway theater
by Arthur Miller and Elia Kazan were, as hundreds of other
allegations, left unchallenged by the committee.

The spring, 1947, preview testimony of the friendly witnesses
in Hollywood was only alluded to in the October hearings; it
was never publicly released in its entirety. Jack Warner and
Robert Taylor denied in October specific charges they had
made earlier in the year.

Although it is doubtful that the committee could have
elicited any direct or meaningful answers from the Hollywood
Ten, it should have tried. To broach the $64 question so early
in each man’s interrogation eliminated any possibility of signifi-
cant disclosures of Red activities in Hollywood.

The record clearly indicates that the inquisitors were prim-
arily interested in forcing the unfriendly witnesses into con-
tempt charges rather than investigating Communism in the
American cinema.

Subsequent investigations in the 1950’s would reveal that
high-paid Hollywood artists contributed heavily to the CP
causes; this would have been a proper field of inquiry in 1947.
It was not touched upon.

Chairman Thomas’ revelation that he had the names of
seventy-nine prominent Hollywood Communists in his files,
sixty-nine of whom presumably remained at large as Hollywood
subversives, seemed to bother very few patriots.!°* Resump-
tion of a full-scale investigation of show business Reds did mot
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occur until almost four years after the abrupt conclusion of the
1947 probe.

There can be little argument that the American people did
have the right to know if Communist writers, producers, and
directors were working in a communications medium of such
significant impact as the movies.

Totalitarianism, the greatest revolutionary force of the twen-
tieth century, has found its dual deputies, Fascism and Commu-
nism, to be most effective in societies which deny the public
knowledge of diasgreement within their authoritarian regimes.

The activities of the suspected subversives should have been
the proper thrust of the committee’s investigation. The simplis-
tic exposure of people as American Communists contributed
negligibly to our purported national death struggle with the
Kremlin.

Considering the enormous attention given the 1947 Holly-
wood hearings, it is inexcusable that the committee filed only a
one-sentence summary of its findings in a review of the events
of 1947-48. It stated: ‘“‘While the committee could not within
the limits of its time and resources examine every single phase
of Communist activity in the industry, the outlines and the
pattern of such activity was clearly disclosed.” ®®

The later annual reports, detailing findings of the com-
mittee’s 1950’s investigations, were specific about affiliations,
activities, and goals of Communists and Communism in the
entertainment world.

When it appeared their livelihoods might be endangered, Eric
Johnston and Dore Schary shared honors for reversing their
antipathy toward the committee’s work.

After much solemnizing during the October, 1947, hearings
about never conspiring to deprive a man of work because of his
private political convictions, both men did precisely that before
the end of the year.

The moral dilemma, to say nothing of the practical expedi-
ency, of how to answer the committee’s questions without
informing on one’s friends and yet avoid the blacklist faced
hundreds of witnesses in the 1950’s. This conundrum was also
faced by the Hollywood Ten, and the answer broke down




114 Only Victims

generally into these alternatives: If a man was a Communist and
denied it before the committee, he went to jail for periury. If he
admitted he was a Communist, he was then asked to inform on
his friends; if he refused, he went to jail for contempt because
he had already waived protection of the Bill of Rights when he
answered in the affirmative to the first question.

Also, once he admitted being a Communist and stood pat
without further admissions, he could expect to return from jail
blacklisted from his career, friends, associates, and acquaint-
ances. The Bill of Rights “was not conceived for the powerful
and popular who have no need for it,” declared Dalton Trumbo.
“It was put forth to protect even the most hated member of the
most detested minority from the sanctions of the law on the
one hand, and of public disapproval on the other,”106

Robert Carr drew on a theatrical analogy for the hearings,
commenting that there was a first act consisting of the friendly
witnesses, a second act composed of the unfriendly witnesses,
and a third act that was seemingly written and rehearsed but
not performed.°7?

To extend the analogy, the hearings also had a few other
theatrical ingredients, besides the stars. The investigation had
“rising action” as the friendly witnesses prepared the audience
for the unfriendly; the conflict of emotion between the com-
mittee and the [lollywood Ten; the rendering of moral decisions
by the principal players when answering the $64 question; a
denouement of sorts in the contempt convictions; and, some-
what belatedly, after the poor second-act curtain, a dash of the
ironic during the elongated intermission.

In 1950 Ring Lardner, Jr., was sent to the Federal Correc-
tional Institution at Danbury, Connecticut. Ilis prison job was
that of a stenographer in the office of classification and parole.
That same year the somewhat less exotic job of caretaker of the
chicken yard was held by a former government employee
imprisoned for putting nonworkers on the government payroll
and appropriating their salaries for himself. The chicken cus-
todian was—]. Parnell Thomas.
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Chapter IV

John S. Wood's Marathon Ten-Part
1951-1952 Investigation of
Communism in the Entertainment Field

THE “ism” that was to be affixed to the name McCarthy
had not yet become part of the American lexicon when J.
Parnell Thomas closed his 1947 investigation of Communist
infiltration of the motion picture industry. But the factors that
made Senator Joseph McCarthy’s astonishing position in Amer-
ican history possible were apparent in the period immediately
following World War 11,

The half-dozen years from 1939 to 1945 had given the nation
a brief respite from hating Communism. The Russians had been
our allies and the Germans and Japanese our enemies. Suddenly
these positions were reversed. In Europe, formidable Fascism
was over and we were helping our recent enemies with vast
amounts of economic aid. The USSR was no longer inhabited
by friendly Russians. It harbored the enemy—Communists. In
1947, the Truman Doctrine committed America’s might to the
defense of Greece and Turkey, two Middle East countries
threatened by Communist expansion. In 1948, the Berlin airlift
saved that city from Joseph Stalin.

Extreme unrest was the mood of the nation and damning
Communism was the principal occupation of many of the
leading figures of the period. During the Depression years many
people joined groups that were to be listed later as Red tinged.
They had joined with the hope of bettering the human condi-
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tion, not, with few exceptions, as advocates of the violent
dismantling of the American system. Unfortunately, many of
the joiners were inevitably to be so categorized “by the loudest
voices of demagoguery.”!

Before 1949 was over, some 462,000,000 Chinese could see
the Red flag of Communism raised over their ancient Asian
land. In June, 1950, North Korean Communist troops marched
across the thirty-eighth parallel, and the United States was, for
the third time in the first half of the twentieth century, at war.
The atmosphere in America was rife with persons being called
Communists by anyone with whom they disagreed.

Shortly before the outbreak of the Korean War, Senator
McCarthy was invited to speak to the Ohio County Women’s
Republican Club at Wheeling, West Virginia. *. .. it was there
that he either did or did not wave a piece of paper—reports were
contradictory—and - say that it contained the names of 205
Communists in the State Department.”’? McCarthyism was born
at that moment and it did not die with its creator’s demise in
1956.

The vehicle McCarthy used in the Senate for his investiga-
tions was the cumbersomely titled Permanent Sub-Committee
on Investigations of the Senate Committee on Government
Operations of the United States Senate. It was more familiarly
known to the public as the McCarthy Committee because of the
imprint made by its chairman.

The proper purpose of a Congressional committee, be it
McCarthy’s in the Senate or the House Committee on Un-
American Activities, is to investigate how existing laws work
and to either amend or draft new laws. A Congressional
committee was never intended to ‘“conduct quasi trials with
power of punishment.”?

McCarthy’s personal publicity as a hunter of Communists, his
flair for theatrics, his perception of the timing of news releases,
his ability to discredit by implication some of the most
significant men in the government in the early 1950’s all made
the work of the committee in the House that much easier and,
to the public, significant.

The refusal to assist a Congressional committee in its at-
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tempts to investigate gives Congress the power to punish for
contempt. In the case of the Hollywood Ten, the First Amend-
ment was used as protection.

By 1951 the protective cover was the Fifth Amendment,
which broadly states, “... when a witness in his own opinion
considers that the answer to a question might tend to incrimi-
nate him, he cannot be compelled to be a witness against
himself and made to answer.’**

The shield offered to a witness under the Fifth Amendment
became quite the opposite. Instead, abuse and distortion caused
the words “the Fifth Amendment” to become scatological.
Congressional committees exposed people for nonconformity of
thought and action, one of the hallmarks of a robustious
republic. The fear of being subpoenaed to appear before one of
these investigating committees “silenced many people whose
unorthodox and controversial views would be healthy elements
in a democratic society,”®

While McCarthy was busy conducting his Senate investiga-
tions, the House committee was once again certain that there
was Communist infiltration of the entertainment industry.

Description of the Hearings

At 10:30 a.m., March 8, 1951, in room 226 of the old House
Office Building in Washington, D.C., Chairman John S. Wood
set about the business of clearing the Reds out of the studios
and stages of America.

In addition to Wood, committee members present were
Representatives Francis E. Walter, Morgan M. Moulder, Clyde
Doyle, James B. Frazier, Jr., Harold H. Velde, Bernard W.
Kearney, and Charles E. Potter.

Staff members present were Frank S. Tavenner, Jr., counsel;
Louis J. Russell, senior investigator; John W. Carrington, clerk;
and A. S. Poore, editor.®

The first witness on March 8 was the Communist Party’s
cultural chieftain, Victor Jeremy Jerome.” In 1947, Jerome
published his observations on Eugene O’Neill’s thesis of life:

In the theatre, dead-end futility is bodied forth in Eugene
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O’Neill’s The Iceman Cometh. O’Neill builds his drama on the
thesis that life is a struggle between illusion and reality, in
which illusion is indispensable to life, while reality is unbear-
able and means death.®

V.]J. Jerome’s struggle that first morning before the com-
mittee was far more significant for its constitutional dogmatism
than for anything as lofty as life. He invoked the Fifth
Amendment on self-incrimination 113 times!®

The distinguished constitutional historian Leonard W. Levy,
in his brilliant study of the Fifth Amendment, concluded:

The framers of the Bill of Rights saw their injunction, that no
man should be a witness against himself in a criminal case, as a
central feature of the accusatory system of criminal justice.
While deeply committed to perpetuating a system that mini-
mized the possibilities of convicting the innocent, they were
not less concerned about the humanity that the fundamental
law should show even to the offender. Above all, the Fifth
Amendment reflected their judgment that in a free society,
based on respect for the individual, the determination of guilt
or innocence by just procedures, in which the accused made no
unwilling contribution to his conviction, was more important
than punishing the guilty.1®

Actor Howard da Silva was the next witness to take the
constitutional refuge implied in Levy’s historical summation.!
Before notifying the committee of his intention to take the
Fifth, the actor asked if he might read a statement when he
took the stand on March 21. Chairman Wood denied his request
because the actor had released his remarks to the press shortly
before 10 a.m. that day. The chairman noted that it was now
after 3 p.m. “In the light of the fact it has been given this wide
publicity, I see no purpose in burdening the record with a
repetition of it.”!?2

Counsel Tavenner asked Da Silva about his affiliations with
the Civil Rights Congress, the Joint Anti-Fascist Refugee Com-
mittee, the Actors’ Laboratory, a statement in the Daily Worker
which bore his name, and then wanted to know if he had been a
member of the Communist Party:

MR. DA SILVA: I refuse to answer the question on the
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following basis: The first and fifth amendments and all of
the Bill of Rights protect me from any inquisitorial proced-
ure, and I may not be compelled to cooperate with this
committee in producing evidence designed to incriminate me
and to drive me from my profession as an actor. The
historical origin of the fifth amendment is founded in the
resistance of the people to attempts to prosecute and
persecute individuals because of —

MR. WOOD: Will you please wait a moment? Please ascribe to
the committee the intelligence to determine these questions
for itself, and don’t argue about it.

MR. DA SILVA: I don't care to argue about it, but I wish to
clarify my position.

MR. WOOD: You need not teach this committee a class in law.

MR. DA SILVA: It is not my position. It is my position to
uphold the law and to make sure the committee does.

MR. WOOD: If you say you decline to answer for the reasons
given, it will be understood.

MR. TAVENNER: Do you refuse to answer the question?

MR. DA SILVA: I refuse to answer the question on the basis of
my statement here, on the basis that my answer might,
according to the standards of this committee, tend to
incriminate me.

He refused, on the same basis, to admit being associated in a
gala Communist function with actor Will Geer, who was,
according to the evidence, director of a play honoring Mother
Bloor, a celebrated Red (and incidentally his grandmother-in-
law), on her seventy-fifth birthday.

Da Silva defended his position from the point of view of
“peace”:

MR. KEARNEY: Are you in favor of the Communist-inspired
peace marches on Washington?

MR. DA SILVA: Mr. Kearney, my opinions on peace have been
many, and I have made them over a period of many years.

MR. KEARNEY: No further questions.

MR. DA SILVA: But today, when the purpose is to link the
word “‘peace” and the word “subversive” all over America, |
refuse to answer this question on the basis previously stated.

MR. WOOD: Mr. Velde?

MR. VELDE: Do you think this is a legally organized com-
mittee of Congress?
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MR. DA SILVA: A legally organized committee of Congress?

MR. VELDE: Yes.

MR. DA SILVA: I think its actions have been decidedly illegal.
I think its actions have been for the specific purpose of
pulling wool over Americans’ eyes.

MR. VELDE: Do you think the Congress has a right to inquire
into subversive activities in the United States of America?
MR. DA SILVA: I think that Congress has many rights. The

least of its rights are the freedom to wage war today.

MR. VELDE: I would appreciate a specific answer.

MR. DA SILVA: Would you voice your question again?

MR. VELDE: Do you believe that the Congress has a right to
inquire into subversive and disloyal activities in the United
States?

MR. DA SILVA: Well, this is obviously what this committee is
doing at present.

MR. VELDE: Do you believe that we have that right?

MR. DA SILVA: I think that the overwhelming majority of the
American people want peace and don’t want to drop an
atom bomb. I think that is the most pressing issue of the
day. I think that any attempt to investigate so-called subver-
sive organizations is an attempt to pull wool over the
American people’s eyes, the old Army game, to say, ‘“Look
what is happening there, and meanwhile we pick your
pockets and drop atom bombs.™ That is the real function.

MR. VELDE: I think you are not answering the question.

MR. DA SILVA: I am answering the question as specifically as
I can. It has been said before, This is part of the same thing, I
heard Mr. Walter say it sounds like the Daily Worker. I
recognize that every statement made which is on peace or on
any issue that you find in your disfavor is called an issue that
sounds like the Daily Worker or an issue that is subversive or
an issue that is questionable. To me the question of peace
today is not a subversive issue.l3

The first actress to win the Oscar as best supporting player,
Gale Sondergaard (for her role in Anthony Adverse), was also
refused permission by the chair to read her prepared statement
on March 21. Chairman Wood said the committee would file her
remarks for the record after she was examined. In private life
the actress was the wife of Ilerbert J. Biberman, the writer,
director, producer, and member of the Unfriendly Ten.

In reply to Tavenner’s question about what “guilds or
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organizations” she had “been identified with in Hollywood,”
the actress responded that she had “read a long, long list of
organizations” branded subversive by the committee and other
governmental bodies. She further explained:

[ have a feeling if you will ask me what organizations I
belonged to that you probably would like me to tie myself into
one of these, and there I must refuse to answer the question on
the grounds of the fifth amendment, that it might tend to
incriminate me.14

The counsel disclosed that the committee was in possession
of a card dated December 1, 1944, indicating that the actress
was registered as a Communist and her membership card bore
the number 47328 for the year 1945. Miss Sondergaard refused
to comment upon this documentary evidence and all subse-
quent efforts by the committee to link her with Communist
fronts and organizations,! 3

Actor and entertainer Will Geer told the committee on April
Il that although he had completed college in 1926, he was still
a student of philosophy and he pursued agriculture and horti-
culture as hobbies. After a homey exchange concerning a hen,
an egg, and the actor’s blueberry farm, Geer refused to tell
Tavenner if he had signed a Communist Party nominating
petition on July 23, 1942. He also refused to answer whether or
not he was a member of the Communist Party. Not satisfied
with Geer’s illusive answers, Wood and Velde pressed him
further:

MR. WOOD: | want to know what your conception is about
what incriminates you to tell the truth before this com-
mittee, if it is the truth, that you are not a member of the
Communist Party. That wouldn’t in any sense incriminate
you, would it?

MR. GEER: I really believe, sir, that the best answer to that,
that I'm just allergic to meetings and things of that sort, and
I stand on the advice of my counsel that—

MR. WOOD: And decline to answer that question?

MR. GEER: In this particular day, April 11, 1951, I do, sir,
with the situation of the world as it is. 1t’s a hysterical
situation,

MR. WOOD: That’s all.
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MR. GEER: Thank you, sir.

MR. VELDE: I have one more question. Did I understand you
to say that you felt the Communist Party was a legal party?

MR. GEER: I understand so. I believe that.

MR. VELDE: You understand it is?

MR. GEER: To my understanding.

MR. VELDE: Would it be any crime to admit your membership
in a legal party, then?

MR. GEER: In this day of hysteria it is, sir.16

Screenwriter Robert Lees followed Geer and was as un-
friendly to the committee as his predecessor. In refusing to
answer questions about organizations to which he had belonged
or to name individuals with whom he had worked, he adopted
the premise taken by Miss Sondergaard. The writer testified:

Well, I know this: That there are a great number of organiza-
tions that this committee has deemed to be subversive and my
connections with any individual that can be connected with
these organizations can tend to incriminate me, and for this
reason I have declined to answer that question.!”

Referring to the First Amendment, Lees remarked, I feel
that any infringement on perhaps opinions or thoughts which
this committee or some other future committee might deem
suddenly un-American becomes a very dangerous thing in this
country. Very dangerous.”!

Waldo Salt, later scenarist for the 1969 hit film Midnight
Cowboy concurred with Lees and Miss Sondergaard, pointing
out that the committee had labeled 643 organizations subver-
sive. He refused on April 13 to answer if he was “‘at any time a
member of the board of directors or other governing body of
Actors’ Laboratory, Inc.”” He based his refusal on his contention
that California State Senator Jack Tenney had already investi-
gated the organization and labeled it subversive.!®

Paul Jarrico, collaborator with Richard Collins on Song of
Russia, the film that had so offended Ayn Rand in 1947, was
next to testify that day. In response to Representative Doyle’s
question if Jarrico felt that the committee “was controverting
and destroying the rights of American citizens” by its investiga-
tion, the writer emotionally replied:




126 Only Victims

I am certain that Congress had no such intention. However,
10 of my friends, very dear friends, have gone to jail for coming
before this body and saying that Congress may not investigate
in any area in which it may not legislate, and since the
Constitution of the United States specifically states that Con-
gress shall make no law restricting the freedom of speech, and
since countless decisions of the courts have held that this
provision of the Constitution means that Congress cannot
investigate into areas of opinion, of conscience, of belief, I
believe that in asking that those men be cited for contempt of
Congress and in successfully sending these men to jail, that this
committee has subverted the meaning of the American Consti-
tution; yes.

In his statement, Jarrico was alluding to the contempt
charges invoked by the use of the First Amendment. He
declined to answer committee questions, basing his refusal on
the Fifth, and as a result it was he who was publicly suspect of
subverting the Constitution. Representative Doyle asked for a
definition of advocacy:

MR. DOYLE: I will ask you another question, Mr. Jarrico, and
if you think the form of my question is not fair I want you
to tell me so, because I am trying in good faith to be fair. I
am not trying to take any advantage of you or lay any
groundwork for any persecution.

1 think you said that you believed that the American
citizen had the right to advocate anything he wished to?

MR. JARRICO: That’s correct.

MR. DOYLE: Do I understand, therefore, that you think an
American citizen has the right to advocate the forceful
overthrow of our constitutional form of government?

MR. JARRICO: I believe he may advocate it. I believe that it is
unlikely he will get a great response to such a thing. I want
to make it clear that I am personally opposed to the
overthrow of this Government by force and violence and to
the use of force and violence. However, President Lincoln
said that the people of this country have the right to
revolution, if necessary, if the democratic processes are
clogged, if the people can no longer exercise their will by
constitutional means.

MR. DOYLE: Do you know of any organization in the United
States that is regulated from within the United States that
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advocates the forceful overthrow of the constitutional form
of government? Do you know of any organization that does?

MR. JARRICO: Well, the McCarran Act, the Smith Act—

MR. DOYLE: I am asking you about an organization. Do you
know of any organization?

MR. JARRICO: I am answering that question, sir. I am saying
that various acts passed by the United States Congress have
defined certain organizations as organizations which advo-
cate the overthrow of this Government. I do not necessarily
agree with these definitions.

MR. DOYLE: I am not asking you whether you agree with the
definition or not. I am asking you as man to man in good
faith whether or not you know any such organization. I am
assuming that you as an American citizen are interested in
protecting our American form of government against force-
ful revolution. If my assumption is wrong, of course the basis
of my question is wrong. I am not asking you whether or not
you are a member of any such organization, you notice. [ am
not asking that question. You have stood on your consti-
tutional right under the fifth amendment. I am not asking
you in that area. But I am just assuming as man to man that
you, if you know of any organization in America that favors
that policy, in good faith will come out and tell us so.

MR. JARRICO: Well, sir, this committee—

MR. DOYLE: Do you know of any such organization?

MR. JARRICO: According to this committee, every organiza-
tion that has advocated peace in this country—

MR. DOYLE: Just a minute. That question can be answered
“Yes” or “No.” We have other witnesses from Hollywood
here. We want to have them be heard, too, so they can get
home over the weekend.

MR. JARRICO: By your definition, sir, every organization that
has stood for decency and progress, the New Deal, against
discrimination, for peace, and so on—these organizations are
all allied with an organization which advocates the overthrow
of this Government. I do not accept that definition.

MR. DOYLE: In other words, you don’t accept the definition
of Mr. Webster’s dictionary.

MR. JARRICO: Yes, I do accept the definition of Mr. Webster.

MR. DOYLE: I am asking you whether or not, under the
definition of Mr. Webster, you know of any organization in
this country that advocates what Mr. Webster says is subver-
sive conduct, that’s all. That is what I am asking you. I am
assuming that you want to help protect the American
Government.
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MR. JARRICO: If I knew of such an organization, sir, I should
help you to expose it.

MR. DOYLE: Do you know of any individual that is interested
in that?

MR. JARRICO: If I knew of such an individual, sir I should
help you to expose him.

MR. DOYLE: All right. Now, one more question. In answer to
our counsel you stated that you believed that our function-
ing as a committee was to form the basis of a blacklist. Why
do you believe this committee is interested in blacklisting
people so they can’t get employment, if they are honest,
patriotic citizens? Is that your statement?

MR. JARRICO: You are not interested in that end, but you
had better revise your methods, because your methods have
had that end. I know of many people who are blacklisted in
Hollywood as a result of the hearings in 1947, and I know
that today the basis is being laid for an increase of that
blacklist, so that anyone who has advocated anything pro-
gressive is going to be a suspect. And the Motion Picture
Alliance for the Preservation of American Ideals, quaintly
named, is going to be the organization in Hollywood that
decides who shall work and who shall not work, what
pictures shall be made and what pictures shall not be made,
and this is an organization that upholds this committee and
thinks it is doing a splendid job in exposing so-called “Reds.”’

MR. DOYLE: What is the name of that committee?

MR. JARRICO: The Motion Picture Alliance for the Preserva-
tion of American Ideals. You should know it very well, Mr.
Doyle.

MR. DOYLE: But I don’t happen to know it, sir. You see,
there are many of us, Mr. Jarrico, in spite of your assump-
tion, that are just as much interested as you are in protecting
the rights of American citizens and are just as progressive and
just as patriotic toward liberal thinking, whether you believe
it or not.

I wish to state—I know for myself, and I state it for myself
and I state it for every member of the committee—that we
are not interested in blacklisting anyone. I wouldn’t be true
to my duty as a citizen if I allowed you to charge that we are
without denying it. But I will say this: My own belief is that
you gentlemen who come to this committee and unalterably
claim the fifth amendment and the first amendment when
we get into the area of questioning you about the organiza-
tions you have been or are members of, are making it very
difficult for this committee as a committee of Congress to
function.
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MR. JARRICO: I feel I am defending the Constitution, sir, and
not hiding behind it. I feel that sincerely. And I feel that if
you were sincere in your declarations against blacklisting
that you should make it plain that people who claim their
constitutional privileges should not be discriminated against
in Hollywood, because Hollywood has the impression that
you intend everyone who is called before this committee and
who does not cooperate with this committee to be driven
from the industry.29

Actors Victor Kilian, Jr., and Fred Graff testified before the
committee on April 13, 1951, the last of the unfriendly
witnesses to appear during the first of the ten-part, two-year,
second investigation of Communist infiltration of the Holly-
wood motion picture industry. Kilian was told by Tavenner that
the committee had information that he had been issued a
numbered registration card in the Communist Party in 1945,
Graff was informed by Tavenner that he held a numbered
registration card in the Communist Political Association dated
1941. Both men took the Fifth.2!

Chairman Wood closed the session by announcing:

- .. that any person whose name has been given in these public
hearings as having been affiliated with the Communist Party or
any other organization that may have been cited by either the
committee or the Attorney General of America as being a
subversive or front organization, who desires to do so, we will
certainly welcome their presence here at such time as the
committee may be able to make the proper arrangements, to
make whatever reply or response they desire in connection
therewith.22

And there had been many names mentioned during this first
phase of the investigation, not only by the committee in its
dialogue with the unfriendly witnesses, but also by the friendly
witnesses, commencing with the strange and pitiful testimony
of actor Larry Parks.

After a thirteen-day layoff following V.]. Jerome’s unco-
operative appearance, the committee reconvened on the first
day of spring, Wednesday, March 21, 1951, at 10:35 a.m. It is
certain that Parks does not remember the day as one of seasonal
awakening but rather as one of moral deadening—as did Paul
Jarrico.
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On March 24 of that year, Jarrico told the New York Times,
“If I have to choose between crawling in the mud with Larry
Parks or going to jail like my courageous friends of the
Hollywood Ten, I shall certainly choose the latter.”23

Parks was the first entertainer in 1951 who was forced to
soul-search for the proper moral answer to the question that
was to face all of the subpoenaed show business witnesses who
followed him.

The dilemma was: “If they took the Fifth Amendment, their
Hollywood careers would, for the foreseeable future, be ended.
But to testify about their friends was for some a repugnant as
well as an uncertain means of salvation.”’?*

Additionally, due to the 1947 Hollywood investigation, there
was the specter of prison beclouding the decision.

These confusing problems and possibilities prompted Parks to
try to avoid any conclusive, specific answers to the majority of
the committee’s questions.

After some gentle prodding by Counsel Tavenner, Parks
admitted: “I’'m familiar with the Actors’ Laboratory ... I'm
familiar with the Actors’ Lab.”

Further probing by the committee counsel elicited from the
actor who had starred in The Jolson Story: “For a time | was
sort of honorary treasurer of this organization.” When Tavenner
asked if he had served in 1949 and 1950, the actor had another
lapse of memory. “Well, I can’t recall the exact date. I don’t
believe it was in 1950. I believe it was before that. I can’t tell
you the exact date.”

He thought he was a member of some of the other organiza-
tions on the subversive list handed him by Tavenner. He did not
believe he held any official position in any of them. He asked
Tavenner to ‘“‘refresh” his memory. It was “possible,” the actor
said, that he had appeared at a meeting of the Civil Rights
Congress—and he might have been one of the speakers. Yes, the
actor acknowledged, there were Communists attached to some
of the organizations with which he had been affiliated—*the
Actors’ Lab, for instance. ...”

Finally, Parks conceded, ‘I was a member of the Communist
Party....” He joined in 1941. “And to the best of my,
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recollection I petered out about the latter part of 1944 or
1945.” He joined because membership ‘fulfilled certain needs

of a young man that was liberal in thought, idealistic, who was

for the underprivileged, the underdog.”2?

On the question of naming names of alleged Communists,
Parks beseechingly demurred:

MR. PARKS: Well, Counsel, these—I would prefer not to
mention names, if it is at all possible, of anyone. I don’t
think it is fair to people to do this. I have come to you at
your request. I have come and willingly tell you about
myself. I think that, if you would allow me, I would prefer
not to be questioned about names. And I will tell you
everything that I know about myself, because I feel I have
done nothing wrong, and I will answer any question that you
would like to put to me about myself. I would prefer, if you
will allow me, not to mention other people’s names. . . .

MR. WOOD: Just a2 moment. At that point, do you entertain
the feeling that these other parties that you were associated
with are likewise guiltless of any wrong?

MR. PARKS: The people at that time as I knew them—this is
my opinion of them. This is my honest opinion: That these
are people who did nothing wrong, people like myself. . . .

And it seems to me that this is not the American way of
doing things—to force a man who is under oath and who has
opened himself as wide as possible to this committee—and it
hasn’t been easy to do this—to force a man to do this is not
American justice.

I perhaps later can think of more things to say when I
leave, but this is in substance I guess what I want to say.26

Representatives Wood and Walter respected the actor’s plea
largely because, as it was later made clear in testimony, the
committee already knew the names it was trying to get the
witness to divulge. Parks was let off on the condition that he
would testify fully in executive session. This he did, and “‘Parks
was left with his career in limbo, the film he was scheduled to
do for Columbia Studios having been canceled when he received
his subpoena.”2”

The longest testimony of the first part of the investigation
was given on April 10 by actor and friendly witness Sterling
Hayden, another former member of the Communist Party. He,
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unlike Parks, was not hesitant to name names of alleged Com-
munists publicly, before the committee and the nation. He was
the first of many who elected to put the continuance of their
careers ahead of personal and professional friendships.

After a lengthy explanation of how he had, through his
daring war exploits behind the German lines, become enrap-
tured by the Partisans of Yugoslavia and how he concomitantly
became exposed to Communist ideology and Communists, he
told the committee he joined the Communist Party in Holly-
wood “‘approximately between the 5th and 15th of June, 1946,
but that may not be accurate.”?8

He named Bea Winters, a secretary, as the woman who was
responsible for asking him to join the Communist Party. She
was the first of a list of show business persons named by
Hayden as Communists, ex- or current. The list included
writer-director Abraham Polonsky, actress Karen Morley. her
husband-actor Lloyd Gough, and writer Robert Lees. Hayden
implied that Howard da Silva was a Communist because of his
“behavior” before the committee the previous month. He
mentioned that some of the meetings of the Communist group
to which he belonged occurred at the home of actor Morris
Carnovsky, although Carnovsky was never present. Hayden
additionally furnished the committee investigators with a list of
people he conjectured were Communists. His reason for doing
this was summed up by Chairman Wood: “Your purpose in
furnishing the list of names to the investigators was that by
proper investigation on the part of the investigators of the
committee and the committee itself, that their connection with
the Communist Party might be revealed with reference to some
of them?”” The actor replied in the affirmative!

MR. DOYLE: I am going to ask you this question. I don’t
know if it was asked by any other member of the committee
when [ went to the floor to vote or not. You are here before
a committee of the United States Congress, a duly consti-
tuted committee of the House of Representatives, every
Member of which is elected every 2 years by the American
people. What is your opinion of the jurisdiction, the purpose,
the functioning of this committee, before which you have
testified 3 hours today? Is it, in your judgment, serving a
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useful purpose? Is it serving a necessary purpose? If so, to
what extent, and if not, why? Is that a fair question?

MR. HAYDEN: Yes.

MR. DOYLE: I am really asking for your honest-to-God
truthful opinion. I have never asked that question before.
but I think in view of the manner in which you have come
before this committee, and the apparent frankness with
which you have answered questions, if you have any criti-
cism of the manner in which this committee functions, I
would like to know what that criticism is. You have now
been before us 3 hours.

MR. HAYDEN: I think of no criticism whatever.

MR. DOYLE: Have you any suggestions to make of ways and
means in which we might be more helpful in meeting this
problem of the determination of the Communist Party of the
United States to overthrow, if necessary by force, our
Government?

MR. HAYDEN: [ think that the request and suggestion that
was made by the chairman of the committee, of which I was
apprised by the counsel of the committee, that people come
up and speak up, is the thing I came here today thinking it
was an extremely fine thing, a constructive thing.

I don’t mean to attach any importance to myself as an
individual who is out of balance, but I have had the feeling
that my appearance before the committee could serve a very
useful purpose. I hope it does.

MR. DOYLE: Thank you.2°

Hayden was excused by the committee and subsequently by
the majority of the nation’s press, but not by the actor himself.
He wrote later:

Not often does a man find himself eulogized for having behaved
in a manner that he himself despises. I subscribed to a
press-clipping service. They sent me two thousand clips from
papers east and west, large and small, and from dozens of
magazines. Most had nothing but praise for my one-shot stoolie
show. Only a handful-led by The New York Times—de-
nounced this abrogation of constitutional freedoms whereby
the stoolie could gain status in a land of frightened people.3°

The first Hollywood pigeon of the genus “stoolie”” had sung
publicly, and before Chairman Wood had concluded his ten-part
marathon investigation on November 13, 1952, many more
voices would be raised in a cacophony of naming names.
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On April 12, 1951, screenwriter Richard J. Collins took the
witness stand. Collins recounted that in 1936 he was introduced
to a class in Marxism by a man who had been to Russia and
“was very enthusiastic about it.”” The traveler was writer Budd
Schulberg. Collins admitted to Counsel Tavenner that he had
been a Communist. He named John Howard Lawson as a former
leader of the Communist Party in Hollywood. Ring Lardner, Jr.,
was identified by the witness as having been a member of his
Communist Party cell. Collins continued: Albert Maltz had been
a Communist; Samuel Sillen, one of the editors of the New
Masses, Collins presumed, had been a Communist; Lester Cole
was a Communist; Paul Jarrico had been; Louis B. Mayer was
not; Robert Rossen had been but had sent a letter to Harry
Cohn, head of Columbia Pictures, saying that he was no longer a
member of the party; Schulberg had been; screenwriter Martin
Berkeley had hosted a cell meeting at his home; also in
attendance was Hollywood Ten writer Samuel Ornitz; silent
movie actor Herbert Blache had attended a cell meeting where
Collins was present; the witness had recruited writer Waldo Salt
as a Communist; writer John Bright was a Communist; Gertrude
Purcell, a member of the board of the Screen Writers Guild in
1938 and 1939, might have been; writers Gordon Kahn and
Leonardo Bercovici had been Communists; Elizabeth Leech
Glenn had been a Communist and may have worked at a studio;
her husband Charles Glenn had co-led with Salt a section of the
Communist Party; Frank Tuttle had been a Communist; and
writer Dudley Nichols was not.3!

This comprised Collins’ list of persons associated in one way
or another with Hollywood who were, had been, or were not
Communists.

In response to Representative Donald Jackson’s questions,
Collins estimated that the peak membership of the Communist
Party in Hollywood during the Second World War was “several
hundred,” of whom he knew twenty. The witness supposed that
of the latter group, ‘“‘about” 25 percent had broken with the
party “in various degrees.” Collins agreed that the balance of 75
percent ‘“‘might be considered to belong actively or to be in the
fellow-traveler classification.”32
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Richard Collins, the second friendly witness before the
committee (he had also been subpoenaed in 1947 but was not
called to testify), summed up his reasons for stating why he
would not have been a friendly witness in the J. Parnell Thomas
investigation and why now, in 1951, he was:

It would be because at that time it seemed to me that purely on
American democratic constitutional grounds there was a ques-
tion of the propriety of asking a man his political beliefs.
Without going into the question of its propriety today, there
has been a marked change in the world situation since 1947,
and there has been as great a change in me, It is hard to tell
where one thing begins and the other ends.33

It was less difficult for Paul Jarrico, Collins’ writing collab-
orator and friend for fourteen years, to tell where friendship
ends and personal expediency begins.

Ten days before Collins’ testimony, Jarrico telephoned his
friend and asked if he might see him. Jarrico asked his host if he
would give his personal assurance that he would not give any
names when called to testify. Collins resisted at first but then
attempted to strike a bargain. He would not name names if
Jarrico would promise he would do nothing to help the Soviet
Union in the event of war between the United States and the
Soviet Union. Jarrico could not agree to this proposition, and
Collins refused to alter his original offer of compromise. In
Collins’ words, *. .. since we would not lie to each other, we
had no further conversation.””3*

“It was,” as Walter Goodman points out, “but one of many
friendships that were shattered in the course of these hear-
ings.””*

The remaining friendly witness in the first session of Wood’s
investigation was Mrs. Meta Reis Rosenberg, former head of the
literary department of Berg-Allenberg, a motion picture agency.
She spoke up when on April 13 she identified persons she had
seen at Communist Party meetings who were previously cited
publicly by witnesses before the committee. She also intro-
duced into the ““Red” record such personages as actress Dor-
othy Tree and her husband, writer Michael Uris, writer Francis
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Faragoh, film maker Carleton Moss, artist Edward Biberman
(Herbert’s brother), and agent George Willner. The woman
literary agent’s dossier also included Madelaine Ruthven, ex-
writer and CP functionary in Hollywood and its environs.®

Nunnally Johnson, a producer-writer at Twentieth Century-
Fox Studios at the time of Mrs. Rosenberg’s testimony, sent her
a telegram which she presented to Tavenner at the conclusion of
her testimony. The committee counsel graciously decided to
read it aloud, ‘‘to save the witness a little embarrassment”’:

Mrs. Meta Rosenberg
Statler Hotel, Washington, D.C.

I trust this will convince you that politics is no business for a
fetching girl. Politics is for flat-chested girls.

(Laughter.)37

It is certain that those persons whose names were cited
publicly for the first time by Mrs. Rosenberg as having been in

attendance at Communist meetings agreed with Nunnally John-
son.

Round two of ten opened April 17, 1951, with a dozen new
witnesses appearing and two former figures from the 1947
hearings testifying for the second time, labor leader Roy Brewer
and Edward Dmytryk. This time director Dmytryk was as
friendly as Brewer had been in the earlier investigation, a
situation occasioned undoubtedly by time, prison, reflection,
and a personal reassessment of the moral question of naming
names in order to continue working above ground at his career.

As discussed in the preceding chapter, after prison the
remainder of the First Amendment unfriendly witnesses were
forced underground until the anti-Communist public passions
cooled toward the end of the fifties. But this was the beginning
of that decade and the first three witnesses before the commit-
tee that April day were Fifth Amendment unfriendlies.

They were writers Sam Moore and Harold Buchman and
Academy Award winner actress Anne Revere, who were sworn
in April 17. Miss Revere won the Oscar for “best supporting
female player” in National Velvet.
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Moore declined to answer any questions regarding his associ-
ation with the Hollywood Writers Mobilization, claiming that
the organization had been listed as a ‘‘so-called subversive
group” by the committee and others.>2

Counsel Tavenner told the witness the committee had infor-
mation that he was a member of the Communist Party in 1944
and 1945 and cited the number of his CP registration card for
the latter year. Moore once again claimed his constitutional
privilege of not incriminating himself.3°

Buchman, for reasons similar to Moore’s, refused to answer
questions regarding the Hollywood Writers Mobilization. The
writer informed the committee that he had taken a ‘grand
tour” for five months in 1937 and 1938 and that he had spent
five or six weeks in the Soviet Union. Tavenner told Buchman
the committee had information that the writer held cards in the
Communist Political Association in 1944 and the Communist
Party in 1945 and cited their registration numbers.

After refusing to comment on the CP membership cards,
Buchman explained to Representative Doyle that he had “ap-
plauded” his election many years ago and that he believed
Doyle was ‘‘sincere” in his ‘“desire to understand what was
going on here.”

“But I could find a stack of very conservative opinion, Mr.
Doyle, to the effect that this committee is not a good commit-
tee.” The Congressman did not choose to comment on the
committee’s goodness and Buchman was followed by Miss
Revere.*°

The “Bourbon punctilio” of the committee, as Gordon Kahn
described the interrogators in 1947, was practiced in 1951 by
Tavenner when the counsel asked the actress the place of her
birth. She facetiously replied, “Thank you for not asking me
when. ... Occasionally I play grandmothers, and it might
jeopardize my professional standing.”

In response to a question regarding her former membership in
the Actors’ Laboratory, Miss Revere refused to answer and gave
the committee her interpretation of what constituted an at-
tempt to overthrow the American system:

Mr. Tavenner and gentlemen, this would seem to me, based
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upon my observation in the course of the week in which I have
listened to these testimonies, to be the first in a possible series
of questions which would attempt in some manner to link me
with subversive organizations; and as the Communist Party is a
political party—Ilegal political party—in this country today, and
as I consider any questioning regarding one’s political views or
religious views as a violation of the rights of a citizen under our
Constitution, and as I would consider myself, therefore, con-
tributing to the overthrow of our form of government as I
understand it if I were to assist you in violating this privilege of
mine and other citizens of this country, I respectfully decline
to answer this question on the basis of the fifth amendment,
possible self-incrimination, and also the first amendment.

Miss Revere requested to see the document Tavenner held,
establishing her numbered Communist Party registration cards
for the years 1944 and 1945. Satisfied that the counsel seemed
to have such evidence, she refused to answer whether she
recognized the card he handed to her.*!

The next two unfriendly witnesses appeared a week later, on
April 24, 1951, writers’ agent George Willner and actor Morris
Carnovsky.

When asked if he had been the business manager of the New
Masses in New York from 1936 to 1939, Willner refused to
answer because the publication was listed as “subversive” in the
committee’s guide and the members were therefore “trying to
link’> him with an organization already categorized as Red.

Representative Morgan M. Moulder summed up his observa-
tions on the agent’s subsequent refusal to answer questions
about people, organizations, and events’’:

Mr. Willner, the record would reveal that you have refused to
answer probably 99 percent of the questions propounded to
you, for the alleged reason that it would tend to incriminate
you.... And under the Federal statutes any testimony you
may give here could not be used against you. Therefore, your
refusal to testify so consistently leaves a strong inference that
you are still an ardent follower of the Communist Party and its
purpose. That’s all.

It was not all the dialogue for the day, however. Carnovsky
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was next and gave the committee a detailed recital of his
academic and professional background before claiming his
constitutional immunity on questions concerning his relation-
ship with the Group Theatre, the Joint Anti-Fascist Refugee
Committee, the Civil Rights Congress, the Progressive Citizens
of America, the Council of the Arts, Sciences, and Professions,
the American Peace Mobilization, and a 1944 Communist Party
membership book numbered 48975. Regarding the CP card,
Representative Walter inquired:

MR. WALTER: As | understand your position, you feel that if
you would admit that you were the holder of that Commu-
nist Party card you might be prosecuted in a criminal case
for what you have admitted here. Is that correct?

MR. CARNOVSKY: I feel that under the fifth amendment I
have the right to decline to answer that statement and that
question, and I stand on it.

MR. WALTER: But, now, let's get this straight. You are
fearful, and that is why you invoke the protection given by
the fifth amendment to people charged with crimes, that the
testimony adduced here might be used against you in a
criminal proceeding. Is that correct?

MR. CARNOVSKY: That is as I understand it, sir; yes.

MR. WALTER: Don’t you know under the law any testimony
given here cannot be used anywhere else?

MR. CARNOVSKY: That is not the fact, Mr. Walter.

MR. WALTER: Do you get your legal opinions from the New
Yorker, also?

MR. CARNOVSKY: I get my legal opinions basically from the
Constitution of the United States and the Bill of Rights.

MR. WALTER: Of course, the statute that I have referred to is
a law enacted under the Constitution and the Bill of Rights.
It was enacted for the very purpose of affording protection
to people who come forward and assist congressional com-
mittees in fulfilling their obligation to the Congress and to
the people of the United States. There is a statute that
expressly protects the witness from any use of any testimony
he gives in any other proceeding.

MR. CARNOVSKY: Mr. Walter, it seems you have not read the
recent case passed upon the Supreme Court.

MR. WALTER: What case was that? Why don’t you answer,
Mr. Popper?
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MR. POPPER:* I think that is a good idea, sir, because I know
you were a distinguished lawyer long before you were in
Congress. The fact of the matter is the Supreme Court of the
United States has repeatedly said, and said very recently,
that there is no such thing as an immunity statute,

MR. WALTER: I am not so certain this exact question has been
passed upon.

MR. POPPER: Oh, yes. May I refer you to United States
against Bryan.

MR. WALTER: Yes. I know the case.

You still decline to answer because you are afraid you
might be prosecuted criminally for any testimony you give.
Is that correct?

MR. CARNOVSKY:: I refuse to answer, because this might tend
to incriminate me.*3

On the following day writer Abraham Polonsky was the first
witness. When confronted with the testimony of friendly
witnesses Sterling Ilayden, Mrs. Meta Rosenberg, and Richard
Collins, persons who had identified Polonsky as a member of
the Communist Party, he invoked the Fifth Amendment. He
subsequently refused to answer whether his wife, Sylvia Mar-
row, was a member of the Communist Party.**

On succeeding days of the following months, May 16 and 17,
1951, writer Leonardo Bercovici, actors Alvin Hammer and
Lloyd Gough, and Bea (Bernadette) Winters, former secretary
to Meta Reis Rosenberg, completed the list of unfriendly
witnesses during the second part of the committee’s 1951-52
investigation.*>

In addition to the two committee investigators, William A.
Wheeler and Thad Page, one major film star, John Garfield, one
character actor, Marc Lawrence, an unfriendly Hollywood Ten
member who recanted, Edward Dmytryk, and a recurring
witness, labor leader Roy Brewer, made up the remainder of
persons friendly to the investigative body during part two of the
hearings.

The sensitive, able, and much-loved actor John Garfield
sprang to fame as the star of Golden Boy on Broadway; his

* Carnovsky’s attorney,
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many notable performances in motion pictures included Body
and Soul. But before the committee, the intelligent performer
“did his best to make himself appear a simpleton, marvelously
naive about politics, who had helped support a variety of
Communist fronts despite his firm hatred of Communism.”%®

He appeared before the austere panel on April 23, 1951, and
consumed an entire morning (from 10:25 a.m. to 1:15 p.m.)
with his account of what he described as his ‘“‘open-book” life
and his hatred of Communism.

He did not know any Communists in Hollywood, past or
present; he was, in his own words, an “outstanding liberal,”
who had never joined any parties other than the Democratic
and the Liberal. He was a backer of Henry Wallace for the
Presidency on a third party ticket, until he saw how the
Communists were ‘“capturing’ the ex-Vice President. Garfield
could not recall introducing actor-singer Paul Robeson at a
dinner for the Joint Anti-Fascist Refugee Committee. He did
admit being a member of the Committee for the First Amend-
ment. He believed the Communist Party should be outlawed; he
did not support the Moscow trials; and he was for Finnish war
relief.

The actor talked on, as the committee probed his back-
ground. Yes, Garfield recalled having a drink on a Russian ship
in Los Angeles Harbor with Constantine Semenov, a Russian
playwright invited to the United States by the State Depart-
ment; director Lewis Milestone and actor Charles Chaplin and
their wives had been aboard the ship. Finally, Representative
Donald l.. Jackson became dissatisfied with the star’s lack of
“accuracy” and failure to cooperate with the committee.*’

The Congressman commented:

And you contend that during the 7% years or more that you

were in Hollywood and in close contact with a situation in
which a number of Communist cells were operating on a
week-to-week basis, with electricians, actors, and every class
represented, that during the entire period of time you were in
Hollywood you did not know of your own personal knowledge
a member of the Communist Party?

Garfield said that was ‘“absolutely correct....” Jackson

—— m—— — — —
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pursued the questioning: “Have you been approached to assist
at Communist Party functions, or functions of Communist-
front organizations when you knew they were front organiza-
tions?” The actor returned: ‘... I would have run like hell.”
Jackson summed up his feelings to Representative Wood:

MR. JACKSON: I must say, Mr. Chairman, in conclusion, that I
am still not satisfied.
One more question. I have before me a letter from the
National Counsel of the Arts, Sciences and Professions,
which states:

The Eighty-first Congress has a primary obligation to
protect the civil rights of the American people. For
years now the constitutional rights, the reputations, the
jobs, and the private lives of many of our citizens have
been recklessly attacked by the irresponsible Commit-
tee on Un-American Activities.

This committee has been denounced by the Presi-
dent, by Members of the Congress, and by American
leaders throughout the country. In its hearings it has
failed to observe the most basic concept of Anglo-
Saxon law. It has consistently used headline scare
tactics to intimidate and to induce an atmosphere of
fear and repression which is repugnant to our most
precious American traditions, Its entire history has
been one of flagrant violation of common decency and
human liberty and has been an affront to one of the
greatest institutions in our democracy—the American
Congress.

The Eighty-first Congress can and must abolish the
Committee on Un-American Activities. We urge immed-
iate action toward this end.

You are listed as one of a number of signers, Did you or did
you not sign it?

MR. GARFIELD: May I ask the date of that, please?

MR. JACKSON: The date of the letter is—the date is not given.
Yes; it was received in January 1949. Is that right?

MR. NIXON: That is the date we received it.

MR. GARFIELD: I don't recall signing it.

MR. JACKSON: You do not recall signing it?
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MR. GARFIELD: I do not recall signing it.

MR. JACKSON: Do you subscribe to the statements made in
the letter?

MR. GARFIELD: No.

MR. JACKSON: You repudiate the statements made in the
letter?

MR. GARFIELD: Yes.

MR. JACKSON: That is all, Mr. Chairman.%8

The chairman waived the rule which forbade the reading
aloud of statements by witnesses when he learned that Gar-
field’s prepared remarks numbered only a few sentences. The
star vocally assessed his political position:

When I was originally requested to appear before the commit-
tee, I said that I would answer all questions, fully and without
any reservations, and that is what [ have done. I have nothing
to be ashamed of and nothing to hide. My life is an open book.
I was glad to appear before you and talk with you. I am no
Red. I am no “pink.” I am no fellow traveler. I am a Democrat
by politics, a liberal by inclination, and a loyal citizen of this
country by every act of my life.4?

Actor Marc Lawrence was next, on Tuesday, April 24. He
proved not quite as amnesic as Garfield. However, he did
complain of getting ‘‘headaches” in the thirties listening to
speeches at Communist group meetings. He identified some of
his fellow participants who had been mentioned before by
previous friendly witnesses—Lester Cole, Robert Rossen, Rich-
ard Collins, Lionel Stander, Gordon Kahn, J. Edward Bromberg,
John Howard Lawson, Morris Carnovsky, Karen Morley,
Sterling Hayden, Larry Parks, Anne Revere, Howard da Silva,
and Lloyd Gough.

Lawrence amplified: “Now, I don’t know if these people
were members of the Communist Party, but it was supposed to
have been a closed cell. I couldn’t identify these people.”

He was on more certain ground where Lionel Stander was
concerned. Stander had introduced Lawrence into the Commu-
nist Party. “He was the guy that said to me, ‘Get to know this
stuff and you will make out more with the dames.’ ’%°

Lawrence also distinctly remembered actor Jeff Corey as a
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person who attended meetings of a CP group within the Actors’
Lab.®?

Committee member Jackson was pleased with the aggregate
of names new and old. He commended the witness—
sarcastically. “I congratulate you upon your splendid memory.
You should have less difficulty in learning scripts than some of
the people who have appeared here.”?2

The only one of the unfriendly Hollywood Ten ever to
assume the cloak of friendliness before the committee was
Edward Dmytryk. The director delivered his roster of names of
persons he knew as members of the CP on April 25, 1951.

His reason for his change of mind since 1947: “The situation
has somewhat changed.” Dmytryk clarified this comment to
Tavenner, explaining that before 1947 he had never heard
anyone say he would refuse to fight for America in a war
against the Soviet Union. Now CP members were boasting that
they would not fight for the United States. The director
thought that the Soviet Union and Communist China supported
the North Koreans in their attack on South Korea. The
Communists of the world were not interested in peace.
*...there is a Communist menace... and the Communist
Party in this country is a part of that menace.”

As a third reason for recanting, Dmytryk alluded to the spy
trials of Alger Hiss and Judith Coplon, incidents which caused
the director to remark, ‘“lI don’t say all members of the
Communist Party are guilty of treason, but I think a party that
encourages them to act in this capacity is treasonable. For this
reason I am willing to talk today.””®3

Dmytryk said that what the Communist Party was after in
Hollywood was (1) money, (2) prestige, and (3) control of the
content of pictures by taking over the guilds and unions:

The chief effort was in the craft unions. 1 want to say that in
my opinion the Communist Party never had any control over
any major executive in any major studio, nor did they at any
time have any effective control over the contents of pictures. 1t
is true that somebody may have slipped in a line or something
that made them happy, but that is not the kind of thing that
would be effective in the least degree, and certainly they never
had any control over any major executive that I know of.
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But in the craft unions they were successful in organizing a
group called the Conference of Studio Unions that did have a
great deal to do with the policies. They eventually got so strong
that they risked a strike against the IATSE. However, they lost
the strike after a very, very long and serious battle, and that
attempt came to nothing.

Dmytryk named seven of the 225 or 230 members of the
Screen Directors Guild he knew to be Communists: Frank
Tuttle, Herbert Biberman, Jack Berry, Bernard Vorhaus, Jules
Dassin—‘“and myself.”

Turning to the Screen Writers Guild, he named John Howard
Lawson, Lester Cole, Gordon Kahn, John Wexley, Adrian Scott,
Richard Collins, Paul Trivers, Albert Maltz, Alvah Bessie, Ar-
nold Manoff, Michael (Mickey) Uris, Leonardo Bercovici,
Francis Faragoh and his wife, Elizabeth, and George Corey as
ex- or current Communists.

After the lunch break, Dmytryk proceeded with reeling off
the names, singling out Ben Margolis, an attorney for some of
the unfriendly witnesses, as having hosted a Communist com-
mittee meeting at his home which the director attended. Present
also were writer Henry Blankfort and George Pepper, described
by the committee as “an employee of Communist-front organ-
izations.” Writers Sam Moore and Maurice Clark also attended
CP fraction meetings, Dmytryk testified.>*

The witness offered up his definition of an “informer.” He
had even consulted a dictionary to make sure of its meaning, he
told Representative Jackson.

I know that there have been comments—I don’t mean Commu-
nists but even among certain progressives and liberals—that
people who talk are in effect informers. I heard that so much
that 1 went to the dictionary and looked up the word. An
informer, roughly speaking, is a man who informs against
colleagues or former colleagues who are engaged in criminal
activity. I think the Communists, by using this word against
people, are in effect admitting they are engaged in criminal
activity. 1 never heard of anybody informing on the Boy
Scouts.35

Roy M. Brewer, IATSE (International Alliance of Theatrical
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Stage Employees) international representative for Hollywood,
who was a friendly witness in 1947, was the last of the friendly
persons to appear before the committee in part two of its 1951
hearings. His discourse, rendered on May 17 and 18, was the
lengthiest of the session. It dealt almost exclusively with the
efforts of the CP to take over the trade unions in Hollywood.
Brewer managed, however, to delve into blacklisting of anti-
Communists in cinemaland. Writers Fred Niblo and Jack
Moffitt, who had been friendly witnesses in 1947, had “‘practi-
cally no work since that time,” according to the crafts union
chief.® ¢

Brewer said there was a Communist group in 1945 that
waged a character assassination program that “was so effective
that it is beyond my power to describe it. .. .”57

When asked by Representative Potter if there were any
records that would bear out his testimony about character
assassination, the witness replied:

I do not think the opinion of one man is of much value, but I
think if you could document the employment records of those
individuals that were not acceptable to the Communist group as
against those individuals who were in the forefront of it, I think
you would find a rather substantial indication that there were
influences at work. Those influences work in many, many
ways. Lots of times the opinion of a secretary or of a clerk in a
casting bureau can make the difference between whether one
man is hired or another man is hired. I can see, from my
standpoint, knowing the set-up in Hollywood, how easy it
would be for an underground movement to use influence in
such a way that an individual without such protection would be
at a disadvantage, and I am of the definite opinion that was the
case. | think it can be proven by records. I haven’t attempted to
do that, but in my judgment it could be done. 58

It was Brewer’s impression that John Garfield had been
aligned with Communist-front groups, and contrary to the
actor’s testimony, Brewer felt it was impossible for a man to be
in the position the actor was and not be aware that there was a
Communist movement in Hollywood.%® Brewer was correct.

The week before John Garfield’s death at thirty-nine years of
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age in May, 1952, the actor was said to be preparing a statement
admitting that he had lied to the committee about his former
affiliations. He admitted that he belonged to thirty-two Red-
front organizations and had signed twelve petitions on behalf of
Red causes and groups.®°

Part three of the committee’s investigation began May 22,
1951, with the appearance of that year’s Oscar-winning star
Jose Ferrer.®! He was represented by Abe Fortas, who was later
to serve for a brief time as a Supreme Court Justice. The actor’s
presence before the committee constituted the longest testi-
mony of the third session, covering almost two days.

In the forties, Ferrer had been among the more active theater
people who eventually were subpoenaed to appear before the
committee in the fifties.

He had enjoyed long runs both on Broadway and nationally
in such plays as Othello, Cyrano de Bergerac, and The Silver
Whistle.

In responding to questions, Ferrer tried basically the same
tactics Garfield and others affected in their appearances before
the committee.

Ferrer had a very poor memory about places, meetings, dates,
and suspected Communist fronts and organizations he was
alleged to have supported by his name or appearance. The actor
explained:

I would like to tell you that my memory in these matters is
controlled largely by association. If I can see where a function
took place and who was there, then I am able to tell you
accurately my participation. 82

Ferrer, like Garfield, avoided taking the Fifth Amendment
and avoided naming names. After looking at an article supplied
by Counsel Tavenner that indicated he had sponsored a Com-
munist for the New York City Council, the actor and Repre-
sentative Kearney jousted about Ferrer’s memory:

MR. FERRER: I am sorry to say, Mr. Tavenner, that this does
not refresh my memory. I repeat that among these people
are many many people whom I know, whom I have worked
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with, and it is possible and even probable that I did allow the
use of my name, but I cannot in all honesty tell you that I
remember doing so.

MR. WOOD: Mr. Kearney, did you have a question to ask?

MR. KEARNEY: Yes. I would like to call your attention, Mr,
Ferrer, to the letter that the chairman spoke about, under
date of May 21, 1951, directed to him, of which I believe all
members of the committee received a copy.

I am simply searching for the truth. I can’t reconcile your
statement with that portion of your letter which states: “I
also permitted my name to be used in support of the
candidacy of Benjamin Davis as councilman of New York
City.”

MR. FERRER: Mr. Tavenner just asked me about that, Mr.
Kearney, and I told him that when I am now asked under
oath, do I remember, I cannot honestly say “I do remem-
ber.”” The reason I wrote this this way—and I still say it was
careless on my part—was that I come here to testify before
you gentlemen assuming that most of the charges leveled
against me are true.

MR. KEARNEY: Is this true: *'I also permitted my name to be
used in support of the candidacy of Benjamin Davis as
councilman of New York City.”

MR. FERRER: I don’t remember, but I say it probably was,
Mr. Kearney. Under oath I don’t want to say it was. For the
purposes of brevity and simplicity, in this letter I said it was
true.

MR. KEARNEY: We want to know if it was true.

MR. FERRER: I can’t honestly, completely say it was true.

MR. KEARNEY: This letter was written 2 days ago.

MR. FERRER: Yes.

MR. KEARNEY: A lot of the matters you testified about
occurred in 1942, 1943, 1944, and 1945,

MR. FERRER: Yes.

MR. KEARNEY: Here, only 2 days ago, you stated definitely
that you permitted your name to be used to further the
candidacy of Benjamin Davis as councilman of New York
City.

MR. FERRER: Yes, sir.6 3

Kearney was later astonished by the star’s vagueness about an
article that appeared in the April 22, 1946, issue of the Daily
Worker, which indicated Ferrer supported the forthcoming May
Day parade. The Congressman asked, *“Mr., Ferrer, do you want
this committee to believe that during all the years you lived in



1951-52 Investigation of the Entertainment Field 149

New York City, that you never knew that May Day was the
Communist Party day in the city of New York and all over the
nation?”’ He got this naive reply from the actor: “I would like
them to believe, but even if they don’t, it is the truth.” In the
closing moments of his second appearance before the commit-
tee he continued in his attempt to make this quite clear to the
committee. Not without some duress.

MR. JACKSON: I don’t believe you are a member but I do
believe that you have given aid and comfort to the Commu-
nist Party. ...

MR. FERRER: I wrote a letter to this committee offering all
my records and checks. I had an informal hearing before
appearing formally, at my request. I have done my very best
to help you. I believe in what you want to do. I am against
the Communist Party. I don’t want it. And however negli-
gent I may have been, my actions have never been other than
anti-Communist and pro-American.

MR. JACKSON: I think that is a splendid statement.

MR. FERRER: It is also true, Mr. Jackson.

MR. JACKSON: Splendid and probably true. It would have
carried twice as much conviction a year ago as it carries
today, when your presence before this committee follows
service of a subpoena. I very frankly cannot place credence
in some of the statements that you have made.

MR. FERRER: That I have just made?

MR. JACKSON: No; in your testimony.

MR. FERRER: In other words, I perjured myself?

MR. JACKSON: That I do not say. I say I can’t place credence
in some of the things you have said. That is as much my
constitutional right as the constitutional privilege claimed by
some of the witnesses in refusing to testify.

MR. FERRER: I am not questioning your constitutional right.

MR. JACKSON: That is all.

MR. WALTER: Mr. Kearney.

MR. KEARNEY: Mr, Ferrer, have you ever known an individ-
ual who was a member of the Communist Party?

MR. FERRER: I didn’t know him to be a member of the
Communist Party, Mr. Kearney.

MR. KEARNEY: Anyone?

MR. FERRER: At the time I did not know him to be.

MR. KEARNEY: Have you ever known anyone to be?

MR. FERRER: I now know Mr. Davis is a member of the
Communist Party.

MR. KEARNEY: Any others?
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MR. FERRER: I can’t think of any at the moment. There may
have been. If you tell me Mr. Da Silva is a member of the
Communist Party, I know him. I know Mr, Geer. I know
these men, but I never knew them as members of the
Communist Party.

MR. KEARNEY: That is all.

MR. JACKSON: I think the record should show I did not say
that Mr. Da Silva and Mr. Geer were members of the
Communist Party. I said they refused to testify.

MR. FERRER: I said if you did say.

MR. MOULDER: This may be repetition. Are you now or have
you ever been a member of the Communist Party?

MR. FERRER: No.

MR. MOULDER: Have you ever been sympathetic to Commu-
nist or subversive activities?

MR. FERRER: No, sir. 64

On May 23, writer Budd Schulberg succeeded Ferrer in the
witness chair and demonstrated to the committee a consider-
ably greater grasp of his fact-retention prowess than had his
predecessor. In a telegram received by the committee on April
14, 1951, Schulberg stated: ... my recollection of my Com-
munist affiliation is that it was approximately from 1937 to
1940. .. .7%°

After reiterating the names of a number of persons the
conimittee had already heard described as Communists, the
witness explained his reason for leaving the party: He could not
write what he wanted as an individual and still follow the
Communist Party dictum of writing for propaganda purposes
only. The writer supported this position by stating:

. it was suggested that [ talk with a man by the name of V. J.
Jerome, who was in Hollywood at that time.

I went to see him. Looking back, it may be hard to
understand why, after all these wrangles and arguments, I
should go ahead and see V. J. Jerome. But maybe every writer
has an insatiable curiosity about these things; I don’t know.

Anyway, I went. It was on Hollywood Boulevard in an
apartment. I didn’t do much talking. I listened to V. J. Jerome.
I am not sure what his position was, but I remember being told
that my entire attitude was wrong; that I was wrong about
writing; wrong about this book, wrong about the party; wrong
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about the so-called peace movement at that particular time; and
I gathered from the conversation in no uncertain terms that I
was wrong.

I don’t remember saying much. I remember it more as a kind
of harangue. When I came away I felt maybe, almost for the
first time, that this was to me the real face of the party. I didn’t
feel I had talked to just a comrade. I felt I had talked to
someone rigid and dictatorial who was trying to tell me how to
live my life, and as far as I remember, I didn’t want to have
anything more to do with them.

Tavenner substantiated Schulberg’s point concerning the
domination of the party over its members, and particularly its
writers, when two reviews of the witness’s book What Makes
Sammy Run? were cited by the committee counsel:

To emphasize clearly the way in which the Communist Party
changed and followed the dictates of some directing authority,
I want to read into the record, just very briefly, some of those
outstanding points which you mentioned in the course of your
testimony. What I am going to read now is from the Daily
Worker of April 7, 1941, being the favorable review of Charles
Glenn. This is his language:

“For slightly fewer years than they have awaited the great
American novel, whatever that may be, American bibliophiles
and critics have been awaiting the Hollywood novel. While they
may argue its merits and demerits I’ve a feeling that all critics,
no matter their carping standards, will have to admit they’ve
found the Hollywood novel in Budd Schulberg’s What Makes
Sammy Run?”

Now, in the retractive statement of Charles Glenn published
in the People’s World of April 24, 1941, this is what he says,
and I quote:

“The first error I made was in calling the book the Holly-
wood novel.”

And I quote again, from the Daily Worker of April 23, 1941:

‘‘Recently I wrote a review on Budd Schulberg’s book, What
Makes Sammy Run? I said it was the story of a Hollywood heel
and could be regarded as the Hollywood novel. On the basis of
quite lengthy discussion on the book, I've done a little
reevaluating, and this helps me emphasize the points I've tried
to make here.”

He then makes various criticisms, and adds:

“‘Can it then be termed ‘the Hollywood novel’?”
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I want the record to also show one or two other points, so
that it may be plain. I quote from the Daily Worker of April 7,
1941, and the People’s World of April 2, 1941, which was the
favorable review:

“Former works on the film city have been filthy with
four-letter words, spoken and implied * * * None of these
things hold true for Schulberg’s novel.

‘“There is nothing vulgar in what he says, nothing super-
ficially vulgar, that is. * * *

**Writing in the first person, Schulberg tells of the good as
well as the bad.”

Then, after the meeting, from the Daily Worker of April 23,
1941, appears this statement:

“We do not intend to go into all the aspects of the
conscience of a writer, a conscience which allows him (with full
knowledge of the facts) to show only the dirt and the filth.”

And from the People’s World again, of April 24, 1941, after
the meeting I quote:

“In a full-drawn portraiture of either Sammy Glick or
Hollywood, the people must be seen in action, living the lives
they lead. Even more effective would the filth of Sammy Glick
become when counterposed to the cleanliness of the
people,”’6 6

Director-writer Frank Wright Tuttle was the next witness
appearing on May 24 in Washington. Like Schulberg, he was
friendly to the committee’s operation. Richard Collins had
described Tuttle as a Communist. The witness had seen Collins’
allegation in the press and had contacted the committee,
indicating he wanted to testify.

Tuttle named seven directors who had been Communists,
including himself, and added that he thought two of them,
Michael Gordon and Jules Dassin, had left the party.®”’

After informing on more than two dozen more persons
associated with the Communist Party, Tuttle explained his
reasons for so doing:

I believe that there is a traditional dislike among Americans
for informers, and I am an informer, and I have thought about
this constantly. I believe all decent people who share this
dislike for informers, if they think about this carefully, will
agree with me that at this particular moment it is absolutely
vital. In a case like this, with ruthless aggression abroad in the
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world, the aggressors, I believe, are as ruthless with their own
people as they are with those they consider their enemies; and I
feel that today it is absolutely necessary for Americans to be
equally ruthless.68

Director Robert Rossen, in his first appearance before the
committee on June 25, 1951, attempted to be both a friendly
and unfriendly witness. He would not name names. He did
respond to Tavenner’s comment that he had been named as a
Communist before the committee (and by implication therefore
was one) and to the question: Did the fact of his being a
Communist influence his decision to change from being a writer
to a producer? Rossen answered:

Without conceding the validity of your statement, sir, I should
like to say that my interest in becoming a director and
producer was primarily one in which (1) I thought I could
express my ability; (2) I thought I could get increased prestige
and whatever economic gains I could get coincident with this
rise of mine in the film industry. 5 ®

He admitted that he had directed a three-act play in 1932,
Steel, under the auspices of the Daily Worker, and in answer to
Tavenner’s question about whether he was now a member of
the Communist Party, Rossen replied:

I should like to emphatically state that I am not a member of
the Communist Party. I am not sympathetic with it or its
aims. I can’t believe in any divided loyalty, and in the event
this country goes to war I stand ready now, as I always have,
to bear arms in its defense and to serve in whatever capacity
the country may call on me, against any and all of its
enemies, including the Soviet Union.

MR. TAVENNER: You state you are not sympathetic with the
aims of the Communist Party. Has that always been true?

MR. ROSSEN: I shall have to decline to answer that question
on the grounds it may tend to incriminate and degrade me,
and thus violate my rights under both the first and fifth
amendments.

MR. TAVENNER: Information has come to the attention of
the committee that the Communist Party may have reregis-
tered its members on June 4, 1951. Were you a member of
the Communist Party on June 3, 1951?
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MR. ROSSEN: I decline to answer that question on the
grounds previously stated.

MR. TAVENNER: Were you a member of the Communist
Party on June 5, 1951?

MR. ROSSEN: I decline to answer that question on the same
grounds.

MR. TAVENNER: I understand you to say you are not now a
member of the Communist Party?

MR. ROSSEN: I said [ am not a member of the Communist
Party.

MR. TAVENNER: Were you a member of the Communist
Party at the time you entered this hearing room?

MR. ROSSEN (after conferring with his counsel): No.

MR. TAVENNER: Were you a member of the Communist
Party yesterday?

MR. ROSSEN: [ decline to answer that question on the same
grounds.” 0

Less than two years later, on May 7, 1953, Rossen appeared
again and answered all questions posed by the committee
regarding his former membership in the Communist Party.” !

Actor J. Edward Bromberg was on June 26, 1951, the last
and only totally unfriendly witness in part three of the
committee’s investigation.”

He declined to answer virtually every question submitted by
Tavenner and the Congressmen. The actor died later that year in
London at the age of forty-seven, while preparing to appear in
the West End production of Trumbo’s The Biggest Thief in
Town.

On December 15 and 16, 1969, under the auspices of the
American National Theatre Academy, Dream of a Blacklisted
Actor played at the Theatre DeLys in New York. It was written
by Conrad Bromberg, son of the late actor.

For the next three parts of its investigations the committee
members moved to the place that was the object of the 1947
investigation, the city containing Hollywood—Los Angeles.

Over a ten-day period in September, 1951, the committee
heard forty-nine witnesses, some of whom had little or nothing
to do with the entertainment field. The testimony of the few
witnesses who, in the opinion of this author, were most
identified with the theater is generally assessed here. The
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remaining witnesses are identified as to occupation and whether
they were friendly or unfriendly.

On September 17, stage and film director Michael Gordon
rebuffed questions concerning his affiliation with groups on the
“subversive” list of the Attorney General of the United States.
He likewise declined to comment on his “alleged acquaintance”
with Frank Tuttle, the director who had named Gordon as a
former Communist. In the event of war with the Soviet Union,
the witness indicated he would fight for the United States, but
he would disclose nothing about his “personal opinions’’ on the
actions of the United States in the Korean War.” 3

From the testimony of Larry Parks to the appearance of
writer Martin Berkeley was only slightly more than six months
in time; it was a millennium in the business of naming names.
Berkeley was accompanied by attorney Edward Bennett
Williams, who later represented Senator Joseph McCarthy in his
Senate censure hearings. In his nonstop performance, the writer
identified 162 persons as current or ex-Communists.” 4

Williams opened the discussion on September 19, 1951, by
noting that Berkeley and his family had been threatened the
night before. A phone call had promised repercussions if the
writer disclosed ‘“names of members of the Communist Party
which had not been known or disclosed prior to this session.”” 3

Throughout his testimony, Berkeley admitted he had been a
Communist but now presented himself as one of the most
vigorous anti-Communists in the United States. The writer
stated that Carl Foreman was then on the Screen Writers Guild
board and, to Berkeley’s knowledge, Foreman had never “dis-
avowed his communism.””6 The witness summed up his
staunch patriotism when he replied to Representative Potter’s
question about his past and present experiences with Commu-
nism. He said, “Mr. Potter, I believe that anyone who was then
a member of the party or joined the party since 1945 and who
retains his membership today is a traitor.””” Berkeley com-
pleted his name-naming later that day, behind closed doors, in
an executive session of the committee.

Actor Jeff Corey was the first witness to apply a new color
term to his professional work status. He appeared on September
21, 1951. Earlier that year his fellow actor, Marc Lawrence, had
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identified Corey as a person who had attended Communist
meetings. In answer to Counsel Tavenner’s question about
whether the actor was employed in his profession in California,
Corey replied:

I am really not, sir. My name was brought up at an earlier
committee hearing and since then I have been gray-listed, if not
completely black-listed. Hitherto I had been quite busy as an
actor, but my professional fortunes have waned considerably,
coincident with the mentioning of my name.7 8

When Corey was asked if he knew Lawrence, he answered
ironically: “I know him as an actor who played an informer;
with great verisimilitude, in a picture called Asphalt Jungle.”
Corey did not elect to inform and took the First and Fifth
amendments. Furthermore, on being questioned about standing
also on the First Amendment, Corey stated, ““I do feel . .. that
my rights of freedom of conscious thought, as embodied in the
Bill of Rights, are violated by my being summoned and
interrogated in front of this hearing.” Representative Jackson
challenged the actor on this issue:

MR. JACKSON: Has your freedom of speech been abridged in
any way, Mr. Corey?

MR. COREY: Well, it isn’t—I think that probing into one’s
thoughts and conscience—I will put it this way. I believe that
no one can bargain for the key to my brain wherein is stored
multitudinous attitudes about life, religion, politics, and art.
You may try to ferret it out against my consent, but—

MR. JACKSON: You are afraid freedom of speech is going—

MR. WIRIN: May he continue to answer the question?

MR. JACKSON: No, I have heard the speech 50 times.

MR. WIRIN: Not this one, sir.

MR. JACKSON: The same one, with variations. That’s all.

Then Mr. Wood, contrary to the avowed position of the
committee, added:

...1 don’t want to speak for the remaining members of this
committee, but if, by any action of this committee, we could
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be instrumental in eliminating from the field of public enter-
tainment the views of people—particularly the youth of this
country being moved to a large extent—people who decline to
answer a question as to whether or not they are members of the
Communist Party, it would make me extremely happy.” °

Writer-producer Carl Foreman, whom Berkeley had named as
a Communist only five days previously, declined to answer
questions during his appearance before the committee on
September 24, 1951.8°

The cleverest witness in the ten-day period was writer-
producer Sidney Buchman, who admitted being a Communist
from 1938 to 1945, but evaded naming names and also avoided
taking the Fifth Amendment when he made his public confes-
sion on September 25.8! Buchman was eventually cited for
contempt.

“In contempt he indubitably was, and the House approved
the citation by a vote of 316-0. He was found guilty and given a
one-year suspended sentence and a fine of $150,” Walter
Goodman writes. The committee, he added, ‘“had gotten its
man, but the really interesting question, on the naming of
names, remained unsettled.”8?2

Twelve friendly witnesses and thirty unfriendly witnesses
completed the September, 1951, investigation of the film
industry. In addition, Karl Tunberg, president of the Screen
Writers Guild, told the committee on September 25 that only a
small fraction of his group’s 1,200 members were Commu-
nists.®3

The dozen who responded graciously to all committee ques-
tions were all admitted former members of the Communist
Party. They appeared at ease in naming names. Two of them
appeared in executive session—Eugene Fleury, artist and art
instructor, on September 10, and Robert Shayne (Robert Shaen
Dawe), actor, on September 11.

Two other cooperative witnesses made their identifications of
other Communists in sworn statements given to investigator
William A. Wheeler on September 10. They were Miss Anne
Ray, writer and wife of writer Melvin Frank, and Miss Eve
Ettinger, story editor for a movie studio.
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The balance of the helpful ex-Communists made their iden-
tifications at the public hearings. They were Harold J. Ashe,
inagazine writer and CP functionary, and his former wife,
Mildred. Mrs. Ashe was described by the committee as a
“communist party organizer.” The Ashes spoke their piece on
September 17. On the following day, Leo Townsend, a writer,
gave the committee the names of more than a score of show
business figures who were party members.

On September 20, 1951, the friendly witnesses who publicly
put the finger on the Reds in Hollywood were composer David
Raksin and publicist William Frank Blowitz. The next day the
committee heard from writer Elizabeth Wilson (Mrs. Richard
Wilson), who was also able to present the names of more than
ten theatrical figures whom she knew to be Communists.

Mrs. Bernyce Polifka Fleury, an artist and wife of Eugene
Fleury, was able on September 24 to give the names of
Communists not even identified by her spouse in the earlier
secret session. Writer George Beck rounded out the list of
friendly September witnesses on the twenty-fifth day of that
month.

Three of the thirty unfriendly witnesses that September
appeared in executive session on the twelfth. They were Prokop
Jack Prokop (also known as Jack Frank), who was associated
with a dry-cleaning business; Mrs. Hannah Schwartz Donath,
who listed herself as a “nonprofessional’”’ and who was the wife
of actor Ludwig Donath (Donath was later to be named a
Communist by actor Lee J. Cobb); and Miss Bella Lewitzky
(Mrs. Newell Reynolds), a dancer.

On September 17, in public hearings, the unfriendly witness-
es were Charles Daggett, a publicist and former newsman (on
January 21, 1952, he became friendly); and Percy Solotoy,
furniture manufacturer, who was identified by Mildred Ashe on
that day as a CP member.

On September 18, the committee had to content itself with
learning virtually nothing about Hollywood Reds from the
witnesses, but that was offset by the plethora of names an-
nounced by Leo Townsend. Those who were mute about the
CP on that day were Henry Blankfort, writer; Howland



1951-52 Investigation of the Entertainment Field 159

Chamberlin, actor; Mrs. Helen Slote Levitt (Mrs. Alfred Levitt),
former executive secretary of the Actors’ Laboratory, former
secretary to actor John Garfield, and described by the com-
mittee as a “functionary’’ of the CP; her husband, Alfred Levitt,
studio reader and also a writer; Miss Bess Taffel, writer; and
Herbert Arthur Klein, writer and publicist.

The following day marked the appearance of no friendly
witnesses; the committee was confronted with four uncooper-
ative persons. They were Philip Edward Stevenson, writer;
Daniel Lewis James, writer; Lilith James (Mrs. Daniel L. James),
writer; and Georgia Backus (Mrs. Hy Alexander), actress.

September 20 was indeed a full day for the solons in
Hollywood. There were two friendly witnesses (Raksin and
Blowitz) to counterbalance the balky seven under public
scrutiny: Robert L. Richards, writer; and his wife, Ann Roth
Morgan Richards, former secretary, Screen Writers Guild; Mrs.
Ellenore Abowitz (wife of Murray Abowitz, MD), a lady who
was termed by the committee a “functionary” of the CP; Miss
Marguerite Roberts, Michael Wilson, and John Sanford, all
writers; and Miss Herta Uerkvitz, architectural researcher for the
motion picture studio.

Four uncooperative witnesses made a reluctant appearance
on September 21: Max Howard Schoen, DDS, a friend of John
Howard Lawson; Miss Mary Virginia Farmer, actress; Miss
Louise Rousseau, writer; and Murray Abowitz, MD, member of
the Hollywood Independent Citizens’ Committee of the Arts,
Sciences, and Professions. (Meanwhile, the committee had
ex-Red writer Elizabeth Wilson on hand that day to aid in
identification.)

September 24 saw the last of the month’s—and the year’s—
unfriendly show business personages sworn in: Reuben Ship,
radio writer; Donald Gordon, editor, story department, motion
picture studio; Josef Mischel, writer and studio story editor; and
Lester Koenig, writer and associate producer.®*

In the nation’s capital in the winter and spring of 1952, the
committee members of the second session of the Eighty-second
Congress heard the testimony of ten show business witnesses,
three of whom were among the most illustrious names in the
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American theater—director Elia Kazan and writers Lillian
Hellman and Clifford Odets. The gentlemen were friendly; the
lady was not,

Kazan appeared initially before a private executive session of
the committee on January 14, 1952, and then again in execu-
tive session on Thursday, April 10, 1952.

In the latter appearance Kazan submitted a statement declar-
ing that he had been a member of the Communist Party and
announced: “l want to tell you everything I know about it.” 83

His statement told about his nineteen-month membership in
the Communist Party, 1934-36, the names of the members of
the Group Theatre who were Communists, and how he came to
leave the party. Kazan reported he left after he was asked to
apologize and be repentant for refusing to fall in with the party
line. The director in his statement said, “I had had a taste of
police-state living and I didn’t like it.”8¢

Kazan described the duties of CP members as fourfold

1. To “educate” ourselves in Marxist and party doctrine;
party

2. To help the party get a foothold in the Actors Equity
Association;

3. To support various ‘“front” organizations of the party;

4. To try to capture the Group Theatre and make it a
Communist mouthpiece.

The witness’s statement noted that numbers two and four
were failures and numbers one and three only semisuccessful.
Kazan concluded his prepared remarks with a complete listing
of the plays and films he had directed and his assessment of the
political significance of each.87

On two consecutive days, May 19 and 20, 1952, the foremost
social playwright of the thirties, Clifford Odets, told the
committee about his experiences as a member of the Commu-
nist Party. (Odets had testified in secrecy at an executive session
on April 24, 1952.) The morning testimony of the first day
revealed few new show business names and dealt largely with
the playwright’s financial contributions to the New Masses and
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various other left-wing periodicals and his trip to Cuba in June,
1935, as chairman of the American Commission to Investigate
Labor and Social Conditions in Cuba.®®

The afternoon session revealed that Odets’ disillusion with
the Communist Party was essentially the same as Kazan’s. He
believed he was writing plays that dealt with the real problems
of America in the thirties. The Communist Party, through its
organ the Daily Worker, criticized the playwright for not
writing “progressive plays” and, in cffect, said Odets, told its
readers, “He is stupid, he has too much talent. He is wasting his
time writing about ordinary, middle-class life when he could be
writing a glorious play about the war in Spain.” 89

Opening the second day of testimony on May 20, Counsel
Tavenner suggested to Odets that the committee records show
that he had had connections with various Communist-front
organizations after he claimed he had left the party; further,
these connections continued until June 22, 1950.9°

Tavenner asked: “How do you reconcile your statement that
your break with the Communist Party was complete and final
with this record of affiliation with Communist-front organiza-
tions as shown by these exhibits?” Odets summed up the
tangled problem of the American liberal:

Well, I will say again, as I said before, Mr. Tavenner, that the
lines of leftism, liberalism, in all of their shades and degrees, are
constantly crossing like a jangled chord on a piano. It is almost
impossible to pick out which note is which note. I have spoken
out on what I thought were certain moral issues of the day, and
I found myself apparently in line with your documentation, I
have found myself frequently on platforms with Communists
that I did not know about then but evidently are now known
Communists. I have said before that many of these people have
some very good tunes. They have picked up some of our most
solemn and sacred American tunes and they sing them. If I as
an American liberal must sometimes speak out the same tune, I
must sometimes find myself on platforms, so to speak, with
strange bedfellows. I have never wittingly, since these early
days, have ever wittingly, joined or spoken on an exclusively
Communist program or platform, not to my knowledge. I see
that one must do one of two things. One must pick one’s way
very carefully through the mazes of liberalism and leftism
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today or one must remain silent. Of the two, I must tell you
frankly I would try to pick the first way, because the little that
I have to say, the little that I have to contribute to the
betterment or welfare of the American people could not permit
me to remain silent.91

Lillian Hellman, America’s most prominent woman play-
wright, attempted in advance of her appearance before the
committee on May 21 to make a ‘“trade” with Chairman John
S. Wood. The exchange of letters between Miss Hellman and
Wood was introduced and read to the committee by Tavenner:

Dear Mr. Wood: As you know, I am under subpena to appear
before your committee on May 21, 1952.

I am most willing to answer all questions about myself. I
have nothing to hide from your committee and there is nothing
in my life of which I am ashamed. I have been advised by
counsel that under the fifth amendment I have a constitutional
privilege to decline to answer any questions about my political
opinions, activities, and associations, on the grounds of self-

~  incrimination. I do not wish to claim this privilege. I am ready
and willing to testify before the representatives of our Govern-
ment as to my own opinions and my own actions, regardless of
any risks or consequences to myself.

But I am advised by counsel that if I answer the committee's
questions about myself, I must also answer questions about
other people and that if 1 refuse to do so, I can be cited for
contempt. My counsel tells me that if [ answer questions about
myself, I will have waived my rights under the fifth amendment
and could be forced legally to answer questions about others.
This is very difficult for a layman to understand. But there is
one principle that I do understand: I am not willing, now or in
the future, to bring bad trouble to people who, in my past
association with them, were completely innocent of any talk or
any action that was disloyal or subversive. I do not like
subversion or disloyalty in any form and if I had ever seen any |
would have considered it my duty to have reported it to the
proper authorities. But to hurt innocent people whom I knew
many years ago in order to save myself is, to me inhuman and
indecent and dishonorable. I cannot and will not cut my
conscience to fit this year’s fashions, even though I long ago
came to the conclusion that I was not a political person and
could have no comfortable place in any political group.

I was raised in an old-fashioned American tradition and there
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were certain homely things that were taught to me: To try to
tell the truth, not to bear false witness, not to harm my
neighbor, to be loyal to my country, and so on. In general, |
respected these ideals of Christian honor and did as well with
them as I knew how. It is my belief that you will agree with
these simple rules of human decency and will not expect me to
violate the good American tradition from which they spring. I
would, therefore, like to come before you and speak of myself.

I am prepared to waive the privilege against self-
incrimination and to tell you everything you wish to know
about my views or actions if your committee will agree to
refrain from asking me to name other people. If the committee
is unwilling to give me this assurance, I will be forced to plead
the privilege of the fifth amendment at the hearing.

A reply to this letter would be appreciated.

Sincerely yours,
Lillian Hellman

The answer to the letter is as follows:

Dear Miss Hellman: Reference is made to your letter dated
May 19, 1952, wherein you indicate that in the event the
committee asks you questions regarding your association with
Sther individuals you will be compelled to rely upon the fifth
amendment in giving your answers to the committee questions.

In this connection, please be advised that the committee
cannot permit witnesses to set forth the terms under which
they will testify.

We have in the past secured a great deal of information from
persons in the entertainment profession who cooperated whole-
heartedly with the committec. The committee appreciates any
information furnished it by persons who have been members of
the Communist Party. The committee, of course, realizes that a
great number of persons who were members of the Communist
Party at one time honestly felt that it was not a subversive
organization. However, on the other hand, it should be pointed
out that the contributions made to the Communist Party as a
whole by persons who were not themselves subversive made it
possible for those members of the Communist Party who were
and still are subversives to carry on their work.

The committee has endeavored to furnish a hearing to each
person identified as a Communist engaged in work in the
entertainment field in order that the record could be made
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clear as to whether they were still members of the Communist
Party. Any persons identified by you during the course of
committee hearings will be afforded the opportunity of appear-
ing before the committee in accordance with the policy of the
committee.

Sincerely yours,
John 8. Wood, Chairman®?2

Wood commented on the substance of his letter to the
playwright: ““...it is in my view that in the function of this
committee we cannot be placed in the attitude of trading with
the witnesses as to what they will testify to....”%3 Miss
Hellman declined to comment or answer and also refused to
respond to the committee’s questions when she appeared.

A gentleman with an “implied clearance” in the winter-spring
investigation of 1952 was Hollywood tough guy Edward G.
Robinson.®* He had appeared before the committee previously,
but unlike Kazan and Odets, publicly rather than privately. His
earlier appearances were on October 27 and December 21,
1951. In the October appearance he was questioned by mem-
bers of the committee’s investigative staff because the Congress-
men were in their districts preparing for the November 7
elections. In December, 1951, he appeared before the regular
committee, as he did again April 30, 1952,

The actor on all three occasions was not a friendly witness in
the sense of offering the committee names or information about
the operations of the Communist Party. On the other hand, in
answering questions he was not unfriendly to the point of
invoking the Bill of Rights.

The actor explained that his voice was hoarse due to having
just completed 250 stage performances of Darkness at Noon.
“It is, perhaps,” said Robinson, certifying his Americanism,
“the strongest indictment of communism ever presented.””®®

Robinson deniced he had ever been a member of the Commu-
nist Party but admitted that on occasions he had been duped
into contributing to Communist-front organizations:

...May I add that of the very many civic, cultural, philan-
thropic, and political organizations of which I have been a
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member and a contributor, but a small percentage [ later
discovered were tinged with the taint of communism.

It is a serious matter to have one’s loyalty questioned. Life is
less dear to me than my loyalty to democracy and the United
States. | ask favors of no one. All I ask is that the record be
kept straight and that I be permitted to live free of false
charges.

I readily concede that I have been used, and that I have been
mistaken regarding certain associations which I regret, but I
have not been disloyal or dishonest.

I would like to find some way to put at rest the ever-
recurring innuendoes concerning my loyalty. Surely there must
be some way for a person falsely accused of disloyalty to clear
his name once and for all. It is for this purpose that I come
again voluntarily before this committee to testify under oath.
What more can I do?

Anyone who understands the history of the political activity
in Hollywood will appreciate the fact that innocent, sincere
persons were used by the Communists to whom honesty and
sincerity are as foreign as the Soviet Union is to America. I was
duped and used. I was lied to. But, I repeat, I acted from good
motives, and I have never knowingly aided Communists or any
Communist cause.

Congressmen Jackson and Moulder declared that they did not
believe the actor was a Communist. Moulder commended the
actor for “patriotic service for our great country.”?®

Robinson, “humble past the point of embarrassment,
said:

997

Thank you sir. You are very kind to say that.

What [ am most jealous of, after good theatrical notices, is
my Americanism, and I am very happy to hear that coming
from you.

Believe me, Congressman Jackson, when you said that you
didn’t believe that I am a Communist, it made me feel good.? 8

Playwright Hyman (Hy) Solomon Kraft was the only other
unfriendly witness of the ten entertainment figures subpoenaed
in the first half of 1952. He was called before the committee on
March 20.°° His position on answering the committee’s
questions came to be known as the “diminished fifth,” meaning
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that he was not then a Communist but declining to say whether
he ever had been.! °°

The remaining friendly witnesses were writers Melvin Levy,
Michael S. Blankfort, Isobel Lennart, and Stznley Roberts, and
musician, composer, and arranger George Bassman.

In the last half of 1952, Chairman Wood closed his marathon
investigation of Communism in the cntertainment world by
hearing only four witnesses—writers Bernard C. Schoenfeld and
Roy Huggins, actress Karen Morley, and director-performer and
Broadway play doctor Abram S. (Abe) Burrows. The writers
were friendly, the actress was not, and Burrows was evasive.

Schoenfeld’s testimony on August 19 was in the familiar
pattern of a liberal Democrat seeking another outlet for his
frustrations about the slowness of social change. He joined the
Communist Political Association, believing that since it had
supported Roosevelt for reelection in 1944, it “would continue
to work within the framework of the existing Democratic
Party.”!®! His reasons for leaving the Communist Party also
followed familiar lines established by earlier show business
writers—that is, Schoenfeld found he was unable to function as
an individual artist and still satisfy the rigid orthodoxy of
Communist Party propaganda.

Huggins, on the other hand, had been dabbling with Commu-
nism since the late thirties, when as an undergraduate at the
University of California at Los Angeles he “became a Marx-
ist.”192 From that time until the mid-forties he was in and out
of the Communist Party. His final reason for withdrawal dealt
with a larger and certainly more meaningful concept to the
committee than a writer’s freedom to create.

Huggins stated his “basic reason for’ his “withdrawal” when
he appeared on September 29, 1952: He felt that “the party
had finally reached a point where you simply could not be a
member of the Communist Party and consider yourself to be an
American citizen. It was that simple. . . .”

Huggins, a Phi Beta Kappa from UCLA, tried to explain to
the committee his views on Communism:

... Marxism has a wonderful thing about it, in that, being a
closed system of thought, if you feel great despair about the
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world or are having difficulty understanding it, Marxism does
something for you. 1t suddenly allows the whole universe to fall
into a nice simple pattern. There are no unanswered questions
once you become a Marxist. It is a nice feeling, particularly if
your field is political philosophy, and you like to feel that you
do know all of the answers. . ..

I realize, like all closed systems of thought, once you find a
hole in it, then you realize that it is all wrong, because that is
the nature of a closed system of thought. You must either
accept it all without question, or you do not accept any of it,
and this is recognized by the Communists.

There are no Communists who say, “Well, I am a Marxist,
but I don’t accept this particular theory of Marx,” and if you
don’t accept that theory, you are not a Marxist, and you are
not a Communist if you don’t go along with every bit of the
theory.

So I think it is in the nature of the things that once you find
one big flaw, then you suddenly realize that that is just a
resultant flaw of other flaws. . . .

So I think that to the Communist, capitalism is going to be
in a sense an easy thing to overthrow, eventually, I suppose,
because we do have a tendency to fail to fight our enemies
properly, but I suppose one of the reasons for that is that it
would be a terrible thing if we were to fight tyranny by
becoming a tyranny ourselves, isn’t that so? This would be a
terrible thing if we are anti-Communist because we feel that
Communists destroy individual freedom and liberty, and in
fighting communism, we destroy individual freedom and lib-
erty. This would be a fight in vain.

So I think that is why I say this committee is in a terrible
spot, because I think that subversive elements must be fought,
and I think democracy has to fight for its life, and it can’t just
sit back and say, “Well, history will take care of us.”’ It has got
enemies and it has to fight those enemies but it has to fight
them within the framework of the democratic system, or it
might as well not fight at all, because it loses the battle in the
means it chooses to use to fight that battle.! 03

Abe Burrows, coauthor of the hit Broadway musical Guys
and Dolls, attempted on November 12, 1952, to avoid any
conclusive statements to the committee about his Communist
Party affiliations or friends by establishing his personality as
that of a vagabond piano player who just liked to go to parties
and “ham” it up.!®® It appeared from the testimony of
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previous friendly witnesses that many of these parties that
engaged Burrows’ talent were of the Communist variety. The
witness admitted contributing money to support the New
Masses and the People’s World but denied cver having written
anything for a Communist Party publication.!®® The thrust of
his lengthy testimony was obtuse and yet cooperative.
Chairman Wood asked if Burrows had ever been a member of

the CP:

MR. BURROWS: Well, as far as I have ever been, as I said, I
have never applied for party membership; if there is a party
card with my name, I know nothing about it, but, as I said, I
did associate with these fellows.

MR. WOOD: I know, but you can answer that question in your
own express way as to whether or not you have ever been or
considered yourself as a member of the Communist Party.

MR. BURROWS: I was considered a Communist.

MR. WOOD: You so considered yourself, too?

MR. BURROWS: I was considered a Communist. In my own
heart I didn’t believe it, but I think 1 was considered a
Communist, and that was the whole thing of my coming here
to talk about Mr. Vinson’s testimony. [ Radio director Owen
Vinson testified on October 2, 1952, that Burrows was a
member of the CP.]

MR. WOOD: You say you were considered by others to be.
You know yourself whether or not you were, don’t you?

MR. BURROWS: Well, you see, sir, by all of the actions I did,
all of the material things, all of the facts, I guess I committed
enough acts to be called a Communist. I am testifying here
under oath.

MR. WOOD: Well, what would you call yourself? Would you
have called yourself a Communist at that time?

MR. BURROWS: Not in my own heart, sir. But I am here
under oath, and I am here to tell the truth, the whole truth,
and nothing but the truth, and there is an element of truth in
the statement that I was a Communist, but there is also an
element of untruth, and I am left in that position.

MR. WOOD: We understand your position in that respect, but
now can’t you answer on your own as to whether or not you
were ever a member of the Communist Party?

MR. BURROWS: Well, I don’t see how I could answer it any
differently from how I did answer it. I would like anybody’s
help in this if I could have it, sir.

MR. WOOD: I understand about the witness who gave the
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testimony. You have given a clear answer to that, but you
have not expressed yourself clearly as to what you have to
say about it.

MR. BURROWS: Well, sir, let’s put it this way: 1 don’t deny
the truth of the accusations of the witness.

MR. WOOD: Any other questions?

MR. TAVENNER: I might make one comment. You stated
that you desired to use your weapons against communism.

MR. BURROWS: Yes, sir.

MR. TAVENNER: | might say, our observations have been that
ridicule is about one of the most effective weapons against
members of the Communist Party.

MR. BURROWS: They can’t take it. 1 know in Russia, 1 read
daily about what happens with writers there, and about
Stalin likes an opera or doesn’t like an opera, and he likes it
to be serious. I read one item somewhere where they don’t
like jokes, they don’t like funny stuff.

MR. WOOD: May I resume? 1 cannot understand how at this
time you can emphatically say you are not now a member of
the Communist Party and why you cannot so clearly express
yourself in the same manner as to whether or not you have
ever been.

MR. BURROWS: Because of my associations, sir, and the fact
that 1 was around with those fellows, and 1 did go to
meetings with them, and attended things with them. I have
to go on this case by the objective facts of what other people
thought and what it looked like. I was, by association—by
association, sir, | can’t under oath deny that.

MR. WOOD: Well, that is the point. You are not necessarily a
Communist by association; I mean you weren’t.

MR. BURROWS: I didn’t say I was by association. But I say
they thought me one, and 1 was assumed to be one, and I am
not denying they had a right to.

MR. WOOD: You mean to say that to a full extent you
conducted yourself and participated in all of the Communist
activities at that time with a reservation in your own heart?

MR. BURROWS: Yes, sir. That is very well put.

MR. VELDE: And you did attend Communist Party meetings,
knowing them to be such?

MR. BURROWS: Well, I attended meetings at which Commu-
nists were present. I still don’t know whether study groups
were Communist Party meetings, HICCASP meetings, radio
writers’ meetings; it is all kind of jelled together in my mind.
Those were very bad years for me in the terms of personal
trouble, and my mother and father both died, and I, as a
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matter of fact, had to seek help from a psychiatrist, and that
whole period is kind of a painful, very painful period to me.

MR. WOOD: I am sorry to pursue this line of thought further,
but your participation in those organizations, you say, cast
some suspicion upon you, as I understand it, that others
considered you a Communist, but were you actually a
member of the Communist Party or any of those organiza-
tions?

MR. BURROWS: I have answered that, sir.

MR. WOOD: I do not mean Communist-front organizations or
any other activities that would cast a reflection on you, but
actually attend Communist Party meetings of Communist
members.

MR. BURROWS: As I say, I was at meetings which had
Communists at them, and I was at these study groups I have
told you about.

MR. WOOD: And they were Communist Party meetings?

MR. BURROWS: I imagine they could be called Communist
Party meetings. I imagine so. I really am very vague on that. I
am sorry if I sound overvague.

MR. WOOD: Any more questions, Mr. Tavenner?

MR. TAVENNER: No, sir.1 06

Evaluation of the Hearings

Economic determinism, not democratic patriotism, created
the blacklist that fell like a shroud over the entertainment world
in the first years of the 1950’s.

If the movies employed blacklisted artists, they were subject
to boycott by sundry civic and church organizations. If tele-
vision hired the political untouchables, it was in the equally
compromising position of being on the receiving end of ostra-
cism by commercial sponsors.

The blacklist was a public relations gimmick in motion
pictures and in television but not to any significant extent in
the living theater. How, when, and where a theater blacklist
operated is discussed in Chapter VII. Why such a list was so
meaningful in most entertainment media and not in the theater
is briefly examined here.

The blacklist in Hollywood did not start with the Hollywood
Ten or end with John Wood’s extended investigation of Com-
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munism. Certainly the number of witnesses called by Wood and
the resultant names offered by the friendly testaments pro-
duced many new movie and television undesirables, but black-
listing was not always a response to controversial political ideas.

Negroes as performers or workers in Hollywood studios were
members of a tacit blacklist until the sixties. In the twenties
movie stars such as Fatty Arbuckle, Mary Miles Minter, and
Mabel Normand were persona non grata on the screen—for their
morals, not their politics. The reason—economics, fear of
boycott by organizations that might pressure the ticket buyer
into staying away from the movie theater.

By the time the Hollywood Ten had returned from jail
Communist China in 1949 and North Korea in 1950 had
become political threats that stimulated American demonolo-
gists into renewed interest in ferreting out Commies of the
homegrown variety. But whereas in the early fifties the movie
producer or television sponsor lived in dire fear of picketing or
boycott, the entire history of the liberal New York theater
audience and the Broadway stage militated against political
blacklisting. Therefore, the committee was forced to turn again
to the movies and to television not only because they were the
most vulnerable of the entertainment media but also because
they were infinitely more valuable from a publicity angle than
the theater.

All the big living-theater names appearing before Chairman
Wood—Kazan, Odets, Garfield, Ferrer, Robinson, and to a lesser
extent, Schulberg, Burrows, and Miss Hellman—were known to
the mass public because of their identification with movies and
theater and success.

This latter condition—success—undoubtedly contributed
heavily to their respective decisions to be friendly with the
committee in varying ways and degrees ranging from informing
and ineptitude to intellectuality and integrity.

The lesser luminaries from the theater who also worked in
the movies—Da Silva, Geer, Corey, Carnovsky, Bromberg,
Gordon, Sondergaard, and Revere—were as one in their reluc-
tance to cooperate with the committee’s objectives.

With the exception of friendly witness Marc Lawrence, those
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theater and film people who had the most to lose by being
blacklisted managed, each in his own way, to avoid the
problem. The already less fortunate artists stood fast against the
committee and then saw their careers and incomes in virtually
every case diminish to almost nothing for a decade.

Approximately eighty-five witnesses appeared before John
Wood, with forty-eight categorized as unfriendly, thirty-two
friendly, and the remainder in a limbo of vague cooperation
without outright defiance.

Elia Kazan, after his testament before the committee, re-
turned to a career in films and the theater. However, his most
prolific and vital work on the New York stage preceded his
appearance as an informer. Budd Schulberg, a friendly witness,
did not return to any significant work in the theater after his
appearance before the committee. Kazan and Schulberg subse-
quently tecamed up to write and direct a hit movie in the
mid-fifties—On the Waterfront—decaling with a theme they had
recent knowledge of—informing. Blacklisted Michael Gordon
directed ten theatrical productions from 1951 to 1958, when he
returned to films. Howard da Silva managed to sustain himself
during the fifties in New York on and off Broadway as an
actor-director and teacher. In the fall of 1969 he starred as
Benjamin Franklin in the hit Broadway musical 71776.

Larry Parks and Marc Lawrence appear to have been the
victims of a reverse blacklist, and although they gave the
committec names of alleged Communists, their film and theat-
rical careers came to an abrupt halt along with the u-nfriendly
blacklistees. Odets remained active in films and the theater after
his appearance before the committee and died in 1963.

Abe Burrows went on to greater success as an author,
television celebrity, and Broadway play doctor. Jose Ferrer
continued his career on Broadway and in films, as did Lillian
Hellman. Miss Revere worked intermittently in the theater on
both coasts and Miss Sondergaard did not return to films until
after her appearance in Uncle Vanya on stage in Los Angeles in
the fall of 1969. Will Geer became “hot” in 1970 when he was
featured in the film version of William Faulkner’s The Reiwers.
Blacklisted actor Morris Carnovsky worked and taught in the
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New York theater during the fifties, and his 1963 performance
as King Lear at Stratford, Connecticut, was widely acclaimed.

Actor Jeff Corey became the most celebrated drama teacher
in Hollywood ~dturing the fifties and was always graciously
accepted within the studio gates as a talent observer and critic
as well as coach, but never as an actor. He did one play at the
Circle Theatre in Hollywood during this period and in 1959
played at La Jolla, California, in a production of A View from
the Bridge. He is currently working full-time again in movies
and television, as well as continuing his active career as a drama
instructor.

Besides the heinous conditions caused individual artists by
the blacklist, the majority of the respondents to my question-
naire concurred on the thcory that the work of the committee
not only destroyed careers in the early fifties but also signifi-
cantly reduced controversial creativity in writing for both films
and the theater. There was little reason for an established writer
to attempt a subject he felt no Broadway producer would tangle
with, and few if any producers encouraged anti-establishment
efforts by tyro playwrights. Undoubtedly, this dearth of pro-
vocative realistic writing gave rise to the absurdist school which
avoided not only social or political themes but theme itself.

The matter of the time factor in playwriting, political
positions, and the intellectual history of the liberal movement
in the United States in the twenticth century should have been
considered by the committee in its 1951-52 investigation of
Communism in the entertainment field. It was not. Virtually all
the unfriendly artists who appeared before John Wood were
blacklisted for opinions and positions they held in the past,
notably in the distant past of the prewar social ferment of the
thirties. As in the case of the Hollywood Ten, the majority of
the unfriendly witnesses in the carly fifties shared Schulberg
and Kazan’s disenchantment with Communism, but unlike the
writer and the director, they refused to prove their reformation
by informing on their friends.

If it was possible in the thirties to be an American Commu-
nist and believe in a coalition government of democratic and
socialist elements, it was equally possible in 1947 to surrender
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that belief when Czechoslovakia became the last East European
country to have such a coalition destroyed by Soviet machina-
tions. The committee’s failure to research and develop the
anti-Communist backgrounds of the witnesses it deemed hostile
was manifest in the transcript of the 1951-52 hearings.

No doubt, in the thirties many of the unfriendly witnesses of
the fifties were sympathetic to Marxism and truly ignorant of
prewar Stalinism in the Soviet Union. Later, when the crimes
and purges of the Soviet ruler and system became public
knowledge, it is certain many of these same people denounced
Russian totalitarianism as they had once railed against Nazi
totalitarianism.

One of the consistent curiosities that threads through much
of the hearings is the reliance of the committee on Communist
periodicals to support its case against the hostile witnesses.
While sometimes intimating and more often stating flatly that
Communists lied to achieve their evil ends, the committee
continuously cited the voice of the party, the Da:ily Worker, and
Red periodicals, such as New Masses and Mainstream, as
publications verifying the investigators’ charges of Communism
in show business.

— Lillian Hellman’s carefully reasoned correspondence and her
subsequent dialogue with the committee was a splendid ex-
ample of the manner in which unfriendly witnesses might have
avoided taking constitutional immunity and risking the result-
ant blacklist.

It is apparent that the overwhelming majority of the at-
torneys for the unfriendly witnesses failed to prepare properly;
it is patent in the transcripts that they neglected to advise their
clients on the possible variables available when answering the
committee’s questions.

— Surely Miss Hellman’s prestige and intellectual gifts were
helpful in her appearance as a committee witness. It is equally
certain, however, that a significant number of unfriendly wit-
nesses had a sufficient amount of intellect and confidence to
challenge the interrogators’ questioning procedures. Why they
did not and why they were not so counseled by their lawyers
remains a mystery.
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The committee usurped the functions of the grand jury
without the protective secrecy of that body by making charges
publicly in a purported effort to obtain information. The
committee was able to punish people for acts or associations
that would not be regarded as crimes in a court of law. The
punishment was the loss of their livelihood and the annihilation
of their reputations.

In this sense the committee conducted trials rather than
hearings, and the jury that sat in judgment on the guilt or
innocence of the witnesses was a public court made up of such
self-appointed watchdogs of the nation’s security as the right-
wing faction of the anti-Communist American Legion.

Outspoken liberal and left-wing anti-Communist watchdogs
are also necessary for the security of a democracy; the commit-
tee’s constant bellicose overstating of the significance of Com-
munist subversion in show business must have enraged the
liberal intellectuals and thus weakened their rational interest in
the real nature of the problem.

As mentioned in the Introduction of this book and of prim-
ary significance and totally disregarded by the Wood investi-
gation was the fact that Communism, as that word is under-
stood in this century, has developed in a revolutionary sense
only in countries devoid of a strong middle class and fraught
with economic extremes, whose governments are administered
by a minuscule ruling elite dominating an oppressed peasant
majority.

Whether any committee member had this understanding of
what factors are involved in Communism as a radical method of
social change is debatable. What is apparent from a careful
reading of the John Wood investigation is that no committee
member revealed any such understanding.

This failure to comprehend the historical perspective of
Communism as a revolutionary force served the committee well
in the sense that it could deal with the problem of internal
subversion in a manner that was sufficiently simplistic for the
public to understand and sympathize with. When national
interest in and fear of Communism began to diminish at the
conclusion of the Korean War, public sympathy for the com-




176 Only Victims

mittee’s work likewise diminished. Why interest and fear waned
in the mid-fifties is discussed in the evaluation of the following
chapter, which deals with that period.

In its 1952 Annual Report, the committee managed to
conclude mistakenly that because it exposed certain persons as
Communists, this led to a marked diminution of Red influence
in Hollywood films. Obviously, if the unfriendly witnesses were
blacklisted, their incomes were resultantly diminished; hence,
there was less money for the Commie coffers. Since the
committee never proved there was any significant Red propa-
ganda in films, the report’s contention that because of this
exposure the blacklistees had less chance of injecting their
philosophy into films was meaningless.? ©’

At no time during the Thomas, Wood, or subsequent investi-
gations of Hollywood film content was the committee ever able
to establish conclusively that Communist Party dogma managed
to find its way to the American people via the American
cinema.

Rather than exorcising the Red spirits from the silver screen,
the Wood investigation was another personalized persecution of
entertainment people.
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